

CDRI - Cambodia's leading independent development policy research institute

Understanding Poverty Dynamics: Evidence from Nine Villages in Cambodia



Working Paper Series No. 69

March 2012

A CDRI Publication

Understanding Poverty Dynamics: Evidence from Nine Villages in Cambodia

CDRI Working Paper Series No. 69

A CDRI Publication

March 2012



CDRI Cambodia's leading independent development policy research institute

© 2012 CDRI - Cambodia's leading independent development policy research institute

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means—electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise—without the written permission of CDRI.

ISBN-10: 99950-52-52-2

Understanding Poverty Dynamics: Evidence from Nine Villages in Cambodia

The responsibility for opinions expressed in articles, studies and other contributions in this publication rests solely with their authors, and publication does not necessarily constitute CDRI policy.

CDRI

- * 56, Street 315, Tuol Kork, Phnom Penh, Cambodia
- DO Box 622, Phnom Penh, Cambodia
- (+855-23) 881-384/881-701/881-916/883-603
- ≞ (+855-23) 880-734
- E-mail: cdri@cdri.org.kh

Website: http://www.cdri.org.kh

Layout and Cover Design: Oum Chantha Printed and Bound in Cambodia by T & S Printing, Phnom Penh

Acronyms and Abbreviations	vii
Acknowledgements	ix
Executive Summary	xi
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 Design and Objectives of the PDS	
1.3 Survey Sample Design	
1.4 Methodology and Definitions	
1.5 Limitations of the PDS Dataset	
Chapter 2: Poverty in Cambodia: Profile, Causes and Policies	9
2.1 Introduction	
2.2 Growth and Poverty Profile	
2.3 Poverty Determinants.	
2.4 Government Poverty Reduction Policies	
2.5 Policy Reflections	
Chapter 3: Poverty Dynamics and Socio-Economic Trends: Community Perspect	tives 21
3.1 Introduction	21
3.2 Village Classification: Poverty Reduction, Consumption and Income	22
3.3 Trends in per Capita Consumption Based on Adult Equivalent Consumption	25
3.4 Source of Income and Poverty Reduction	29
3.5 Trends in Asset Ownership: Other Well-being and Poverty-related Indicators	37
3.6 Summary	41
Chapter 4: Transient and Chronic Poverty in Nine Villages of Cambodia:	
Panel Data Evidence—Consumption Approach	43
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Data and Sample Characteristics	
4.3 Descriptive Statistics: Changes in Welfare, 2001, 2004/5 and 2008	
4.4 Econometric Results: Determinants of Chronic and Transient Poverty	
4.5 Summary	49
Chapter 5: Transient and Chronic Poverty in Nine Villages of Cambodia:	
Panel Data Evidence—Asset Approach	51
5.1 Introduction	
5.2 Data and Methods	
5.3 Econometric Results: Determinants of Chronic and Transient Poverty	
5.4 Summary	59

CONTENTS

Chapter 6: Conclusion and Policy Implications	61
6.1 Conclusions6.2 Policy implications	
Annexes	72
Annex 1: Study Areas and Participants Annex 2: Average per Capita Income from Different Sources by Strongly and Poorly	
Performing Villages, 2001 and 2008 Annex 3: Increasing MFI Availability and Agricultural Development Annex 4: Change in Average Real Value of Assets, 2001–8 (KHR'000s per Household)	77
Bibliography	84
CDRI Working Papers	90

LIST OF BOX, FIGURES AND TABLES

Box 1:	Impact of Agricultural Development and Diversification on Livelihoods and Poverty Reduction
Figure 1.1:	Location of Study Villages
Figure 2.1:	Real GDP Growth, 1995–2008
Figure 2.2:	Sectoral Shares in Real GDP, 1995–200811
Figure 2.3:	Sectoral Growth, 1998–2009
Figure 2.4:	Poverty Rates, 1993/4–2007
Figure 2.5:	Gross Capital Formation, 1993–200814
Figure 2.6:	Agriculture Value Added per Worker, 1993–200815
Figure 3.1:	Real Daily per Capita Consumption Based on Adult Equivalent and Village Poverty Line, 2001–8
Figure 3.2:	Change in Real Daily per Capita Food and Non-food Consumption, Adult Equivalent, 2001–8
Figure 3.3:	Gaps between Average per Capita Consumption and Village Poverty Line, 2001 and 2008
Figure 3.4:	Real per Capita Income from Different Sources, 2001–8
Figure 3.5:	Reasons for Selling Land, 2001–8
Figure 3.6:	Agricultural Landholding Size by Poor and Non-poor Households, 2001–839
Figure A3B:	Average Loan Size by Poor and Non-poor Households, 2001–8
-	Credit Use by Poor and Non-Poor Male- and Female-Headed Households, 2004/5–8
Table 1.1:	Location and Key Characteristics of Study Villages
Table 3.1:	Poverty Reduction, Daily per Capita Income and Consumption (Adult Equivalent) by Strongly and Poorly Performing Villages, 2001–823
Table 3.2:	Change in Average Real Price of Land per Hectare by Village, 2001–8
Table 3.3:	Panel Households without Agricultural Land, House, Battery for Lighting, 2001–8
Table 3.4:	Poor and Non-Poor Households by Gender of Household Head, 2001–8
Table 3.5:	Panel Households with Durable Assets by Village, 2001–8
Table 4.1:	Mean Real Total Expenditure per Adult per Day, 2001–8
Table 4.2:	Poverty Incidence by Village and Region, 2001–8
Table 4.3:	Households Poverty Status by Village and Region
Table 4.4:	Household Demographics and Poverty Status
Table 4.5:	Multinomial Logit Estimation on Determinants of Chronic and Transitory
	Poverty

Table 5.1:	Poverty Headcount Index by Region, 2004 and 2007	53
Table 5.2:	Descriptive Statistics in CSES 2004 and PDS 2001-8	54
Table 5.3:	Principal Components and Summary Statistics for Asset Indicators,	
	CSES 2004	55
Table 5.4:	Poverty Incidence in Asset and Consumption Approach, 2001-8	56
Table 5.5:	Household Poverty Status by Village and Region	56
Table 5.6:	Household Demographics and Poverty Status	57
Table 5.7:	Multinomial Logit Estimation on Determinants of Chronic and	
	Transient Poverty	58
Table 5.8:	Key Determinants of Chronic and Transient Poverty	59
Tables of A	Annexes	
Table A1A	Sample Size and Panel UHG	72

Table A1A:	Sample Size and Panel HHs	72
Table A1B:	Characteristics of FGD Participants and Study Villages	73
Table A1C:	Special Events Affecting Village Income and Livelihoods, 2005 and 2008	74
Table A3A:	Proportion and Average Outstanding Loans of Panel Households, 2001-8	77

Acronyms and Abbreviations

AIDS	Acquired Immuno Deficiency Syndrome
CDHS	Cambodia Demographic and Health Survey
CDRI	Cambodia Development Resource Institute
CMDG	Cambodia Millennium Development Goal
CPI	Consumer Price Index
CPR	Common Property Resources
CSES	Cambodia Socio-Economic Survey
D&D	Decentralisation and De-Concentration
FDI	Foreign Direct Investment
FGD	Focus Group Discussion
FHH	Female-Headed Household
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GMS	Greater Mekong Sub-Region
На	Hectare
HH	Household
HHH	Household Head
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
KHR	Cambodian Riel
MDG	Millennium Development Goal
MFI	Microfinance Institution
MHH	Male-Headed Household
MOPS	Moving Out of Poverty Study
NGO	Non Governmental Organisation
NIS	National Institute of Statistics
NPRS	National Poverty Reduction Strategy
NSDP	National Strategic Development Plan
PCA	Principal Component Analysis
PDS	Poverty Dynamics Study
PPA	Participatory Poverty Assessment
RGC	Royal Government of Cambodia
SEDP	Socio-Economic Development Plan
SESC	Socio-Economic Survey of Cambodia
SSI	Semi-Structured Interview
USD	United States Dollar
WDI	World Development Indicators

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Poverty Dynamics Study (PDS) is a continuation of the Moving Out of Poverty Study (MOPS), conducted by the Cambodia Development Resource Institute (CDRI) with financial and technical assistance from the World Bank. We are deeply grateful to the World Bank for support since then.

Our sincerest thanks also go to colleagues at CDRI who were involved in putting together this study, specifically to the following individuals, who prepared core chapters:

- Chapter 1, 3 and 6: Mr So Sovannarith, CDRI Research Fellow under the Poverty, Agriculture and Rural Development Unit and co-author of MOPS (2007), assisted by Mr Chhim Chhun and Ms Glenda Reyes.
- Chapter 2: Dr Theng Vuthy, Programme Coordinator of CDRI's Poverty, Agriculture and Rural Development Unit, assisted by Mr Chhim Chhun, CDRI Research Assistant, and Ms Glenda Reyes, CDRI Researcher.
- Chapters 4 and 5: Dr Tong Kimsun, Programme Coordinator of CDRI's Economy, Trade and Regional Cooperation Unit, assisted by Ms Pon Dorina, Mr Ker Bopha and Mr Chhim Chhun.

A number of other CDRI colleagues provided support to this study. Dr Rebecca Catalla, CDRI Research Advisor, reviewed the chapters and provided comments; Ms Glenda Reyes assisted in technical editing and in finalising the report; and Ms Susan Watkins, CDRI Editor and Academic Writer, provided editorial support.

Once again, we thank the World Bank for the support provided both to this study and to the preceding MOPS.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Poverty in Cambodia is one of the highest in Asia. Despite the country's very impressive GDP growth in the last decade or so, poverty remains pervasive specifically in the rural areas. The food and economic crises along with the idiosyncratic shocks of the recent years put the plight of the poor and near-poor at even greater risk. The Poverty Dynamics Study (PDS), as a longitudinal monitoring exercise, helps shed light on the extent, determinants, and nuances of the face of Cambodian poverty against the impacts of major macro and micro developments. Employing a mixed methods approach, the quantitative aspect involved statistical analyses of the panel data on 897 households from nine villages representing different geo-climatic regions in the country. This data was generated from CDRI's Moving Out of Poverty Study (MOPS) in 2001, the MOPS in 2004/5 and the PDS survey in 2008, with financial and technical support from the World Bank. The qualitative aspect, on the other hand, drew upon analyses of the results of focus group discussions (FGDs) and semi-structured interviews (SSIs) with households and individuals from the same nine study villages. Based on the results of the PDS presented in this report, policy recommendations have been formulated in the hope of helping tailor the government's poverty reduction policies and advance their implementation.

Addressing Poverty Remain the Top Priority of Development Policies

Poverty is a multidimensional phenomenon. It is an outcome of interlocking problems that operate at different levels and contexts. In Cambodia, the incidence of poverty has been consistently high albeit this has been decreasing in recent years and can be explained by country-level, sectoral and micro-level factors. At the national level, Cambodia's legacy of conflict, repression and isolation stands as a central explanation to why the country has become one of the world's poorest. This legacy lingers in key broad determinants of poverty, particularly the low levels of physical and human capital and poor governance. The impressive growth period between 1998 and 2008 also witnessed the impact on poverty of economic and non-economic shocks. At the sectoral level, the narrow economic base of growth and the under performance of the agricultural sector highlight poverty in Cambodia as a mainly rural phenomenon. At the micro-level, poor asset ownership, limited access to public goods and finance, low levels of education and nutrition, and idiosyncratic shocks jointly resulted in communal, household and individual poverty.

Cambodia achieved a successful economic and social restructuring between 1998 and 2008 that spurred economic growth and poverty reduction. In time, the Royal Government of Cambodia (RGC) declared poverty alleviation as its single most important long term goal, recognising that poverty reduction is integral to social reconciliation and key to maintaining political stability. The fulfilment of this mission rests on what has been formally called the Rectangular Strategy. This strategy's core component is improvement in governance and its four pillars are as follows: enhancement of agriculture; private sector development and employment generation; human resource development; and infrastructure building. This strategy has borne fruit, sustaining the progress in expanding the economy and diminishing poverty. However, poverty reduction has not matched the pace of economic growth, suggesting gaps in the translation of policy into action.

Poverty Dynamics and Socio-economic Trends: Community Perspectives

The rural study villages have different experiences in changing poverty headcount and income. This demonstrates that income growth may have been a necessary but certainly not a

sufficient condition for poverty reduction. The PDS suggests that poverty headcount declined in many rural villages between 2004/5 and 2008, a period that had substantial increases in average real per capita income and consumption. Average real per capita income rose significantly for almost all the study villages but this did not hold for consumption. Ultimately, using the consumption approach, some villages experienced a decline in poverty, but its incidence in some villages increased. Income growth appeared to be strongly, positively related with asset ownership and other welfare improvement. However, the experience of the nine study villages varied greatly in terms of sustainable food and non-food consumption and depended on their starting base in 2001. It is important to note that most study villages experienced consumption deficits in relation to the 2008 village poverty line. Successful agricultural villages have experienced significant reduction in poverty headcount or low poverty incidence. Land sales and transaction was viewed as a key factor in improvements in well-being and poverty reduction in some village.

The study villages were grouped into six strongly and three poorly performing villages based on the ability and capacity of each to exploit social, economic and political developments for the purpose of augmenting income and consumption, especially between 2005 and 2008. Chief of these developments included (1) agricultural growth; (2) enhanced access to common property resources (CPR) for subsistence and commercial purposes; (3) food price escalation in 2007 and then deflation by the middle of 2008; and the (4) real estate boom between 2005 and July 2008. These developments had direct and indirect positive impact on household welfare in the study villages. However, some gains tended to be unsustainable for such reasons as the illegal nature of the CPR access and the landlessness caused by real estate transactions. For example, increased CPR access as a result of the fisheries and forestry reform and its political implications before the national election in July 2008 contributed greatly to the remarkable rise of total average per capita income and helped boost agricultural growth in the CPR villages. These villages however experienced uneven change in poverty headcount. That is because increased income in the natural resource development villages stemmed mostly from the illegal conversion of forest and flooded forest for cultivation between 2004/5 and 2008, but such an increase cannot be sustainable. Wage labour became an important source of income for landless households and some villages, but this income tended to sustain improvements in livelihoods and the mitigation of poverty.

The sample rural households seem to have benefited from infrastructure development and increased availability of microcredit services. However, this improvement was not enough to raise the capacity of rural households to cope with social and economic shocks or to sustain their consumption above the village poverty line to avoid sliding into poverty. Consumption and poverty reduction also proved unstable in those villages where most households depended heavily on the cultivation of wet season rice, wage labour and access to CPR. There were increased efforts to grow more cash crops and raise livestock in addition to rice production but the lack of know-how and inadequate extension services undermined progress. These findings highlight the need to speed up infrastructure development, provision of adequate effective extension services, and agricultural diversification.

Empirical Analysis: Chronic and Transient Poverty in Nine Villages

The empirical analysis uses three separate years of unique panel data on 827 households to measure transient and chronic poverty based on real total expenditure per capita as a welfare indicator. The results show that 44 percent of the sample households experienced transient poverty while chronic poverty affected 15 percent. There are high levels of chronic and transient poverty in the Tonle Sap and Plateau regions. Using multinomial logit regression to identify the causes of transient and chronic poverty, the econometric evidence shows that transient poverty is associated with household composition, the gender of the household head and marital status. Household composition, number of dependent household members, males aged 15–64, education of the household head and ownership of non-land assets are important factors in chronic poverty but are not significant in transient poverty. The number of females aged 15–64 increases both chronic and transient poverty.

The asset approach to measuring chronic and transient poverty found that the largest numbers of households were transient poor, consistently with the findings of the consumption approach; however, the asset measure offers new important and more telling insights into the key determinants of chronic and transient poverty. Households experiencing transient poverty account for 40 percent of the sample and chronic poverty for 30 percent. The Tonle Sap and plateau regions have lower chronic poverty and higher transient poverty than the coastal region. Male adults aged 15–64 years, household head characteristics such as educational level and occupation, agricultural land, non-land assets and livestock are important factors for chronic poverty but are not significant determinants of transient poverty. Transient poverty is negatively associated with non-land assets. Using either of the consumption or asset approach, the empirical results suggest that different policies will be needed to address chronic and transient poverty and for each agro-climatic region.

Policy implications

A number of pro poor policy directions can be drawn from the key findings of this micro study. These policies are advanced to support both community growth and poverty reduction and respond to transient and chronic poverty through support for both farm and non-farm employment for poverty reduction. These policies need to be integrated into an agricultural and rural development policy framework and upcoming development interventions. Such policies and interventions can be effective if they harness existing synergy of community growth and economic opportunities generated along with structural change in order to build the capacities of the poor. This will not only increase productivity but also pave for stronger capacity to cope with socio and economic shocks/crises. Coordination of pro-poor policies and interventions has to be done through strategic sectoral planning and define the roles of national and sub-national bodies within the D&D reform structure. The private sector and civil society have important parts to play in highlighting major technical, administrative and political challenges to policy design and implementation. However, promoting structural change from an agricultural to a non-agricultural-based growth requires large-scale and long-term investments.

Supporting Community Growth for Poverty Reduction

 Pro-poor strategic development framework should be integrated and coordinated in development interventions in order to build the capacities of the poor. These should focus on rural infrastructure; generating labour demand; technical changes for productivity gains; and, access to stable input, output and financial markets to support such technologies. These factors should enable the poor to benefit from widespread technology adoption in response to labour markets and the need to diversify in the face of risks of falling grain prices. The process encompasses structural change that requires careful targeting of policies, strategic planning and coordination mechanisms to address the different endowments and needs of the poor in rural areas and the differences between the chronically and transient poor.

- 2. Pro-poor agricultural development policy for poverty reduction should enhance the capacity and productivity for income generation of small landholding farmers. Strategic mechanisms should be in place for the small farmers to address their problems and needs so that they can increase productivity and diversification. Intensifying and diversifying agricultural activities to increase income of small farmers has been supported by recent market developments in both strongly and poorly performing villages. This development, however, has been constrained by a lack of know-how, ineffective agricultural extension services and inadequate savings and irrigation systems. At the same time, migration has become an alternative coping strategy for the growing labour force while the agricultural landless and land concentration has risen.
- 3. Pro-poor agriculture should address the needs of poor, rural agricultural households, especially existing conflicts over land and water access for small farmers. Conflicts over CPR access (land and water) for subsistence and commercial agricultural and related activities remain unresolved and have further inhibited agricultural development and employment creation in rural areas. This should be addressed through land distribution and security, agricultural modernisation and diversification and public goods (infrastructure and agricultural extension services) delivery for small farmers. A key priority should speed up land titling processes and social land concession to address inequality in land ownership and target frontier areas that are prone to land and water conflicts or conflict between subsistence and commercial interests.

Agricultural mechanisms, infrastructure, irrigation, reliable agricultural loans and extension services for small farmers must be set in place to improve land productivity and promote agricultural intensification and diversification to induce investments in modern equipment and systems. With such policy interventions, small farmers gain a better capacity to cope with shocks and exploit opportunities generated by increased market connections.

- 4. Bolster crisis response that protection schemes are required for ex-ante and ex-post crisis responses that should establish and build the community capacity of crisis responses as part of poverty reduction strategies. The government is in the process of establishing a comprehensive social safety net system. Three aspects of this are particularly important: funding sustainability; programme design (targeting and type of schemes, with public work programmes and cash transfers vital); and unified administration. Ex-ante strategies, which seek to enhance income sustainability, are longer in term that can diversify economic base.
- 5. Enhance advanced community-based CPR management to secure pro-poor property rights access for fisheries and forestry. Increasing community ownership of the commons not only formally entitles local villagers to the benefits of CPR access but also formally endows them with the responsibility to ensure resource sustainability. Collective action has been shown to sustain successful CPR management, but is subject to the satisfaction of several conditions. First, it has to be based on a well-defined and context-appropriate property rights regime, with the boundaries under management both clearly laid out and also congruent with the ecosystem and local administrative structures. Second, cost-benefit sharing arrangements must be as equitable as possible, as key factors in the sustainability of participatory resource management are the distribution of dividends and decision-making power. Third, the success of CPR management hinges on the quality of local governance. Reneging on obligations and free-riding and cheating the system can occur, and it is important to devise cost-effective monitoring, enforcement and sanctioning systems. Fourth, capacity building is a prerequisite for the success of participatory schemes, and technical assistance to enhance the capacities of local communities should be provided. Sustainable natural resource use requires a blend of modern and indigenous knowledge of conservation and utilisation. This

should be supported through consultative discussions to avert conflict and through technical assistance to communities.

6. Continue aggressive implementation of educational strategies and effective pro-poor scholarship schemes. Human capital for both transient and chronic poor through higher educational attainment and appropriate life skill levels can be promoted by simultaneously increasing education budgets (a priority sector) and enhancing the quality of spending. Access to primary education, already widespread, can be further improved through targeted spending on education quality. Problematic areas also include low teacher competencies and school retention rates. At the secondary and tertiary levels, low enrolment ratios must be improved, and budgets for secondary education must be increased to make access more affordable. In terms of workforce skills, there is a mismatch between present levels of skills and the requirements of the private sector, which prevents labour movement into more productive sectors. The lack of management skills is an off-cited reason for the limited number of Cambodians with managerial positions in the garment sector. The private sector has to be encouraged to take up the slack in offering and funding vocational and technical training opportunities.

Pro-Poor Policy Responses to Chronic and Transient Poverty

Two different sets of specific policy responses are needed for the chronic and transient poor, groups which encounter different livelihood problems.

Policies for the chronically poor: The chronically poor have been inactive participants and beneficiaries from the recent growth and developments. They lack financial and productive assets. They have weak human and physical capital, with low education levels and chronic health problems. Most chronically poor are self-employed or daily wage workers within the village, which are opportunities that are mostly insecure and with lower wages. A number of key strategies should be specifically created to improve the capacity of the chronically poor to move out of poverty.

- 7. Expand pro-poor scholarships and free health care services to target the chronically poor. All poor households have benefited from pro-poor health services in recent years through the ID Poor card from the Ministry of Planning. However, only some households have benefited from the universal education policy and the school feeding programme; other households have had to force their children to withdraw from school at an early age to help in earning incomes or foraging for food. This study supports the expansion of the pro-poor scholarship programme and free health care services along with non-farm income generation programmes for parents as paths out of poverty for the chronically poor.
- 8. Cash transfer programmes for small business creation and non-farm activities are an effective tool to help the chronically poor. The strategic design of these kinds of interventions should be linked to the broader market demand and appropriate vocational training and understanding of market chains in order to maximise profits. Special arrangements for cash transfer programmes supported by vocational training and saving schemes or rural credit for small business creation is the best option for this section of the chronically poor, especially for female-headed households without male labour.
- 9. Enhance support for development services for both chronically and transient poor. Single female-headed households often consider alternative income generation activities such as poultry and pig rearing but suffer from lack of knowledge as to how to protect their animals from infectious diseases. This problem is not specific to the chronically and transient poor

but relates to livestock production in both strongly and poorly performing villages. It can be addressed by increasing and strengthening agricultural extension services for the poor.

Policies for the transient poor: Transient poor households have a different set of problems compared with the chronically poor, often relating to their inability to cope with income shocks. They have assets for sale to cope with shocks, but during the recent crises the demand for and price of assets fell and, without formal credit, they became more vulnerable to sliding into poverty. This group of the poor could benefit from formal insurance and social protection schemes. The following strategies are worth considering in helping the transient poor.

- 10. Formal protection schemes are needed in response to crises, such as food for work and employment creation programmes to provide work for the unemployed and/or dismissed workers on labour-intensive government projects.
- 11. Build community risk reduction mechanisms such as saving groups. Saving schemes and rice banks were made available to the poor by NGO-led development initiatives to sustain their consumption in times of need, but these community based efforts have not been strong enough to cope with the magnitude of the impact of income shocks. The transient poor have often had to rely on traditional coping strategies such as loans from moneylenders with high interest rates and sales of farm outputs to merchants/traders who willing to offer them credit in times of need but for lower than normal farm-gate prices. This has further eroded their capacity to recover from income shocks. The traditional buffer of CPR used for coping with food shortages is no longer available; the only alternative has been migration to secure earnings elsewhere. This is possible with households that have a labour surplus but less so for single female-headed transient poor households, which are left with limited options.
- 12. Promote linkages between social protection and pro-poor agricultural development. Agricultural productivity can be supported by well-designed social protection programmes. Productive capacities can be enhanced through the expansion of quality public services for technical transfers to the poor, and such social protection can enhance resilience in the face of threats, limit disinvestment, reduce risk and promote investment by the poor. Crop and livestock insurance schemes through market interventions by the government are important in times of economic crisis, and agriculture should be subject to more social protection, and protection which is sensitive to impacts on production. The experience of the recent economic crises shows that allocations of national insurance funds need to be well-planned and implemented. For the purposes of poverty reduction, however, this study suggests social protection interventions be given priority in the plateau, Tonle Sap and coastal regions, where concentrations of transient poor are highest, particularly since the recent economic crises.

Chapter 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Cambodia has come a long way since the violence and isolation of its recent past. The 1991 Paris Peace Agreements and the end of civil war and political infighting in 1998 brought about a period of relative stability and peace. A regionally and globally integrated open market economy has replaced the centrally planned economy, and a partial structural transformation has seen the rise of certain key sectors that are driving growth. There has also been considerable progress in restoring the country's physical and human capital, which was decimated by the protracted conflict. As a result of these transformations, Cambodia has experienced a very high rate of growth, with real gross domestic product (GDP) averaging around 8.5 percent per year between 1994 and 2008.

Despite Cambodia's impressive economic performance, strategic location and natural resource endowments, the country is still one of the poorest in Asia. The national poverty rate may have decreased significantly from a level of 45–50 percent in 1993/94, but it remains unacceptably high, at around 30 percent (World Bank 2009b; 2009c). A key explanation for this lies in Cambodia's history and the challenges of the post-conflict economic recovery. A combination of political, economic and social factors has restricted Cambodia from achieving inclusive growth and greater poverty reduction.

The poverty elasticity of growth in Cambodia is far below the average rate for developing countries.¹ This can be explained partly by the nature of the country's output growth, which has precluded a wider distribution of the dividends (Ballard *et al.* 2007; Fitzgerald & So 2007; Jalilian 2008; World Bank 2007a). Different patterns of economic growth have differentiated impacts on poverty. While cross-country studies indicate a lack of bias in the sharing of the benefits of growth on average, individual country studies have shown that experiences can differ greatly. The trickle-down effect of growth can be limited, and poverty can increase even in the midst of economic expansion. Two factors that shape the impact of growth on poverty are the sectoral composition and inter-linkages of growth in a country (Jalilian 2008).

Cambodia has gone through a partial structural shift in the economy, especially after the end of armed conflict in 1999. This transformation has involved the take-off of three industries: garments, tourism and construction. Apart from during the economic crisis in 2009, these sectors have largely driven GDP growth; however, they have had weak links with the rest of the economy. Although they have generated employment, their share in total employment has remained modest. Agriculture, accounting for the bulk of the workforce, could have a much higher impact on poverty, as the majority of the country's poor are concentrated in largely agriculture-based rural areas. Regrettably, the sector has been growing at a very low and unstable rate until recently. Between 2007 and 2009, real agricultural output grew by 5 percent per year on average. It is of interest to study this factor when looking at poverty dynamics, along with the effects of recent food, energy and economic shocks and specific local events such as changing access to common property resources (CPR).

¹ The growth elasticity of poverty for developing country ranges from -1.5 to -5 percent, with an average of -2 percent (Adams 2004; Weiss & Khan 2006)

The food and energy shocks of 2007–8 resulted in unprecedented food and non-food price rises in Cambodia. Notwithstanding production gains from higher commodity prices, these shocks increased the vulnerability of the poor, particularly net food buyers and sellers with little surplus to bring to the market (Jalilian *et al.* 2008; 2010). While developing countries were still battling with the effects of the food crisis, financial turmoil spread across the developed world. By the second half of 2008, the contagion effects of the economic crisis became evident in Cambodia. Agriculture proved resilient but the garment, construction and tourism industries suffered contractions. Food and non-food prices plunged, although most remained above average, benefiting some while hurting others (Jalilian & Reyes 2010; Jalilian *et al.* 2009; 2010). Other important events occurred alongside these developments. The real estate boom proved profitable for a number of Cambodians but, inflated by speculation, the bubble burst in 2008. Between 2007 and 2010, the national poverty headcount may have increased by 1 to 4 percentage points (World Bank 2009b).

The Royal Government of Cambodia (RGC) has placed poverty reduction at the top of its policy agenda. The progress achieved in during the last decade or so suggests some degree of success in poverty reduction, but greater effort is required. Government policy-making and implementation would benefit from studies that help identify which areas to target and the strategies that need to be adapted and pursued more aggressively.

1.2 Design and Objectives of the PDS

The PDS is a follow-up on the MOPS, conducted as part of a World Bank global study in 18 countries between 2004 and 2005. The MOPS in turn built on the findings of a survey conducted by CDRI in 2001 and disseminated in Chan & Acharya (2002). Cambodia, with support from the World Bank Country Office, is the only country that is continuing to improve its panel data for poverty analysis.

The PDS is an important tool for poverty monitoring. As a local and longitudinal study, it can be used to monitor poverty indicators in response to the type of changes in social, economic and political conditions at the community level which cannot be captured by national surveys. These surveys, which capture aggregate poverty trends, include the following: the Socio-Economic Survey of Cambodia (SESC) 1993/4; the Cambodia Socio-Economic Surveys (CSESs) 2004 and 2007; national poverty profiles produced by the National Institute of Statistics (NIS) in 1993, 1997, 2004 and 2007; and the Cambodia Demographic and Health Surveys (CDHSs) 2000 and 2005. The PDS complements the analyses of poverty dynamics and inequality conducted by the World Bank in the 2006 Poverty Assessment, in the 2007 Equity Report and in "Poverty Profile and Trends in Cambodia: Findings from the 2007 CSES" (World Bank 2006; 2007; 2009a). Other studies that it complements include CDRI's Participatory Poverty Assessment (PPA) of the Tonle Sap Region, its Cambodia Land Titling Rural and Urban Baseline Survey Reports and papers such as the perception survey on attitudes towards inequality and governance issues commissioned for the World Bank.

The 2004/5 MOPS tracked movement into and out of poverty, and factors behind this, between 2001 and 2004/5. However, it was not possible to assess whether some households that became better off fell back into poverty, or whether those that became poor remained "stuck" in poverty. It was also not possible to assess whether poverty dynamics observed between 2001 and 2004/5, a period when Cambodia experienced successive years of flooding and drought, were atypical or consistent with longer-term trends. Equally important, the 2004/5 MOPS used only descriptive statistics to analyse community trends and factors that influence changes in household poverty dynamics.

The PDS aims to fill the research gaps in the MOPS. Its key objective is to deepen the qualitative and quantitative analysis and understanding of poverty dynamics in Cambodia between 2001 and 2008 using a longitudinal dataset described further below. By doing so, it seeks to highlight the factors behind pervasive poverty set against the backdrop of high economic growth. Between 2001 and 2008, major developments occurred at both the macro and micro levels. Higher agricultural growth rates in the years up to 2008, food and energy shocks and the global economic downturn were key macro-economic factors; at the micro level, there were improvements as well as shocks and specific local events affecting communal and household levels. This PDS looks at poverty trends with these important developments in mind. In particular, it seeks to address the following research questions:

- 1. How has the extent of poverty changed? Are there notable variations in the extent of change across the study villages and the four agro-ecological regions?
- 2. If poverty reduction has occurred, has it been sufficient to lift the study villages and regions out of pervasive poverty?
- 3. To what extent is poverty chronic and transient, and to what extent are the improvements in welfare sustainable?
- 4. How do changes in income relate to changes in consumption, asset ownership and therefore poverty? Does income growth necessarily translate into growth in consumption and asset ownership?
- 5. What are some determinants of chronic and transient poverty? What has underpinned the sustainability or lack of sustainability of welfare improvements?
- 6. To what extent and in what way has agricultural growth contributed to income growth and/or poverty reduction? To what extent and in what ways have shocks and specific local events contributed to poverty? How have households responded to cope with negative shocks or exploited the positive benefits of shocks and events?

1.3 Survey Sample Design

The sampling frame for the 2008 survey component of the PDS was the 1,005 households residing in nine villages in Cambodia surveyed by CDRI in 2001. These nine villages represent all four of the country's main rural agro-ecological regions: the Mekong plains (Ba Baong and Prek Khmeng villages); the Tonle Sap (Krasang, Andong Trach and Khsach Chi Ros villages); the upland plateaus (Dang Kdar, Kanchor and Trapeang Prei villages); and the coastal region (Kompong Tnoat village) (Figure 1.1). Of the 2001 sample, 827 households were revisited and surveyed. The difference between sample sizes (1,005 in 2001 and 827 in 2008) owed to attrition. Table 1.1 elaborates on the characteristics and sample size of each of the nine study villages.

To capture seasonal variations, the 2008 survey, like the MOPS and the 2001 survey, was conducted in two rounds. The first round was conducted during the agricultural lean season (September) and sought information on consumption, income, demographics and the labour market (e.g. housing conditions and assets, access to and use of credit, land productivity, access to CPR, shocks, migration activities). The second survey round took place during the wet season (March) and sought additional information on household characteristics.

Between 2001 and 2008, there were six survey rounds, generating unique panel data that are highly useful for poverty analysis in Cambodia. It was possible to relocate households from the 2001 sample because of the household identifier data included in the panel dataset. Re-interviewing these households made it possible to determine and measure changes in their living standards and overall well-being between 2001 and 2008. The core household questions used in the MOPS survey were also adopted for the 2008 survey for comparability of data.



Figure 1.1: Location of Study Villages

1.4 Methodology and Definitions

The PDS adopts the mixed research approach, utilising both quantitative and qualitative methods to track relevant trends and characteristics of sample households and study villages between 2001 and 2008. This is a key difference between the PDS and the MOPS, which relied largely on descriptive analysis. The quantitative aspect of the PDS involved the use of more robust statistical methods to analyse poverty dynamics and causes from the core dataset of 827 panel households. Poverty is defined by both money-metric (income and consumption) and alternative (asset ownership) measures, as Chapter 2 describes. Consumption data are used to construct village poverty lines, measure poverty incidences and identify the extent of chronic and transient poverty and strong and poor performers among the study villages. The chronically poor refer to those households that have per capita consumption below the poverty line for all of the three survey years; the transient poor are those whose per capita consumption falls below the poverty line in any one of the three years; and the never poor are those with consumption per capita above the poverty line in all years.

Villages whose poverty rates in 2008 are lower than the overall rural poverty rate (34.7 percent) are categorised as strong performers, whereas those whose poverty rates are higher than the rural poverty rate are poor performers. Asset data were also used to construct poverty lines, calculate poverty rates and detect chronic and transient poverty via principle component analysis (PCA). A key challenge to the construction of poverty lines, using either the consumption or the asset approach, was the absence of price data on food and non-food items in the NIS national Consumer Price Index (CPI) surveys in 2001, 2004/5 and 2008. Therefore, as with the MOPS, the PDS used price surveys, conducted in March and September 2008, to study 106 types of rural consumer goods. Data collected from these surveys were adjusted according to the national inflation rate and used to construct village inflation rates.

The qualitative aspect of the PDS complements the quantitative analysis. Four or five focus group discussions (FGDs) were conducted during the second round of data collection in each village, with commune officials, village leaders (formal leaders and village elders) and members of different poverty mobility groups, both female and male, participating. The FGDs covered social, economic and political dimensions of community development and household welfare. Community timeline discussions sought overviews of specific village events and shocks, such as food price escalations and significant changes in access to economic opportunities, CPR and public services. In addition to the FGDs, three or four individual households were selected from each village for semi-structured interviews (SSIs). The purpose was to form an understanding of experiences relating to income generation and of general wellbeing. Information from the FGDs and SSIs was used to prepare community synthesis reports for each village, an important component of the PDS.

Table 1.1: J	Location and	l Key Char	racteristics c	Table 1.1: Location and Key Characteristics of Study Villages		
Village	Commune	District	Province	2001	2004/5	2008
				Land and Food Security Study	Moving Out of Poverty Study	Poverty Dynamic Studies
Tonle Sap plains	ins				_	
Andong	Kompong	Sangke	Battambang	85 out of 196 HHs	85 out of 196 HHs surveyed	87 out of 209 HHs surveyed
l rach	Frean			surveyed (no qualitative	• I Interview with village leaders	• 2 FUDS (moved up HHS, stagnated poor and destitute HHS, female-headed HHs, commune council village leaders)
				research)	• 5 FGDs (moved in. moved out (x2), voung	• 6 SSIs (out-migration with farm land HHs (x2), out-migra-
					men and women)	tion without farm land HH, moved down female-headed
					• 4 SSIs	HH, moved down male-headed HH, stagnated poor HH)
					• 46 participants (24 M, 22 F)	• 36 participants (14 M, 22 F)
Krasang	Tamoeun	Thmor Kul	Battambang	120 out of 228	• 120 out of 234 HHs surveyed	• 116 out of 244 HHs surveyed
				HHs surveyed	• 1 interview with village leaders	• 5 FGDs (moved up HHs, stated poor and destitute HHs,
				(FGDs and	• 2 community timeline discussion groups	female-headed HHs, commune council, village leaders)
				interviews)	• F5 FGDs (moved in, moved out, stable,	• 4 SSIs (out-migration HHs (x2), migrant tailors in Thai-
					young men and women)	land, moved down HH)
					• 4 SSIS	• 32 participants (16 male, 16 female)
					• 53 participants (23 M, 30 F)	
Khsach Chi	Kompong	Kompong	Kompong	120 out of 305	120 out of 339 HHs surveyed	120 out of 466 HHs surveyed
Ros	Kor	Svay		HHs surveyed	• 1 interview with village leaders	• 5 FGDs (moved up HHs, stated poor and destitute HHs,
				(no qualitative	• 2 community timeline discussion groups	female-headed HHs, commune council, village leaders)
				research)	• 5 FGDs (moved in, mixed, stable, young	• 4 SSIs (livestock HHs (x2), dry rice season HHs (x2))
					men and women)	• 35 participants (22 M, 13 F)
					• 4 SSIs	
,					• 45 participants (21 M, 24 F)	
Mekong plains	s					
Prek	Prek	Lvea Aem	Kandal	120 out of 339	• 120 out of 343 HHs surveyed	• 120 out of 366 HHs surveyed
Khmeng	Khmeng			HHs surveyed	• 1 interview with village leaders	• 5 FGDs (moved up HHs, stated poor and destitute HHs,
				(FGDs and	• 2 community timeline discussion groups	female-headed HHs, commune council, village leaders)
				interviews)	Five FGDs (moved in, moved out, stable	• 4 SSIs (moved down HH, land sold HH, outstanding loan
					young men and women)	HH, fishing HH)
					• 1 SSI	• 28 participants (7 male, 21 female)
					49 participants	
Ba Baong	Ba Baong	Peam Ror	Prey Veng	127 of 536 HHs	• 127 out of 543 HHs surveyed	• 127 out of 546 HHs surveyed
				surveyed (FGDs		• Six FGDs (moved up HHs, moved down HHs, stated poor
				and interviews)	• 5 FGDs (moved in, moved out, stable,	and destitute HHs, female-headed HHs, commune council,
					young men and women)	village leaders)
					• 4 SSIS	• 5 SSIS (livestock HHs, outstanding loan HHs (x2), out-
					• 65 participants	migration HHs (x2))
						• 44 participants (15 M, 29 F)

Table 1.1: Location and Key Characteristics of Study Villages

odia

9

Village	Commune	District	Province	2001 Land and Food Security Study	2004/5 Moving Out of Poverty Study	2008 Poverty Dynamic Studies
Plateau/mountain	tain					
Kanchor	Kanchor	Chlong	Kratie	120 of 278 HHs surveyed (no qualitative research)	 120 out of 267 HHs surveyed 1 interview with village leaders 2 community timeline discussion groups 4 FGDs (moved in, moved out, young men and women) 4 SSIs 53 participants (23 M, 30 F) 	 123 out of 266 HHs surveyed 5 FGDs (moved up HHs, stated poor and destitute HHs, female-headed HHs, commune council, village leaders) 4 SSIs (out-migration HH, outstanding loan HH, cleared land HH (x3), fishing HH) 37 participants (9 M, 28 F)
Dang Kdar	Krayea	Sontuk	Kompong Thom	125 of 306 HHs surveyed (FGDs and interviews)	 125 out of 420 HHs surveyed 1 interview with village leaders 2 community timeline discussion groups 4 FGDs (moved in, moved out, young men and women) 4 SSIs 51 participants (28 M, 23 F) 	 129 out of 497 HHs surveyed 6 FGDs (moved up HHs, moved down HHs, stated poor and destitute HHs, female-headed HHs, commune council, village leaders) 5 SSIs (livestock HH, outstanding loan HHs (x2), out- migration HHs (x2)) 40 participants (15 M, 25 F)
Prei Prei	Khsan	Odongk	Kompong Speu	68 out of 68 HHs (FGDs and interviews)	 73 out of 75 HHs surveyed 2 community timeline discussion groups 5 FGDs (moved in, moved out, stable, young men and women) 4 SSIs 74 participants (35 M, 39 F) 	 76 out of 85 HHs surveyed 5 FGDs (moved up HHs, state poor and destitute HHs, female-headed HHs, commune council, village leaders) Four SSIs (out-migration HH, in-migration HH, outstanding loan HH, moved up HH) 33 participants (10 male, 23 female)
oastal						
Kompong Tnoat	Koun Sat	Kampot	Kampot	120 of 348 HHs (FGDs and interviews)	 120 out of 363 HHs surveyed 1 interview with village leaders 2 community timeline discussion groups 4 FGDs (moved in, moved out, young men and women) 1 SSI 41 participants (23 M, 18 F) 	 123 out of 460 HHs surveyed 6 FGDs (moved up HHs, moved down HHs, stated poor and destitute HHs, female-headed HHs, commune council, village leaders) 4 SSIs (fishing HH, outstanding loan HHs (x2), vegetable farming HH) 42 participants (13 M, 29 F)
Total (all villages)	ages)			1,005 out of 2,602 HHs surveyed	 1,010 out of 2,780 HHs surveyed 477 participants in qualitative interviews and FGDs 	 1,021 out of 3,139 HHs surveyed 327 participants (121 male, 206 female) in FGDs and SSIs

1.5 Limitations of the PDS Dataset

Although the PDS panel dataset provides a solid basis for long-term longitudinal analysis of community trends and poverty dynamics in Cambodia, it has certain limitations. The representativeness of the PDS findings may be in question, given the purposive selection of the sample households. Data comparability is also compromised by the problem of attrition. A more serious issue, however, is that some inconsistencies in terms of data gathering and composition have been introduced over time into the dataset in order to address the specific objectives of the different studies. These cannot easily be remedied. When the 2001 and 2004/5 studies were being undertaken, there was no intention of conducting a longitudinal study. As a result, in each round of the study, there were some changes in data collection and survey questionnaires, in particular regarding quantitative analysis of the data. Results generated in this way should be treated with caution.

Mixed-method studies typically throw up questions and contradictions in the data collected using each method, and the PDS is no exception. Information gathered from household surveys inevitably contradicts or conflicts with data collected in FGDs on occasion, while information from consumption and income sections may be inconsistent with that identified through recallbased exercises in the survey. One of the strengths of the mixed-method approach is that different perspectives and data are captured, cross-checked and weighed against each other for validity, generating insights into the complexity of and relations between community trends, household mobility and poverty dynamics.

In conclusion, despite limitations, the longitudinal dataset is an important tool, and the PDS in general is a highly valuable and unique exercise. The results of the research can help Cambodian policy-makers to better understand and target the poor by examining the causes of poverty, given national and local development trends.

The rest of the report is structured as follows. Chapter 2 provides an overview of Cambodia's growth and poverty profiles, poverty determinants and poverty reduction policies. Chapter 3 analyses the dynamics of poverty at the micro level in the nine villages covered in the survey, using qualitative and quantitative techniques such as surveys, FGDs and SSIs. Chapters 4 and 5 cover an important addition to the PDS in relation to the MOPS: detailed quantitative analyses of poverty, both chronic and transient, using panel data and applying appropriate statistical techniques. Chapter 4 concerns the consumption approach to poverty assessment, Chapter 5 the asset approach. To reiterate, given the discussed limitations of the study, the results should be treated with some caution. Finally, Chapter 6 summarises and concludes the report.

Chapter 2

POVERTY IN CAMBODIA: PROFILE, CAUSES AND POLICIES

2.1 Introduction

Poverty is a complex, multidimensional phenomenon. It is a product of an intricate web of problems that operate at various levels and may be context-based. Its determinants are particularly traceable at the country, sectoral and micro (communal, household and individual) levels (Haughton & Khandker 2009). Although money-metric measures such as income and consumption (Chapters 3 and 4) continue to be necessary indicators of poverty, it is now widely acknowledged that they are not the singular definition of the term. Poverty can be seen as capability deprivation (Sen 1993; 1999; 2000), and concepts such as human development and asset-based welfare (Chapters 3 and 5) suggest that poverty refers to the lack of the material and non-material prerequisites for the realisation of human capabilities. For the purposes of policy-making, however, the concept of poverty has to be determined and its major causes understood and used to prioritise needs. As a low-income country, Cambodia confronts a myriad of pressing problems. Only with needs prioritisation can strategies to reduce poverty hold meaning (World Bank 2009b).

Poverty often persists in countries which have experienced protracted periods of internal conflict. A host of challenges exist in such countries (USAID 2009); these challenges, such as low levels of physical and human capital, a narrow economic base and poor governance, represent the chief causes of high poverty in Cambodia. As Chapter 1 mentioned political stability, economic restructuring and reintegration into global markets allowed for stronger economic growth and a degree of poverty reduction. However, underperformance of agriculture and structural constraints to labour allocation to more productive industries have sustained poverty in rural areas, with poor asset ownership, limited access to public goods and finance and low levels of education and nutrition having strong effects. Shocks and specific local events are also important causes of poverty, with recent crises demonstrating this strong linkage, which later chapters detail.

Inasmuch as poverty has no single set of causes, poverty reduction policies must be multipronged. Policy prioritisation must be undertaken to maximise effectiveness of government action within the limits defined by available resources. Policies can be categorised into three: those that foster opportunity; those that facilitate empowerment; and those that address income insecurity (Haughton & Khandker 2009). These policy priorities are reflected in past and present government development blueprints, and government ownership of these plans has strengthened over the years. The success of their implementation is evidenced by fast economic growth, and while this has led to poverty reduction, the relatively fast pace of growth in relation to slower poverty reduction suggests a disconnect between planning and implementation.

This chapter provides more detailed overviews of the determinants of poverty in Cambodia and government policies in this area, with the objective of providing a backdrop to the household poverty dynamics other chapters describe.

2.2 Growth and Poverty Profile

2.2.1 Growth

Cambodia has seen its economy become one of the fastest-growing in the world. Macroeconomic performance between 1994 and 1998 was affected by internal conflict and the Asian financial crisis, and was modest, with real GDP growth averaging around 6.3 percent per year. Far stronger macro-economic progress started in 1999, after the collapse of the Khmer Rouge and the consolidation of peace and social order across the country. Real GDP growth averaged around 9 percent per year from 1999 to 2003 and was above 10 percent for four consecutive years from 2004 to 2007 (Figure 2.1). Growth was driven by an open economy and stable macro-economic environment, increased exports and foreign direct investment (FDI) and a low inflation rate of about 5 percent prior to the steep hike in food prices in 2007–8. However, growth stemmed from a narrow economic base of four sectors: garments, tourism, construction and agriculture. The global financial and economic crisis of 2007–9, which caused record declines in trade and investment, resulted in significant contractions in Cambodia's garment, tourism and construction sectors, slowing real output growth to around 6.7 percent in 2008 and around 0.1 percent in 2009, according to government estimates. Output recovery is expected in 2010, with growth estimated at 5.0 percent (MEF 2010).



Figure 2.1: Real GDP Growth, 1995–2008 (constant 2000 prices) (%)

Source: NIS (2008), World Bank (2010b)

Cambodia's economy has been transformed rapidly in the last decade, with agricultural output lagging behind that of services and industry (Figure 2.2). Between 1998 and 2008, industry was the fastest-growing sector, averaging 14.4 percent annually and contributing 3.5 percent to GDP growth per year (Figure 2.3). Garments and construction have been the main drivers of industry, except in the crisis year of 2009, when they slumped, causing industrial growth to shrink. Industrial expansion translated into employment growth, creating approximately 100,000 new jobs a year between 1998 and 2007. Unfortunately, labour productivity in this sector has grown only slightly.





Source: NIS (2008)

The services sector made a steadily increasing contribution to Cambodia's economy between 1995 and 2008, accounting for around 40 percent of annual real GDP (see also Figure 2.2). Sectoral growth of 4.4 percent a year from 1998 to 2008 led to the creation of around 100,000 jobs annually, and labour productivity grew by approximately 6 percent per year (Hang 2009; NIS 2008; World Bank 2009b). As in the industry sector, however, services contracted in 2009, mainly because of the decrease in tourism.



Figure 2.3: Sectoral Growth, 1998–2009 (constant 2000 prices) (%)

Source: NIS (2008), MAFF (2010)

Although agriculture's share of GDP has been decreasing and its growth has been unstable, the sector remains crucial to Cambodia's economy, accounting for around 27 percent of real GDP in 2008 (see also Figure 2.2). In average terms, it grew by around 4.5 percent (Figure 2.3) and contributed about 2 percent of GDP growth per annum between 1998 and 2008 (Guimbert 2010). The sector employed approximately 60 percent of the total workforce, and labour productivity rose by 2 percent from 1998 to 2007 (World Bank 2009b). Unlike the other growth sectors, it was also able to withstand the effects of the economic crisis. It grew by 5 percent in 2009, helping pick up the slack in the economy. Growth in agriculture has been driven by land, labour and productivity gains. Agricultural crops contributed an average of 1.1 percent to annual real GDP growth from 1998 to 2007, with rice accounting for over 50 percent of crop growth. Rubber and cassava are newly emerging cash crops, and their production has grown markedly, with the expansion of planted areas and better productivity. Market demand, especially from the main export markets of Thailand, Vietnam and China, was hurt by the crisis but proved to be resilient, demonstrating the increasing importance of these crops to Cambodia's economy.

2.2.2 Poverty

Economic growth has transformed the country profoundly, enabling it to make advancements in poverty reduction. The experiences of other developing countries prove that sustained economic growth of around 7 percent per year, with agricultural growth of around 5–6 percent per year, can impact on rural poverty significantly. Although Cambodia's precrisis GDP growth was very strong, volatile agricultural growth limited its impact on poverty eradication. Results of the SESC 1993/4 and the CSES 2004 show that the national poverty headcount decreased by 10–15 percent between 1993/94 and 2004, an average of 1 to 1.5 percent per year (Figure 2.4).



Figure 2.4: Poverty Rates, 1993/4-2007 (%)

A CDRI study of rural villages found that the poverty headcount declined by only 1 percent over four years between 2001 and 2004 (Fitzgerald & So 2007). This suggests that the rural poor hardly benefited from economic growth up to 2004. The study found that the majority of its sample poor households lived in the Tonle Sap and plateau regions, were far from a main road and were highly dependent on CPR and crop farming. "Chronically poor"

Source: World Bank (2006; 2009a)

and "falling back to poverty" welfare groups earned low incomes from agriculture and CPR, and marginal incomes from selling labour; the "moved out of poverty" or "remained in the middle" groups increased their income from agriculture, self-employment and wage labour (Fitzgerald & So 2007; World Bank 2006). Women's wages are still significantly lower than those of men in both agriculture and industry, and gender disparities in employment remain extensive, limiting livelihood opportunities for women (MoWA 2009). This suggests women and female-headed households with more dependants are more likely to be trapped in poverty. People living in the capital and urban areas can benefit more easily from economic growth, as they have better access to education and health services and better infrastructure and more employment opportunities.

In contrast, the remarkably high economic growth of around 10 percent between 2005 and 2008, including average agriculture growth of 7.5 percent per year, saw the poverty headcount decline at a rate of 1.6 percent per year, from 35 percent in 2004 to 30.1 percent in 2007. Welfare indicators, such as quality of houses and key household assets, also showed a significant improvement over the period (World Bank 2009a). In terms of health indicators, mortality rates of children under five fell by one third, access to and use of public health services increased, costs of average medical treatment fell by around 25 percent and HIV/AIDS prevalence declined from 1.2 percent in 2003 to 0.7 percent in 2008. Education indicators showed school enrolment increasing by 27 percent for primary school, 16 percent for lower-secondary school and 11 percent for upper-secondary school (NIS 2006; MoEYS 2005; MoH 2008; Rushdy 2009; World Bank 2009b).

The rate of poverty reduction, given the rate of economic growth between 2005 and 2008, was in line with international averages during this period. However, inequality increased rapidly and at a worrying rate compared with international trends (World Bank 2009a). Poverty has remained unacceptably high at 30 percent in 2007, possibly higher in 2010 (World Bank, 2009a & World Bank, 2009c). Although improvements in education and health have been positive, the two sectors could not reach the objectives set in their strategic plans. Maternal mortality has not improved since 2000, remaining unacceptably high at 472 deaths per 100,000 live births. Because of low utilisation of key health care services, the number of deliveries at public health facilities remains low, at 22 percent, with worse figures in remote areas. Quality of services and professionalism of health workers remain unimproved, and amenities such as equipment, medicines and beds are far below the required standards and cannot cope with demand. Enrolment in lower-secondary and upper-secondary schools remains very low, especially in rural areas, with high repetition rates in all grades and very low teaching standards. Economic considerations are clearly a factor in school enrolment, retention and performance, and enrolment in higher levels of education for both genders is limited mainly to high-income groups (MoEYS 2005; MoH 2008; MoWA 2009).

2.3 Poverty Determinants

2.3.1 Country-Level Determinants

To fully understand pervasive poverty in the context of Cambodia, it is essential to consider the country's history of conflict. Almost three decades of civil strife from the 1970s through to the end of the 1990s had devastating consequences for Cambodia's infrastructure, human and social capital and state institutions. Priority spending was on defence and security, to the detriment of agricultural and rural development, and there occurred widespread human incapacitation and displacement (World Bank 1999; 2006). Cambodia emerged from this dark

period in its history as one of the world's poorest countries, with real GDP per capita in 1993 of only around USD200 (World Bank WDI online), a Human Development Index score of 0.325 (UNDP 1996) and poverty rates of 45–50 percent.

Two key challenges confronting Cambodia are direct legacies of the country's devastating history. These are the relatively low levels of physical capital, particularly infrastructure, and human capital. Many studies have demonstrated the direct and indirect positive links between infrastructure and poverty reduction (Fan 2004; Klitgaard 2004; Ogun 2010). As a percentage of GDP, gross capital formation in Cambodia is low compared with that of its neighbours in the Greater Mekong Sub-Region (GMS), at about 21 percent in 2008 (Figure 2.5). Capital intensity in the country's leading manufacturing sector, garments, was found to be much lower relative to other garment exporters (World Bank & IFC 2009); agricultural mechanisation and the proportion of paved roads have also remained low compared with other Asian developing countries (World Bank 2009b).



Figure 2.5: Gross Capital Formation, 1993–2008 (% share of GDP)

Source: World Bank WDI Online

The human capital theory and empirical findings have shown that investments in human capital, in particular in education, impact on poverty by increasing a worker's cognitive and non-cognitive skills and productivity, enhancing their chances of finding employment in the formal and informal sectors.² Cambodia's human capital stocks were virtually decimated during the brutal Khmer Rouge regime, and the effects persist to this day. Advancements in educational attainment show that progress has been achieved, but this has come from a very low base. Moreover, education indicators such as secondary enrolment ratios are considerably lower than in comparable countries (World Bank 2009b). Lower human capital is reflected in lower labour productivity, particularly in agriculture, with value-added per worker of USD389 in Cambodia, USD516 in Lao PDR and USD704 in Thailand. Sector-wide labour productivity is lower than in selected comparable countries (World Bank & IFC 2009).

For the human capital theory, see Becker (1964) and Schultz (1961). For relevant empirical studies, see Filmer (2007), Joliffe (2004), Knight *et al.* (2008) and Patrinos (2004).



Figure 2.6: Agriculture Value Added per Worker, 1993–2008 (constant 2000 USD)

Source: World Bank WDI Online

A large body of evidence from both cross-country analyses and case studies has shown the connections between good governance,³ economic growth and poverty reduction (Grindle 2005). Good governance encompasses better institutional efficiency; decentralised decisionmaking; encouraging participation by citizens, focusing on their needs and solutions to problems; curbing corruption which negatively impacts revenue generation and public spending; and enforcing the rule of law which guarantees the security of the rights of everyone. These efforts have direct beneficial effects on poverty reduction. Cambodia scores poorly on measures of governance, with scores on indicators of governance by Kaufmann et al. (2009) showing little change or even worsening between 1996 and 2008, apart from in relation to political stability.⁴ Transparency International's Corruption Perception Index also shows little change in governance in Cambodia since it was first calculated in 2005.⁵ Decentralisation and deconcentration (D&D),⁶ national public administrative reform and public financial management reforms have progressed at a modest pace. D&D reforms have resulted in commune elections, but power has yet to be transferred fully to sub-national levels. A weak legal framework and judiciary and complex public service delivery have made Cambodia's trade environment less attractive to private sector investment and have acted as a disincentive to business entrepreneurs, resulting in low job creation which has mostly affected the rural poor (RGC 2008; 2010; World Bank 2009b).

Shocks have further aggravated the state of poverty. The food shocks and associated price hikes of recent years and global financial and economic turmoil have affected Cambodia. With the exception of agriculture, the country's growth pillars have suffered, resulting in the laying-off of thousands of workers and contraction in internal and international remittances.

³ Different indicators of governance are used. They refer to all or any of the indicators in Kaufmann *et al.* (2009).

⁴ See Kauffman *et al.* (2009) for the corresponding margins of error.

⁵ www.transparency.org/policy_research/surveys_indices/cpi/2009

⁶ The Strategic Framework for Decentralisation & De-Concentration Reforms, adopted in June 2005.

The poverty headcount, as a result, is estimated to have increased (CDRI 2009a; Jalilian & Reyes 2010; Jalilian *et al.* 2009; World Bank 2010a).

2.3.2 Some Sector-Level Determinants

GDP growth does not necessarily lead to poverty reduction: it is the sectoral composition of GDP growth that determines its effect. Cambodia has a very narrow economic base, which is also poorly diversified in terms of products and market destinations. On average, around half of the country's annual real output growth between 1998 and 2007 was accounted for by the four growth drivers: garments, construction, tourism and agriculture. The garment sector, which was growing at double-digit rates before the economic crisis, has been manufacturing mostly cut-make-trim garments and exporting them to the US. Primarily FDI-financed private construction activities have been concentrated in urban areas. Tourism has revolved mainly around cultural tourism related to Angkor Wat. The linkages between these principal industries and the rest of the economy have been weak.

As asserted earlier, agriculture plays a key role in poverty reduction in developing countries. A vast body of evidence exists related to the impact of agricultural growth on poverty, given the concentration of poverty in largely agriculture-based rural areas.⁷ Low and volatile growth in agriculture in Cambodia can be attributed to poor land ownership, poor access to credit, lack of irrigation and rural infrastructure, poor marketing information, lack of access to technology and agricultural extension services and poor quality inputs such as fertiliser (MAFF 2010; World Bank 2009b; World Bank Institute 2008). Exploitation of natural resources such as forests and fisheries has been unsustainable, although some progress in this area has been made. A very large amount of potentially productive land, owned by a small group of powerful landowners, lies idle and constrains growth in agriculture. Moreover, only 3 percent of Cambodia's national budget has been allocated to agriculture over the past decade (World Bank 2009b), meaning technical research and technology inputs for much-needed diversification and improvements in production and productivity have been largely inadequate, harming the development of the sector. A regression analysis of agricultural crops in Cambodia shows the potential for improving rice production if investment in fertilisers, seeds and irrigation is increased (Yu & Fan 2009). The findings also suggest the government needs to design an effective investment strategy that loosens the constraints outlined above to speed up agricultural production and productivity and boost farmers' incomes.

2.3.3 Some Micro-Level Determinants

Asset-based welfare has emerged as a popular alternative definition of well-being. The proponents of this alternative measure argue that, while income is what households and individuals need to pay for their basic daily needs, assets are what they need to "move ahead" (Shapiro et al. 2009).⁸ Although these studies are limited, they have also demonstrated that financial inclusion helps achieve development outcomes, including poverty alleviation (World Bank 2001; 2006). Microfinance services by the reputable Bangladeshi microfinance institution (MFI), Grameen Bank, were found to have had small but significant impacts on household spending and asset ownership (Pitt & Khandker 1998). Poor households and individuals have few internal resources at their disposal, and their restricted access to affordable financing further prevents them from investing in improving their capabilities. Poverty reduction policies will

⁷ See, for instance Cervantes-Godoy & Dewbre (2010), DFID (2004), Pinstrup-Andersen & Pandya-Lorch (1995) and Timmer (2005) for an account of this evidence.

For a pioneering article on asset poverty, see Oliver & Shapiro (1990). See also Paxton (2002).

also fall short of reaching their objective if the institutional systems and procedures by which they are administered are flawed and inefficient.

Unsurprisingly, therefore, there is a direct link not only in the reach but also in the quality of public service delivery on the one hand and poverty reduction at the micro level on the other. Quality of public service delivery is associated with quality of governance, and D&D reforms are important in enhancing the availability of appropriate public services. Education and health improvements are essential in ensuring that poor households are not trapped in vicious cycles of poverty, and the centrality of these services to poverty reduction is evidenced in the many studies demonstrating that they help improve wages, productivity and labour force participation. Health and education are also prominent in the four Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) that relate to achieving universal education, improving child health, improving maternal health and combating HIV/AIDS, respectively. The fact that education and health outcomes complement each suggests that the overall impact of the two is greater than the sum of their individual effects (Morrisson 2002).

Asset ownership, access to finance and quality public services and education and health levels remain low among poor Cambodian households. Improvements across all these areas have been witnessed as Cambodia's economy has grown, but from a very low base. CSES results (World Bank 2009a) show that very few of the poorest and next poorest households own major consumer durables.⁹ They also show that access to all-weather roads, health centres and primary schools among poorest and next poorest households worsened between 2004 and 2007. Net lower-secondary enrolment ratios (for ages 12–14) were a mere 13 and 20 percent, respectively, for the poor and next poor in 2007. Only 15 and 21 percent of poor and next poorest households, respectively, had access to electricity and piped water in the same year. Cambodia's financial sector, particularly the banking and microfinance industries, may have flourished in recent years in terms of numbers and their deposit base, but access to finance by low-income groups remains low, despite some improvements. The latest poverty profile shows that around 70 percent of poor and next poorest households were able to secure loans in 2007; however, the loan amounts they were able to obtain were significantly lower than those given to richer households. Agriculture also comprises a small share of the total bank loan portfolio (World Bank 2009b). There has also been the problem of affordability. Unable to meet collateral requirements, and without the trust of the formal financial sector, many poor Cambodians still turn to informal creditors, who charge greater interest.

2.4 Government Poverty Reduction Policies

The government has recognised poverty reduction as integral to social reconciliation and maintaining political stability. In its first mandate, it declared poverty alleviation its single most important long-term goal, and made it the central thrust of the *first five-year Socio-Economic Development Plan* (SEDP I 1996–00). The primary objectives of SEDP I were to: 1) strengthen macro-economic management to attain high economic growth (with an aim of doubling GDP from 1994 levels by 2004, focusing on agriculture, industry and tourism; 2) improve rural livelihoods through sustainable agricultural and rural development; 3) enhance governance; 4) foster investment in human resources, physical infrastructure, health and education; and 5) promote land reform and environmental protection. However, implementation of projects and programmes that prioritised poverty reduction and human resources development was unsatisfactory, owing to constraints in government expenditure. Support from multilateral

Some widely owned major consumer durables among the poorest households are bicycles (82 percent), TVs (43 percent) and radios (29 percent) (World Bank 2009a).

and bilateral development organisations was necessary to implement most poverty alleviation projects.

The *Triangular Strategy*, adopted in 1998, was the policy platform of the government's second mandate. This was based on reforms in governance and anchored on three interrelated pillars: 1) strengthening stability, peace, security and public order; 2) integration of Cambodia into the regional and international community; and 3) socio-economic development and poverty reduction. The *second SEDP* (SEDP II 2001–5), adopted in 2002, set the government's development objectives by integrating the Triangular Strategy and the *Interim Poverty Reduction Strategy* 2000. It identified four broad goals: 1) private sector-led sustainable long-term economic growth of 6–7 percent a year; 2) equitable distribution of income and access to social and cultural development services; 3) sustainable natural resource use and environmental protection; and 4) reform of government administration. The *National Poverty Reduction Strategy* (NPRS) 2003–5 and the *Cambodia Millennium Development Goals* (CMDGs), which outline Cambodia's medium-term strategy to raise per capita income and halve poverty by 2015, were prepared in 2002 and 2003, respectively. The Health Strategic Plan 2003–7 was adopted in 2002, highlighting reductions in infant and maternal mortality rates as a key priority (they had risen in the years before this plan was enacted).

The *Rectangular Strategy for Growth, Employment, Equity and Efficiency* was the policy platform for the government's third mandate. This was built on the implementation of the Triangular Strategy. Key elements were selected from the CMDGs, SEDP II and the NPRS 2003–5 through broad consultation with national and international stakeholders. The following priority goals were selected: 1) institution of a favourable macro-economic and financial environment; 2) preservation of peace, political stability and social order; 3) regional and global integration of Cambodia; 4) building partnerships in development; 5) enhancement of agriculture; 6) private sector development and employment generation; 7) capacity building and human resource development; and 8) further infrastructure development and rehabilitation. When SEDP II ended in December 2005, the *National Strategic Development Plan* (NSDP) 2006–10 was developed. This was done by elaborating on the Rectangular Strategy to create a single, overarching document containing the government's priority goals and strategies to reduce poverty and achieve the CMDGs and other socio-economic development goals for the benefit of all Cambodians (RGC 2005).

The *Education Strategic Plan* 2006–10 was also issued in 2005. This reflects lessons learnt from preceding educational reforms and strategy documents which failed to reach their targets. Strengthening as opposed to abandoning the previous broad policy priorities was deemed prudent. These policies were the guarantee of equitable access to education, enhancement in the quality and efficiency of educational services and institutional development and capacity building for decentralisation. Equally important, the Strategic Framework for Decentralisation and De-Concentration Reforms was completed in 2005, envisioning a unified administration by empowered sub-national authorities. This framework was aimed primarily at providing further details for the reform to be implemented at the sub-national level, beginning with the enactment of relevant laws and sub-national elections and with a greater role in planning, budgeting and public service delivery for sub-national authorities.

The *Health Strategic Plan* 2008–15 was adopted in 2008. As with the Education Strategic Plan, this blueprint acknowledged the strengths and weaknesses of preceding health plans and built on strong political commitment to improving health services in the country by allocating more finances to the health sector over the years. Efforts focused on improvements in the areas
of service delivery, financing, human resources, information systems and governance. The *Rectangular Strategy Phase II* was also launched in 2008, in the government's fourth mandate, continuing the policy platform of the Rectangular Strategy, as it was deemed necessary to: 1) strengthen and expand the achievements of the Rectangular Strategy; 2) address the challenges encountered in its implementation; and 3) achieve the CMDGs. The previous plan was also fine-tuned in the *NSDP Update* 2009–13, to deal with the effects of the global economic crisis. It was also necessary to adopt a refined methodology identifying the "who" (implementing agency), "what" (specific responsibilities) and "how much" (cost of the initiatives) of policy implementation. Another recent policy achievement is the *National Programme for Sub-National Democratic Development* 2011–20. With the law on sub-national administration in place, and elections of sub-national authorities finished, this programme was adopted as a long-term anchor for the government's D&D reforms, with empowering sub-national authorities as the next step following elections. This programme outlines the processes by which national functions will be delegated to sub-national authorities and their management and fiscal roles.

2.5 Policy Reflections

An average growth rate of 7–8 percent per year is an ideal target to support poverty reduction objectives in the medium term; however, it is far from being a sufficient condition to realise poverty-related targets, as witnessed by the lack of correlation between economic growth and poverty reduction over the past decade in Cambodia. Poverty is a multi-dimensional phenomenon and it follows that policies must be multi-pronged, addressing poverty determinants at the macro and micro levels. Some priority actions that may help channel benefits of economic growth towards the poor are outlined below.

- *Employment creation*. Employment generation is a priority because around 250,000 jobs are required each year for new labour market entrants (Hang 2009). To secure jobs, Cambodia needs to: broaden its economic base by diversifying export products; exploit new export markets by integrating further into East Asia and the GMS; invest in light manufacturing (e.g. rice milling and storage) in rural areas to generate non-farm jobs for rural households; plan urbanisation to help in creating productive employment for surplus rural migrant labour; bolster the trade environment by enforcing legal reforms; and simplify public service delivery to increase incentives for private sector investment and create jobs for the poor (Hang 2009; World Bank 2009b).
- Agricultural intensification and diversification. Even though it showed healthy and resilient growth under the pressure of recent external shocks, agriculture is still performing far below its potential. High sustainable growth could be enhanced by: addressing the constraints mentioned in Chapter 2.2; planning and expanding production in new areas; expanding irrigated land to reduce the risks of drought; improving post-harvest technologies; orienting production towards export market demands; and improving coordination between the public and private sectors by improving the trade environment (RGC 2009; World Bank 2009b).
- *Infrastructure development*. Roads, irrigation and electricity are critically important for promoting rural economic growth and poverty alleviation. Not only do they help in increasing and diversifying agricultural productivity, but also they promote rural enterprise, creating jobs and incomes for rural populations (Hang 2009; World Bank 2009b). The high cost of electricity and lack of road infrastructure are obvious obstacles to the rapid expansion of a vibrant private investment sector. Although general transportation infrastructure, apart from railways, has markedly improved over the past 15 years, it is still largely inadequate

for facilitating economic growth. The national highway system is almost complete, and the upgrading of secondary roads will be complete by the end of 2011. These plans must be followed through on. Improved efforts need to be made in coordinating existing irrigation systems, and irrigated areas need to be expanded to speed up agricultural growth.

- Land and natural resource management. Cambodia has abundant land, but management and security are problematic. Land-grabbing must be halted and land registration processes sped up. Improvements to land titling, enforcement of regulations, respect of property rights of the poor and legalising ownership transactions would promote land productivity and investment. CDRI studies (CDRI 2007; 2009b; Fitzgerald & So 2007) show that, in the case of many crops, small landholders are more productive. Since forestry reform in 2000 and fisheries reform in 2002, poor households have been able to access these resources to improve their livelihoods, benefiting from specific areas for protection and conservation, sustainable exploitation practices and community forestry and fishery management, a point the next chapter discusses further. Therefore, improving land use and natural resource management by providing social land concessions to rural landless households and smallholders would have a significant impact on poverty reduction and rural economic growth. Finally, enforcing the legal framework and strengthening networks of forestry and fisheries communities would both improve protection and management of Cambodia's natural resources and ensure access to and use of these resources by the poor to attain sustainable livelihoods (MAFF 2006; World Bank 2009b).
- *Effective pro-poor programmes*. If expenditure is allocated to priority sectors such as agriculture, trade or private sector development, the majority of returns help to reduce the vulnerability of the poor. International experience shows that well-designed social development programmes in education, health services and infrastructure, for example, support growth and help prevent people from falling into poverty. These measures are cost-effective, as it is cheaper to stop people from falling into poverty than it is to lift them out of it afterwards (World Bank 2009b).

Chapter 3

POVERTY DYNAMICS AND SOCIO-ECONOMIC TRENDS: COMMUNITY PERSPECTIVES

3.1 Introduction

This chapter focuses on community trends in income, consumption and asset ownership as indicators of welfare, using mixed methods to combine analyses of the survey data and results of the FGDs and SSIs. Annex 2 details relevant characteristics of the sample households and villages and of FGD and SSI participants. Analysis began with a look at major community developments. Descriptive statistical methods were then used to study the relationship between such events and poverty indicators between 2001 and 2008, and the FGD and SSI results were assessed for the same purpose.

The analysis examined improved investment in physical and human capital and social infrastructure; micro-credit development; governance; and economic, political and social stability. Analysis focused in particular on changes between 2004/5 and 2008. The findings from the qualitative data analysis were then cross-checked with the panel data and existing poverty studies to explain the relationship between community socio-economic trends, household poverty dynamics and well-being improvement over the reference years. Evidence from the FGDs and individual case study interviews were used to triangulate community development trends to gain insights into who benefits most from these factors of community growth and development.

The findings are presented in six chapters. They demonstrate that income growth may have been a necessary but certainly not a sufficient condition for poverty reduction. While average real per capita income rose significantly for almost all the study villages, consumption did not. Some villages benefited from increased consumption and reduced poverty but poverty in other villages increased. Income growth, however, appeared to be strongly and positively related with asset ownership.

The study villages were grouped into six strongly and three poorly performing villages, based on their ability to exploit social, economic and political developments to boost their income and consumption between 2005 and 2008. Main developments in this area were: 1) agricultural growth for strongly performing villages; 2) enhanced access to CPR for subsistence and commercial purposes in the natural resource development villages; 3) food price escalations in 2007 and deflation by mid-2008 for all villages; and 4) the real estate boom between 2005 and July 2008, which benefited villages connected to urban development. These developments had direct and indirect positive impacts on household welfare in the study villages. However, some gains tended to be unsustainable, for reasons such as illegality of CPR access and landlessness caused by real estate transactions.

The sample rural households also seem to have enjoyed benefits from infrastructure development and increased availability of microcredit. However, this improvement was not enough to raise the capacity of rural households in poorly performing villages to cope with social and economic shocks, or to keep their consumption above the village poverty line. Consumption and poverty reduction also proved unstable in villages where most households depend heavily on the cultivation of wet season rice, wage labour and access to CPR. There were increasing efforts to grow more cash crops and raise livestock in addition to rice production,

but a lack of know-how and inadequate agricultural extension services undermine progress. These findings highlight the need to speed up infrastructure development, diversify agriculture and provide adequate extension services.

3.2 Village Classification: Poverty Reduction, Consumption and Income

Poverty declined in many study villages between 2004/5 and 2008, a period that saw sustainable increases in average real per capita income and consumption

In 2008, around 29 percent of the 827 panel households were still poor (Table 3.1). Although poverty declined by 1.7 percent per year between 2001 and 2008, rapid growth of real daily per capita income averaged 179 percent, or 26 percent per year; consumption grew more slowly, at 23 percent or 3 percent per year, which tends to suggest that the rate of poverty reduction, income and consumption growth is not uniform.

The substantial increases in per capita income, however, come from a very low base, from an average KHR1,233 (about USD0.31) per person per day in 2001 to KHR3,437 (USD0.81) in 2008. Similar trends are observed for increases in per capita consumption, starting from KHR1,886 (USD0.47) per person per day to KHR2,321 (USD0.58) over the 2001 to 2008 period. This study suggests that poverty reduction is to some extent linked to growth of per capita consumption.

The study villages are grouped into strongly and poorly performing village by poverty rates and sustainable changes in poverty rates

Strongly performing villages are classified as having a proportion of poor households below the national poverty rate in rural areas (34.7 percent) but with substantial achievements in poverty reduction between 2001 and 2008. Poorly performing villages have a higher proportion of poor households or experienced increased poverty between 2004/5 and 2008. Six villages—Krasang, Prek Khmeng, Kompong Tnoat, Ba Baong, Trapeang Prei and Dang Kdar—are strongly performing villages, where around 8–27 percent of households were poor but had a higher per capita consumption in 2008. Some villages in this group reduced poverty between 2001 and 2008, with Trapeang Prei showing a 66.7 percent reduction and Dang Kdar a 38.3 percent reduction. Poverty in some strongly performing villages sharply increased in the first period of the survey between 2001 and 2004/5 but declined rapidly in the second period between 2004/5 and 2008.

Experiences of the poorly performing villages differ. The poverty headcount in Khsach Chi Ros (75 percent), Andong Trach (59 percent) and Kanchor (47 percent) are above the national poverty rate in rural areas. Most poorly performing villages had a lower average per capita consumption in 2008 and experienced an increase in poverty between 2004/5 and 2008. Continuing conflict between rice growers and fishing lot owners and gambling addiction were cited as causes of domestic violence, livelihood impoverishment and increase in poverty in those villages (Annex 1).

	Poverty		Poverty reduction	(%) (%)	Mean per capita	Change	Change in mean per capita	r capita	Mean per	Change	Change in mean per capita	er capita
	headcount		•		consumption in	00	consumption (%)	. (%	capita	D	income (%)	-
	in 2008 (%)	2001–8	2001-4/5	2004/5-8	2008 (KHR)	2001–8	2001-4/5	2001–4/5 2004/5–8	income in 2008 (KHR)	2001-8	2001-4/5	2004/5-8
Stong performance	mance											
Krasang	8	-9.3	-8.1	-1.2	2434	12		13	3207	101	110	4
Prek Khmeng	8	-5.5	0.0	-5.5	3112	25	-2	28	5891	242	65	107
Kompong Thnoat	11	-0.9	25.7	-26.6	2685	4	-16	24	3164	111	42	49
Ba Baong	16	-9.1	6.0-	-8.2	2215	27	7	18	4726	198	100	49
Trapeang Prei	27	-66.7	-45.1	-21.6	2066	101	61	25	3961	417	156	102
Dang Kdar	23	-38.3	6.5	-44.9	2562	73	1	71	2764	248	92	81
Poor performance	lance											
Khsach Chi Ros	75	11.5	10.3	1.1	1496	-10	-12	2	1767	105	41	45
Andong Trach	59	-13.1	-19.7	6.6	1608	13	20	-9	2700	151	79	40
Kanchor	47	-3.8	-11.3	7.5	2114	24	12	11	2241	162	127	16
All villages	29	-12.3	-1.3	-11.0	2321	23	1	22	3437	179	84	52

Table 3.1: Poverty Reduction, Daily per Capita Income and Consumption (Adult Equivalent) by Strongly and Poorly Performing Villages. 2001–8

23

The PDS confirms findings from CDRI and other studies (Fitzgerald & So 2007; World Bank 2007a) which show that, while income growth is important, it is not the only factor needed to improve per capita consumption. Rural villages that experience high income growth, improved consumption and rapid poverty reduction often have connections with urban growth and can increase agricultural productivity and income diversity from recent market developments. Annex 1 summarises the factors that directly or indirectly affect growth and poverty reduction in each study village. However, inclusive growth is needed to address the difficult situation of the chronic and transient poor.

The chronically poor are mostly landless, with many young children who cannot help earn money. They experience frequent shocks including sickness or lack of regular occupation or income and cannot see a way out. Some of them have small amounts of farm land. After harvesting, they sell the yield to repay loans taken out to treat illnesses and buy food and therefore their income is offset against their spending and they have nothing left. One family's living standards went down because the husband died leaving the family poor and in debt. The husband could help earn money before, but when he became seriously ill they had to borrow to pay for his treatment. Some poor families sent their children to work outside the village, but the children were often cheated by their employers and the families had to borrow money to bring their children home. FGD in Andong Trach. Similar issues were reported by FGD participants in other villages

The relationship between change in per capita consumption and income growth is not uniform, and owes largely to specific local conditions and the base of initial growth. For example, Khsach Chi Ros achieved remarkable sustainable per capita income growth, rising from KHR865 to KHR1,767 per person per day (remaining the lowest per capita income among study villages), but experienced a considerable decline in daily per capita consumption of 10 percentage points in 2001–8.

Ability to increase income leads to improvements in well-being

While sustainable poverty reduction occurred in strongly performing villages, poverty in weakly performing villages increased in the second half of the survey period. This study shows that villages with low poverty rates experienced slower poverty reduction when they reached certain levels of poverty than poorly performing villages that started in extreme poverty. However, poverty reduction is only one development and growth achievement, and a positive change in consumption can be used as a proxy for change in income. Growth in income is considered a precondition for livelihood or well-being improvements in poor rural communities and, with only small changes to income, many people remain trapped in poverty (Ballard *et al.* 2007; Fitzgerald & So 2007; World Bank 2007a&b).

The study villages benefited from rapid income growth and improvements in well-being between 2005 and 2008, giving them more durable assets and improved housing conditions and allowing their children to spend more time in school. This was affirmed by well-being ranking groups in all villages.

Around 80 percent of the 466 households in this village were able to improve their well-being between 2004/5 and 2008, 18 percent saw their well-being decrease and 2 percent saw no change in their well-being. Those households showing improvements have more income from various sources including higher yields from dry season rice farming, cash crop growing, animal rearing or running small businesses. This group of households have more grown-up children. Those experiencing a decline in well-being

have experienced frequent sickness or have many small children to take care of and their incomes have not risen. However, more and more people in this village use their savings to buy TV/cassette players and batteries for lighting. Many households here are now able to renovate their houses, buy generators and better equip their boats, hand tractors or threshing machines. Wealth-ranking exercise by village leaders in Khsach Chi Ros

It is important to note that Khsach Chi Ros is among the three natural resource development villages (along with Dang Kdar and Kanchor) predicted to be worse-off in terms of poverty and well-being, since employment other than forestry access was limited in 2004/5. This situation changed dramatically between 2004/5 and 2008.

3.3 Trends in per Capita Consumption Based on Adult Equivalent Consumption

Rates of change in average per capita consumption were affected strongly by increase in prices of 106 food and non-food items in the study villages. In 2001, there was no baseline price survey of food and non-food items consumed by rural households. Because the national CIP collected only prices of commodities consumed by residents of Phnom Penh and not rural households, a price survey was conducted in the nine study villages in 2004/5 and again in 2008 as part of a follow-up survey in the PDS study areas. This information was used to construct deflators in formulating a village poverty line and to calculate real per capita consumption and income based on adult equivalents from 827 panel households. Between 2001 and 2004/5, per capita consumption rose uniformly by about 15 percent and continued to rise sharply, by 93 percent, to 2008. Rates of change of village prices varied considerably across the nine study villages between 2004/5 and 2008; the lowest rate (73 percent) was in Kompong Tnoat and the highest (116 percent) was in Kanchor (Sections 3.4 and 3.5 provide more detail).

Average per capita adult equivalent consumption rose in most study villages but was unsustainable in some villages between 2001 and 2008

At aggregate level, real daily per capita consumption rose by 23 percent between 2001 and 2008. The rise in consumption showed a similar pattern to income growth between 2004/5 and 2008, indicating an improvement in living standards in most study villages. However, this rise in consumption started from a very low base of KHR1,886 in 2001, rising to KHR2,321 per person per day in 2008 (Figure 3.1). Between 2004/5 and 2008, consumption rose 23 percent compared with virtually stagnant consumption at 1 percent between 2001 and 2004/5. This did not occur in Andong Trach, where average per capita consumption dropped by 6 percent between 2004/5 and 2008, reflecting the variations in income growth and shifts in poverty at the village level. Poorly performing villages experienced a remarkable increase in income of around 40–5 percent but a levelling-off of or slower growth in consumption, while poverty in those villages increased during the same period.

Consumption is more likely to increase more quickly in strongly performing villages than in poorly performing ones (see also Table 3.1), ranging from 13 percent in Krasang (from KHR2,160 to KHR2,434) to 71 percent in Dang Kdar (from KHR1,499 to KHR2,562). However, the positive trend in average real per capita consumption is unsustainable for many villages. Only four (Ba Baong, Trapeang Prei, Dang Kdar and Kanchor) were able to sustain average per capita consumption growth in both the first and second halves of the survey. The rest experienced unsustainable consumption trends. Moreover, despite the strong rise in daily per capita consumption in most villages between 2004/5 and 2008, only Prek Khmeng sustained a consumption surplus (average per capita consumption above the village poverty line). Mixed

but locally specific reasons given during FGDs for the change in consumption, particularly over the past four years, included the success of dry season cultivation in Ba Baong, using money from land sales in Trapeang Prei and selling labour or increasing forestry access for selling labour and harvesting timber in Dang Kdar and Khsach Chi Ros. These improvements were used for food and non-food consumption in the study villages.



Figure 3.1: Real Daily per Capita Consumption Based on Adult Equivalent and Village Poverty Line, 2001–8 (KHR/person/day)

The level of consumption in most villages remained below the village poverty line, as Figure 3.1 also shows. This is because, to keep consistency of panel data, items consumed by rural households which were not captured in the 2004/5 survey were not used in the analysis. This affected the result of average per capita consumption and was highlighted during discussion of this report.

Experiences of the nine study villages vary greatly in terms of sustaining food and nonfood consumption and depend on their starting base in 2001

Figure 3.2 shows a mixed pattern of change in the percentage of average real per capita food and non-food consumption during the first and second parts of the survey. Consumption was highly vulnerable to a wide range of household, community and national shocks, which often pushed households to reduce consumption, towards food insecurity or even into poverty, within a short period of time (CDRI 2010; Chan 2008; Fitzgerald & So 2007; World Bank 2006). Between 2001 and 2004/5, most study villages were hit by a number of shocks, including floods and drought and stringent government control over access to CPR. Shocks resulted in reduced non-food consumption in most villages, from 1 percent in Prek Khmeng to 39 percent in Khsach Chi Ros between 2001 and 2004/5. Descriptive analysis of 827 panel households also reveals that some villages reduced food consumption between 2001 and 2004/5, such as by 3 percent in Prek Khmeng and 13 percent in Kompong Tnoat. The shocks also impacted on food security and poverty, as summarised below:

Around 74 percent of panel households in 2001, 56 percent in 2004/5 and 38 percent in 2008 experienced some form of shock. Average monetary loss per affected household totalled around KHR587,200 (just over 58 percent of household income) in 2001, KHR511,000 (24 percent of household income) in 2004/5 and KHR810,000 (16 percent of household income) in 2008. Villages heavily reliant on wet season rice cultivation and access to

CPR for livelihoods suffered the most hardship. Shocks depleted the assets of the betteroff and immediately resulted in reduced consumption and increased migration and child labour among medium and poor households. Impacts of the crises are not confined to the immediate costs of health treatment or loss of income from a single harvest. A single year of crop failure can result in two or three years of hardship. Better-off households have greater capacity to recover from shocks, but the limited savings and assets of the poor means they take longer to recover owing to extended periods of unemployment and reduced consumption, often resulting in ill-health and child labour. With declining access to natural resources as a safety net, shocks often cause hardship, food insecurity and impoverishment, and prevent movement out of poverty.

Figure 3.2: Change in Real Daily per Capita Food and Non-food Consumption, Adult Equivalent, 2001–8 (% Change in KHR/person/day)



Qualitative data from the FGDs reveal that differential factors and specific local events such as more rain or changes in government control over CPR helped increase income and improve food and non-food consumption between 2004/5 and 2008. Better rainfall was mentioned by FGD participants in 2008 in Trapeang Prei, Andong Trach, Krasang, Ba Baong and Kompong Tnoat. Some of these villages, such as Krasang, Ba Baong and Khsach Chi Ros, have irrigation systems for rice cultivation, either from manmade channels or from existing water streams. In villages such as Trapeang Prei, Andong Trach, Kompong Tnoat, Dang Kdar and Kanchor, farmers rely heavily on rainfall for wet season rice growing, and from the mid-1990s have often faced irregular rainfall, which has affected their crops. In the years before the 2008 survey, farmers in those villages reported good rainfall and increased yields of wet season rice, which improved food security. Natural resource-dependent villages such as Prek Khmeng, Dang Kdar, Kanchor, Kompong Tnoat and Khsach Chi Ros gained from both better rainfall and increased access to forestry or fisheries resources owing to changes relating to the control of illegal use of forestry or fisheries in the years before the national election in July 2008.

However, people in the study villages are aware that changes of this nature are not predictable or sustainable, and more and more adults and youth decided to join the migration movement, utilising the household labour surplus and diversifying employment to improve food security and livelihoods. FGD participants also mentioned concerns about high food prices and exposure to lightning strikes and other shocks such as ill-health. Strongly performing villages tended to have more robust capacity to cope with shocks and could sustain food and non-food consumption between 2004/5 and 2008.

Average real per capita food consumption declined considerably in poorly performing villages, by 12 percent in Khsach Chi Ros (from KHR1,104 to KHR973), by 8 percent in Andong Trach (from 1,237 to 1,138 Riel) and by 4 percent in Kanchor (from 1,380 to 1,323 Riel). This resulted from high agricultural commodity prices and increasing food prices. Consequently, many net food buyers in both strongly and poorly performing villages, especially households with no farmland or land of 0.5 ha or less, could not afford to sustain their food expenditure with their income or savings in 2008. FGD participants in study villages confirmed this.

The price of rice rose along with the oil price increase, starting in mid-2006 until now. It is now double the rice price in 2005. Only a few large landholding farmers produce surplus rice and have benefited from this. Many villagers here are small landholders with just 1 ha or less. They produce insufficient rice and also suffer from high food prices. Around 40 percent of households here who are non-rice producers suffer even more from high food and non-food prices. We don't know the severity of their situation with regard to food shortages. We have observed that many households often decide to reduce food consumption and their household members become frail and often fall sick. Middlemen and rice speculators have benefited greatly from the high rice price in our village. FGD with village leaders in Khsach Chi Ros

Average daily per capita non-food consumption increased substantially in most study villages, except Andong Trach, where it declined 2 percent, suggesting overall livelihood improvements. The increase ranged from 29 percent in Kompong Tnoat (from KHR700 to KHR902), to 156 percent in Dang Kdar (from KHR436 to KHR1,116), between 2004/5 and 2008. Different reasons were cited for this rapid increase in non-food consumption. Road construction, observed in all villages, provided better access to markets and increased the flow of consumer goods, in particular helping to connect the remote, forest-dependent villages of Dang Kdar and Kanchor. Road construction also linked the fishing villages of Prek Khmeng and Khsach Chi Ros to urban markets and facilitated the flow of consumer goods to the villages in the years before the survey was completed in October 2008 (Annex 1).

Most study villages experienced consumption deficits compared with the 2008 village poverty line

Although average per capita consumption rose significantly, it was not enough to meet the poverty line in most villages. This suggests a lack of improvement in the quality of food and non-food consumption between 2001 and 2008, which has not kept pace with the increase in price of commodities consumed by rural people. These results point to a larger decline in real per capita consumption below the village poverty line for most study villages. Only Prek Khmeng had a consumption surplus of around 5 percent in 2008, but this represented a sharp drop from 66 percent in 2001 and 40 percent in 2004/5 in relation to the village poverty line in the respective year.

Figure 3.3 shows the difference in percentage between average real per capita consumption and village poverty lines in 2001, 2004/5 and 2008. In 2001 and 2004/5, the majority of strongly performing villages, such as Krasang, Prek Khmeng, Kompong Tnoat and Ba Baong, had surplus consumption. However, this was affected by high food prices in 2008. The consumption deficit (the shortfall in average per capita consumption from the village poverty line) became larger for most study villages that year, with villages experiencing a strong

increase in per capita income when food prices were high (see CDRI 2009b). As mentioned above, Prek Khmeng had a surplus of 5 percent, but this had fallen substantially. Consumption deficits tended to increase sharply in many poorly performing villages, such as Khsach Chi Ros and Andong Trach.



Figure 3.3: Gaps between Average per Capita Consumption and Village Poverty Line, 2001 and 2008 (%)

3.4 Source of Income and Poverty Reduction

Figure 3.4 presents the real per capita income from panel households' different income sources in each study village between 2001 and 2008. It suggests that strongly performing villages with relatively low poverty incidence or significant poverty reduction experienced increasing per capita income from agriculture (43 percent of total income in Krasang, rising from 32 percent in 2005 and only 15 percent in 2001; 81 percent of total income in Ba Baong in 2008, from around 70 percent in both 2004/5 and 2001); land transactions (47 percent of total income in Prek Khmeng, 56 percent in Trapeang Prei and 33 percent in Kompong Tnoat in 2008); and increased fisheries and forestry CPR access, mainly in the years preceding the national election in July 2008 (40 percent in Dang Kdar in 2008) (Annex 2). Income in villages heavily dependent on wet season rice, CPR access and wage labour tended to be more unstable. Moreover, income was more likely to fall in poorly performing villages with relatively high poverty incidence in 2008, or the number of poor households increased in these villages between 2004/5 and 2008.



Figure 3.4: Real per Capita Income from Different Sources, 2001–8 (KHR/person/day)

Successful agriculture villages have experienced big reductions in poverty or low poverty incidence

Agricultural growth is critical to poverty reduction. Krasang and Ba Baong villages experienced a sharp and sustained increase in agricultural income between 2001 and 2008. Farmers in these two villages were able to double or triple their yields of wet and dry season rice in 2004/5 and 2008 compared with 2001. Combined with increases in income from wage labour in Krasang and increased returns from fishing in Ba Baong, only 8 percent of panel households in Krasang and 16 percent in Ba Baong were classed as poor in 2008. Adoption of modern farming techniques, particularly of high-yielding rice variety IR66 and chemical fertilisers, was behind the large increases in rice yields. Many farmers increased their incomes owing to better rice prices and could produce a surplus for sale.

Other factors behind the success included the development of irrigation systems providing reliable water for farming, increasing availability of micro-credit (Annex 3) and construction of rural roads that assisted transportation of agricultural inputs and improved market connections. FGD participants noted that prices of rice and other agricultural produce almost doubled in 2008 compared with 2004/5, encouraging farmers to change from subsistence to modern methods of farming. Intensification and diversification of agricultural production by growing cash crops such as peanuts, green beans and corn and by raising livestock was observed in Ba Baong, Krasang, Khsach Chi Ros and Kompong Tnoat, helping improve incomes. Box 1 describes other stories and successes in agricultural development which have improved well-being and reduced poverty.

Box 1: Impact of Agricultural Development and Diversification on Livelihoods and Poverty Reduction

The rising price of rice encouraged farmers to change from wet season (floating) rice to dry season rice, which has a yield of 3–4 tonnes per hectare, two times higher than their average yield of traditional floating rice since 2004/5. Mr Sang Math, a Khsach Chi Ros farmer, said that growing dry season rice helped his household move out of poverty.

I am now 51 years old, with only one year of schooling, and my wife (Ms Ty Chea) is 43 and has no education. We have seven surviving children after three of our children died. We have 6 ha of dry season rice field, not all cultivated. In the past 10 years, we have cultivated only 0.5 has of floating rice for our own consumption. We were poor when we grew floating rice, and relied on fishing and collecting honey. Our living got better when our children were grown up and could help us with farming. We expanded our farm land from year to year. Last season, my family cultivated 3 ha of dry season rice, which produced 20 tonnes of paddy rice. We sold 18 tonnes for KHR16,200,000 in May 2008. This was a good profit for us, since we spent only KHR1,377,000 in total on gasoline, fertiliser, harvesting, pesticides, seeds, hiring labour and threshing. This year, after buying one hand tractor and pumping machine, we used our savings to cultivate up to 5 ha of dry season rice. We expected to harvest 5-6 tonnes of paddy rice per hectare. Unlike before, we have no problem selling our paddy because more and more traders come to buy from us at better prices. At last year's harvest, the paddy price was KHR900,000– 1,100,000 (USD225-USD275) per tonne, an increase from KHR600,000-700,000 (USD150-USD175) per tonne in 2005. We learned how to grow dry season rice from our neighbour who is from Takeo province, not from any non-governmental organisation (NGO) or government training programme.

Similar cases were mentioned in the forest-dependent villages of Dang Kdar and Khanchor. Massive conversion of flooded land has occurred since 2005, in particular before the national election in 2008. At the same time, conflicts over water between local farmers, fishing lot owners and newcomers who have built a large irrigation dam have not been settled. Most converted land has been used to grow high-yielding rice variety IR66. As a result, Khsach Chi Ros has become a dynamic dry season rice-growing and surplus-producing area. This was cited as the main source of improvements in livelihoods and well-being for many villagers. A similar scenario is also taking place in Dang Kdar, according to village leaders:

With good weather over the past two years, farmers here harvested more than 2 tonnes of rice per hectare compared with around 1 tonne per hectare in 2004/5. A new idea is also emerging in this commune. Some people are starting to grow cassava and other subsidiary crops in addition to depending on forest access and rice production. However, this idea is not yet commonly practised. Farmers still use traditional farming techniques to cultivate rice for their own consumption and are not producing more cash crops for business purposes.

Not all rice-growing villages could benefit from high food prices as Khsach Chi Ros could. In other villages, rice productivity tended to be more stable, owing to good weather in the previous three years. Increased attempts to grow cash crops and sell livestock have been undermined by a lack of know-how and reliable agricultural extension services. Many villages are unable to increase rice production or productivity owing to a lack of irrigation facilities.

The potential of agricultural development for income diversification was also reported in the forest-dependent villages of Dang Kdar and Kanchor. This potential was created through the illegal conversion of forest land by outsiders from Kompong Cham, Prey Veng and Takeo provinces to grow cassava, soybeans and maize as cash crops. The outsiders arrived in the years before the national election in July 2008 and indigenous villagers have yet to fully realise the opportunity to benefit from agricultural diversification, depending heavily on income from forestry access or from selling their labour to clear forest land. These two villages could follow Krasang and Ba Baong in boosting agricultural growth, employment and income and reducing poverty if the constraints on agriculture are removed. These cases show that, while the type of challenges to agricultural growth described in Annex 1 and Box 1 still exist in these villages, there remain high levels of poverty. Poverty rates of 75 percent among panel households in Khsach Chi Ros and 47 percent in Kanchor remain well above the national average of 34.7 percent for rural areas. Agricultural development in these villages has begun only over the past few years. Its potential for employment, livelihood improvement and poverty reduction could be maximised if access to arable land were secured through social land concessions and if conflict over access to land and water (in the case of Khsach Chi Ros) and lack of effective extension services were to be addressed for the benefit of small landholding farmers.

Large farmers with 1 ha of land or more who are often in the "better-off" group were able to increase their yields. Small farmers with less than 1 ha of land and limited savings and who are unable to afford higher costs of farm inputs had declining or similar wet and dry season rice yields. Increasing attempts to grow more cash crops and to raise livestock were also reported in each village. Some farmers had already picked up new ideas on diversification from traders and neighbours in the few years before the 2008 survey but have been less successful owing to a lack of know-how and unreliable extension services. Unsustainable rice farming techniques such as shifting from transplanting to sowing to save farm labour costs, and increasing use of chemical fertilisers and pesticides without proper knowledge, were reported in agricultural development villages.

Demand for arable land for both subsistence and commercial agricultural production is increasing in the forestry- and fisheries-dependent villages. This often leads to resource conflicts between indigenous villagers and outsiders, with many indigenous people unable to cope with increasing competition for fisheries, forestry and rice production. They still rely heavily on unreliable incomes from CPR and wage labour and remain trapped in poverty by a lack of savings and farm equipment.

Land sales were viewed as a key factor in improvements in well-being and poverty reduction in some villages

Land sales in the strongly performing villages of Trapeang Prei and Prek Khmeng contributed greatly to poverty reduction, and increased benefits from fisheries in the years before the national election in July 2008 contributed significantly to rises in income, improvements in well-being and poverty reduction in Prek Khmeng. However, the relationship between income growth and poverty reduction in these two villages tended to be unsustainable.

Trapeang Prei and Dang Kdar, the villages with the lowest average per capita income in 2001, and Prek Khmeng experienced the highest rise in per capita income, of over 100 percent in real terms between 2004/5 and 2008. A total of 51 percent of panel households in Trapeang Prei and 47 percent in Prek Khmeng decided to take advantage of rocketing land prices (Table 3.2) and the active land market in the area to sell plots of residential and agricultural land between late 2005 and the national election in July 2008, and all households with land in Trapeang Prei and Prek Khmeng were said to have engaged in land transactions.¹⁰ More and more households therefore depended on wage labour or sought employment in garment

¹⁰ In addition to the quantitative data from the panel households, a FGD with seven different groups of villagers was conducted in each village to capture certain social and economic events affecting villagers' employment and livelihoods.

factories and on construction sites in Phnom Penh and urban peripheries. Like other villages, providing children with a good education to at least the secondary level is viewed as essential to getting well-paid work in Phnom Penh.

		KHR10,000/ha		% cł	nange
	2001	2004/5	2008	2001-4/5	2004/5-8
Krasang	227	360	1058	58	194
Andong Trach	203	96	403	-56	320
Trapeang Prei	84	234	4.588	178	1862
Khsach Chi Ros	41	58	142	43	143
Dang Kdar	70	63	156	-11	149
Kompong Tnoat	328	688	3.855	110	460
Prek Khmeng	136	244	5060	79	1976
Kanchor	191	272	205	42	-25
Ba Baong	194	240	375	24	57
All villages	167	263	1479	24	462

Table 3.2: Change in Average Real Price of Land per Hectare by Village, 2001-8

In Dang Kdar village, where access to land conversion was uncontrolled, 21 percent of panel households engaged in land transactions. In terms of other PDS villages, land sales ranged from 4 percent in Kanchor to 11 percent in Ba Baong. Villagers reportedly sold land to people from urban areas, especially to those living in Phnom Penh, who had information about land speculation and infrastructure and agricultural development projects.

Figure 3.5 shows the reasons for panel households' decisions to sell agricultural land. These reasons have shifted considerably, from health care and food consumption in 2001 to alternative businesses, building or renovating houses and buying durable assets in 2008. This shift indicates some livelihood improvement among villagers in the study villages.



Figure 3.5: Reasons for Selling Land, 2001-8

Small farmers still make hardly any profit, however. Rising prices of farm inputs meant that land productivity of small landholders with less than 1 ha declined, even for dry and wet season rice farmers who had small increases in yields owing to good weather in 2008. In the absence of effective agricultural extension services, some small farmers viewed their plots as unprofitable and decided to sell them, with land speculation and high land prices the most important reasons behind this. The number of landless households, which rose strongly between 2005 and 2008, has squeezed villagers out from farming or producer groups. This rapid increase in landless households suggests ineffective implementation of the national strategic development plan to support small farmers.

FGD participants claimed that prices of farm inputs were double those of two or three years earlier. This constraint, combined with ineffective agricultural extension services, has limited small farmers' ability to intensify and diversify their agricultural production, and has led to farmers selling their small plots of land to join migration groups in the PDS villages. There is a close relationship between inability to afford farm inputs and selling land. Small farmers have scant hope of good profits even if the price of rice doubles or there are good prices for other agricultural produce. They receive virtually no benefits from their farming and have few savings for the next season, often having to take out loans, which add to the cost of production. Lacking market information, they have limited choices of what to produce, and poor bargaining power when selling their produce. These factors are behind the selling of land, and point to the need for stronger efforts to support small farmers to overcome their challenges and reap the benefits from continuing to produce.

Increasing CPR access contributed greatly to the remarkable rise of total average per capita income and helped boost agricultural development in CPR dependent villages however, these villages experienced uneven poverty reduction

Increased access to CPR in the years before the national election in July 2008 helped boost agricultural production and income from fisheries and forestry, leading to increased household incomes and improvements in well-being in the forest-dependent villages of Dang Kdar and Kanchor and the fishing villages of Prek Khmeng, Khsach Chi Ros and Kompong Tnoat. This enabled poverty reduction of around 6 percent in Prek Khmeng, 27 percent in Kompong Tnoat and 45 percent in Dang Kdar. At the same time, however, poverty increased by around 1 percent in Khsach Chi Ros and 7 percent in Andong Trach and Kanchor between 2004/5 and 2008. Improvements in livelihoods and poverty reduction may not be sustainable if savings are not used for productive investments such as agriculture and diversification of income sources. Khsach Chi Ros may be an exceptional case, owing to the high rate of gambling addiction (Annex 1).

Access to fishery and forestry resources was regulated strictly by the government between 2001 and 2005 for the purposes of sustainable natural resource management (Fitzgerald & So 2007). Control over illegal forestry and fishery activities was relaxed in the years before the national election in July 2008 (Annex 1), giving people greater freedom to cut wood and collect timber by-products from the forests and to exploit fishery resources. The informal increased access to CPR meant that illegal extraction of forestry and fishery resources became more common among CPR-dependent villages, including Dang Kdar, Kanchor, Khsach Chi Ros and Kompong Tnoat, and was cited as the main cause of livelihood improvements between 2004/5 and 2008. This account is from Kanchor village leaders:

We now have more access to the forest and can sell our labour to cut wood. An adult male can earn a minimum net income of around KHR300,000 within seven working days. The price of timber now is KHR60,000 per cubic metre, which is a good price for us, but we had to spend USD370 to buy one mechanised saw. This is better than spending USD300 to purchase 1 ha of land to earn USD1,000 from growing cassava for six to seven months. The price of a cubic metre of kakos is about USD500 and that of sralaov is USD270—also good prices for us. Many households here can also grow cassava for six months starting from May, June or July and can harvest at least KHR600,000–700,000 (USD150–USD175) per hectare. After harvesting the cassava, they can continue to grow rice or maize for another KHR500,000–700,000 (USD125–USD175) per hectare.

Loosened control of illegal forestry and fisheries helped both indigenous and newcomer households to increase their income from selling their labour, and boosted cash crop production in the forest-dependent villages. At the same time, it led to a massive legal and illegal conversion of forest and flooded forest land for cultivation by people from within and outside the four villages.

In Kanchor and Dang Kdar, production of cash crops such as cassava, soybeans and maize increased a great deal between 2006 and 2008 without reaching its full potential. Cultivation of cash crops in the area was initiated by outsiders arriving mainly from Kompong Cham and Prey Veng from 2006. These people had good information about demand for and prices of crops and they often either encroached on or purchased around 2–5 ha per household of forest from local authorities for cultivation, reaping profits of USD800–1,000 a year from growing cassava and an additional USD200–300 per ha from cultivating soybeans. Many indigenous farmers have therefore abandoned shifting cultivation for permanent cultivation of cash crops. A similar trend is occurring in Khsach Chi Ros, which has seen massive conversions of flooded forest land into farmland for dry season rice growing.

While this trend is expected to result in substantially improved wealth for both newcomers and indigenous people, large companies and rural elites are also competing with subsistence farmers to convert forest land for commercial cultivation of rubber or cassava. This has led to increased demand for higher wages, from around KHR5,000 per day in 2005 to KHR15,000 in 2008, also benefiting poor people with no means to pay for land conversion.

Increased income in the natural resource development villages is mostly from the illegal conversion of forest and flooded forest for cultivation between 2004/5 and 2008, but this increase may not be sustainable

Legal and illegal large-scale conversion of forest lands by both local people and private companies became common in the CPR-dependent villages when there was poor CPR management, resulting in positive and negative impacts on agricultural development and livelihood improvement. On the positive side, it helped boost agricultural production, and higher prices increased demand for wage labour. On the negative side, it led to the overuse of existing natural resources and conflicts between local people, outsiders and the authorities responsible for sustainable natural resource management.

Conflicts over access to land for subsistence and commercial production have often not been resolved, limiting the growth of cash crop production in the area. A severe conflict has occurred in Dang Kdar, between households in Kraya commune and a Vietnamese company that had received an economic concession from the government. Local authorities (commune council and village leaders) have been trying to resolve the problem through negotiation and plans for a social land concession for landless indigenous people, but this has been progressing slowly, and all the while the company has been putting up fences. This limits access to land for subsistence cultivation and to traditional areas for grazing animals and foraging. Uncertainty over access to land and the relaxation of control over illegal forest activities before the national election in July 2008 meant people decided to collect as many forest products as possible before stronger enforcement resumed.

Some villagers in Kanchor decided to use their savings from CPR access to invest in cash crop and livestock production, but faced high risks of losing the business and falling into poverty

In November 2008, cassava growers wondered whether they would be able to gain as much from their farming, as the price of cassava dropped to only KHR200–250 per kilogram, from KHR800 the previous year; meanwhile, the price of labour remained high. Growers also often took loans for farming, and low prices and high wage labour meant they did not harvest as they would not make any profit, according to village leaders. Cassava grown here is mainly exported to Vietnam, and falling demand and price may have been a result of the global financial crisis in November 2008.¹¹ Cash crop growers in Kanchor and Dang Kdar faced problems, as many households had already used savings from the last harvest to invest in rice farming and cash crops such as cassava, soybeans and corn, and were uncertain as to whether they could make the type of income from farming as they had one year ago. Livestock producers, however, still expected higher incomes from raising livestock.

There are more cattle in this village than in 2005. The price of a cow is lower (USD700–800) than in 2005 (USD500), but the price of a bull is higher (USD1,500–1,800; locally bred USD1,200–1,300 per head) because people need them to carry or transport timber. Around 80 percent of the households have cattle; some have 50 to 60 cattle. Mixed group in Kanchor village

Wage labour became an important source of income for some villages, but this income tended to be unstable in improving livelihoods and reducing poverty

Selling labour at village level, within Cambodia or overseas continues to be an important source of rural income and livelihoods, coping strategies and employment for adults and youths in both fast- and slow-growing communities (CDRI 2007; Chan 2009; UNDP 2009). In 2008, the contribution of income from selling labour varied from 5 percent in Ba Baong and Prek Khmeng villages to 45 percent in Kanchor village (Annex 2). It is also increasingly important as alternative employment for the growing labour force in the nine study villages. The impacts of remittances on village income are evident in a few study villages (Krasang, Trapeang Prei, Dang Kdar and Kanchor). FGD participants noted that households receiving high remittances are able to upgrade their homes or set up grocery shops, giving them better livelihoods or allowing them to release themselves from vicious cycles of loan debt. The following is a quote about migration from the village and commune chiefs in Kanchor:

Out-migration started in 2005, but the number of migrants is now getting higher and higher, mainly to Phnom Penh. Some youths work as security guards and gain a high school certificate. Only about 4 out of 10 of those students who attend senior high school can afford to complete school and receive their certificate. About 20 percent of those can afford to study at senior high school and about 80 percent of them quit schooling to join

¹¹ Although it was not possible for the PDS to collect further information in this area, it is important to conduct a study on the impacts of the global financial crisis.

³⁶ Understanding Poverty Dynamics: Evidence from Nine Villages in Cambodia

the wage labour group to earn KHR7,500 per day, but this year they can receive higher wages of about KHR12,000 per day.

The returns from selling labour became the primary income source in Kanchor, where there was a sharp increase in demand and wages in 2008 to clear forest or cut timber for traders or illegal logging companies. Selling labour has become the second- or third-most-important source of household income for many other study villages (Annex 1), but with great variation between villages depending on each village's connection to urban growth and on innovative agricultural development, which provides opportunities for local people. Another reason lies in increasing demand for agricultural exports made possible through Cambodia's regional and global economic integration. The short-lived high food prices also encouraged many farmers to change their farming techniques or agricultural activities for better profits. All these trends were supported by the rapid development of micro-credit institutions throughout Cambodia in the past few years (Annex 3). Annex 1 highlights specific events in each village, including the demand for unskilled labour from Thailand and other neighbouring countries.

Infrastructure development is often identified as the backbone of agricultural and rural development for poverty reduction and is reflected in two government strategic policy papers. As a result, rural roads that facilitate flows of goods and services to rural areas and connect villages to markets have been built in most study villages, attracting more development projects and therefore serving as an initial condition for growth in the study villages. However, there are both positive and negative impacts on growth and poverty reduction, which differed across the study villages. On the positive side, they improve access to trade and inflows of consumer goods and services such as health care and education, and they improve communication and costs and time taken for travel or to migrate in search of work. On the negative side, greater freedom of movement can bring social risks and insecurity and accelerated depletion of natural resources. Generally, however, the roads have helped people diversify income and boost their agricultural production, and there has been noticeable investment in the construction of rural roads through commune investment planning since 2005.

The study villages achieved considerable livelihood and well-being improvements between 2001 and 2008. Rural households are happy with the increasing availability of both public and private health care services, with children's school enrolment levels and attendance and with increasing market connections and flows of goods as a result of ongoing road construction. These factors may be important for changes in consumption, income and poverty reduction.

3.5 Trends in Asset Ownership: Other Well-being and Poverty-related Indicators

Changes in ownership of key selected assets, including land, houses, car batteries for lighting, radios, TVs, bicycles and motorcycles, constitute another set of well-being indicators. Ownership of these assets was ascertained from the 827 panel households in 2001, 2004/5 and 2008 (Table 3.3). These selected assets are systematically associated with income but not with poverty reduction.

The proportion of households owning these assets and the average monetary value of selected assets per household are discussed to assess improvements in well-being and standards of living. Analysis of asset indicators, along with income growth, improvement of housing conditions and increasing ownership of durable assets and lands over 2001 and 2008, showed that all study villages had experienced improvements in well-being, especially between 2004/5 and 2008.

	<u>%</u>	f land	less	Tha	tch ho	nuse	W	Voode	n	W	/oode	n	Co	oncre	ete	Bat	teries*
		HH	1000	Thu		Juse		use w			use w			brid		Dut	
								in roo			and fi			ous			
									-		roof				-		
	2001	2004/5	2008	2001	2004/5	2008	2001	2004/5	2008	2001	2004/5	2008	2001	2004/5	2008	2004/5	2008
Strong performance																	
Krasang	27	30	26	57	14	2	43	85	98		1					84	86
Prek Khmeng	29	28	57	71	60	40	12	17	19	16	23	41	1			89	93
Kompong Tnoat	8	6	8	39	18	11	43	66	41	16	14	45	3	2	3	61	43
Ba Baong	6	6	6	36	28	15	44	53	56	19	17	29	1	2		85	86
Trapeang Prei	8	8	16	67	49	14	14	25	24	20	25	63				76	82
Dang Kdar	5	3	6	6	61	46		4	7	33	35	16		1	2	66	58
Poor performance																	
Khsach Chi Ros	7	3	3	77	62	44	13	24	39	10	14	17				78	72
Andong Trach	34	34	41	49	34	10	51	66	90							92	72
Kanchor	29	20	26	43	41	21	27	25	28	29	34	51				79	77
All villages	17	15	20	55	41	24	27	40	42	17	19	33	1	1	1	78	74

Table 3.3: Panel Households without Agricultural Land, House, Battery for Lighting,2001–8 (%)

Note: * There was no record of ownership of batteries among panel households in 2001

From descriptive analysis of panel data, landlessness seems to have no relationship to income and poverty reduction in the study villages

Table 3.3 also shows the rise in landless households in some strongly and poorly performing villages. It suggests uniform relationships and trends in income, landlessness and poverty reduction in the study villages. For example, among strongly performing villages, the number of landless households in Prek Khmeng almost doubled, from 28 percent in 2004/5 to 54 percent in 2008, and it increased in Trapeang Prei from 8 percent in 2004/5 to 16 percent in 2008 because of land sales to outsiders. Poverty went down by about 6 percent in Prek Khmeng and by 22 percent in Trapeang Prei, while real per capita income more than doubled in both villages between 2004/5 and 2008. A similar trend in landless households is evident in Andong Trach, a poorly performing village with a poverty increase of around 7 percent and a decline in income of around 6 percent over the same period. Furthermore, Khsach Chi Ros, with the lowest proportion (percent) of landless households in 2004/5, experienced almost no change in real per capita income, but poverty increased by 10 percent between 2004/5 and 2008. However, the number of landless households remained unchanged in the successful agricultural villages, at about 26 percent in Krasang and 6 percent in Ba Baong.

Evidence from the FGDs, shown in Table 3.4, confirms results of other CDRI contemporary poverty related studies (MOPS 2007; PPA 2007). Landless households, especially single female-headed ones, have limited capacity to cope with income shocks and rely heavily on unreliable wage income, making them more susceptible to slipping into poverty. The following quote from a wealth-ranking FGD in Andong Trach offers insights into the characteristics of the poor or non-poor households that fell into poverty between 2004/5 and 2008:

Some households fall into chronic poverty. These are mostly landless with many little children who cannot help to earn money, have sickness in the family, have no regular occupation or income and are unable to join long-distance migration for better wage incomes. Some of them have small amounts of farm land; after harvesting, they sell

the yield to repay debts from paying for treatment for their sick family members and to buy food. Therefore, their income is offset by their spending; they have nothing left after that. Some families' living standards have gone down and they remain trapped in poverty. In many cases, households sell all their land to buy medicine and food. Most of the landless households rely heavily on their children's earnings, and some poor families have children working outside the village who were cheated by employers. Therefore, the family had to borrow money to bring their children home and then became trapped in poverty.

	on root mouseholds by		000,2001 0(70)
	2001	2004/5	2008
Non-poor MHH	16	14	19
Poor MHH	16	12	20
MHH	16	14	19
Non-poor FHH	16	20	19
Poor FHH	22	22	36
FHH	19	21	25

Note: MHH = male-headed household; FHH = female-headed household

There is little difference in size of agricultural landholdings among poor and non-poor households. Around 33 percent of poor households own 1 ha or less of agricultural land compared with 31 percent of non-poor households in 2008 (Figure 3.6). However, the proportion of households with 1 ha or less has gradually declined, while the proportion of those with larger-sized agricultural landholdings slowly increased for both poor and non-poor between 2001 and 2008. This might be an effect of the land transactions and illegal conversion of forest land that happened in the years before the 2008 national elections, especially in some CPR-dependent villages such as Khsach Chi Ros, Dang Kdar and Kanchor.



Figure 3.6: Agricultural Landholding Size by Poor and Non-poor Households, 2001–8 (%)

Quality of housing has improved in all study villages

Of the study villages, Prek Khmeng, Dang Kdar and Khsach Chi Ros had the highest proportion of thatch-made houses in 2008, between 40 and 46 percent, compared with much lower rates of 2 percent in Krasang and 21 percent in Kanchor. The poor mostly possess thatch houses, whereas the better-off have wooden houses roofed with tin sheets, tiles or fibro and the rich own concrete houses. Higher per capita income has allowed many panel households in all villages to renovate or build new houses. Between 2001 and 2008, quality of housing in each study village improved, along with the ability to increase household income. Some panel households used MFI loans and savings to renovate or build houses. This was mentioned in FGDs with village leaders in some study villages.

As of 2007, the village comprised 427 households. Housing conditions have improved in the village. Many houses have been upgraded from thatch to zinc and, from zinc to fibro. Today, only 5 percent have a thatched roof. This is largely thanks to the availability of credit from MFIs, including ACLEDA, Amret, Thanakeaphum and PRASAK. People have borrowed money to construct their houses or to avoid problems which occur annually. FGD with village leaders in Kompong Tnoat. Similar stories were recounted in Ba Baong, Trapeang Prei, Dang Kdar and Kanchor

Trends among panel households of increased ownership of TVs, bicycles and motorbikes reflect improved well-being owing to increases in average per capita income

Other indicators include higher proportions of households owning a (car) battery for lighting (see also Table 3.3) and other durable assets (Table 3.5), and a rapid rise in real value of assets (Annex 4). FGD participants also saw ownership of these items as part of livelihood improvements. More rural and national roads have increased connections to markets and trading services for rural households, and bicycle or motorbike usage has made travelling easier. A village leader interviewee noted that owning a bicycle and/or a motorbike has not only encouraged children to go to school and reduced costs of transporting fertiliser, rice seed and other farm inputs, but also has encouraged women to engage in and earn money from petty trade. Almost every household in each study village obtains information about jobs and farming innovations from their radio and TV. However, the negative effects of ownership of these items include the impact of violent stories on youth behaviour and gang violence. Female FGD participants wanted to see more educational programmes and news about market information and farm innovations to help them improve their farming practices.

We have concerns related to security because one of us experienced the theft of a motorbike a few years ago; we do not know who took it. Nowadays, there are young men in our village who are thieves, probably the Bang Thom group who often do not go to school but just steal chickens. The situation is the same as in 2005. Violence among young men happens very often, often at ceremonies and dancing, probably because of their parents or the influence of television. Those responsible are often arrested by the police and taken to the prison at Prey Veng town to teach them how to respect the community and some of them are afraid of the police now. FGD with moved up or better-off households in Ba Baong

		Radio			TV			Bicycle		N	Aotorcyc	le
	2001	2004/5	2008	2001	2004/5	2008	2001	2004/5	2008	2001	2004/5	2008
Strong perform	nance			•						•		
Krasang	13	33	33	28	48	65	80	88	84	10	23	34
Prek Khmeng	13	31	25	48	73	78	26	30	51	8	16	41
Kompong Tnoat	24	52	50	6	11	23	41	70	72	18	26	28
Ba Baong	16	25	27	45	71	75	50	66	86	10	18	31
Trapeang Prei	10	16	16	35	49	80	31	65	78	24	35	82
Dang Kdar	26	31	28	9	25	40	54	79	88	13	18	40
Poor performance												
Khsach Chi Ros	20	17	13	10	28	47	31	38	74	2	5	23
Andong Trach	11	16	28	16	39	57	56	84	82	10	13	33
Kanchor	37	41	46	22	56	59	38	69	73	8	22	39
All villages	20	31	31	25	45	57	45	64	76	11	19	37

Table 3.5: Panel Households with Durable Assets by Village, 2001–8 (%)

3.6 Summary

Overall, poverty in the nine study villages went down by around 12 percent from 2001 to 2008, declining by around 11 percent between 2004/5 and 2008 compared with only about 1 percent between 2001 and 2004/5. Experiences of poverty reduction in the study villages differed, but daily per capita incomes in most villages increased substantially. Poverty increased in three villages where wet season rice farming, CPR access and wage labour are the mainstays of village livelihoods, and dropped or levelled off in other villages where economic activities became more dynamic and diverse between 2005 and 2008.

Impressive growth was noticeable in per capita incomes and improvements in other well-being indicators such as housing conditions and ownership of durable assets in all study villages between 2004/5 and 2008. Key events have promoted livelihood improvement, income growth and poverty reduction at village level. These include the construction of rural roads and irrigation systems, high food prices in 2008, the hike in land prices and increased land transactions between 2005 and July 2008 and increased availability of micro-credit since 2005.

Study villages are grouped into strongly and poorly performing villages according to their experiences of poverty reduction, allowing for analysis of poverty dynamics. Strongly performing villages saw relatively lower poverty rates than the national rural rate in 2007 or have seen substantially reduced poverty since 2004/5. In poorly performing villages, either poverty was either well above the national rate or there were increases in the number of poor households between 2004/5 and 2008 despite increases in average per capita income.

The multi-dimensional nature of poverty means the link between poverty dynamics and increased income and consumption is not clear. Increasing income is not strongly associated with poverty reduction or improvement of daily per capita consumption. However, poverty reduction in the strongly performing villages reflects the ability of households to sustain income growth through agricultural development and diversification, land sales and increasing CPR access. Unfortunately, income from selling land and CPR access is unreliable and may not be good for long-term poverty reduction, especially if the income has not been used for productive purposes.

The success of agricultural development and diversification has owed to irrigation and road infrastructure development and short-lived high food prices, but success is quite uneven. Farmers in all study villages have tried to diversify from only rice production to earn a better income, but constraints include lack of know-how, agricultural extension services and marketing information for production and diversification. Villages depending on wet season rice and wage labour are more vulnerable to household, community and national economic shocks and are therefore more likely to become poorly performing villages. Like other strongly performing villages, their well-being improved with better housing conditions, increased ownership and value of assets and increased migration through connections to urban development.

Chapter 4

TRANSIENT AND CHRONIC POVERTY IN NINE VILLAGES OF CAMBODIA: PANEL DATA EVIDENCE—CONSUMPTION APPROACH

4.1 Introduction

Poverty analysis in Cambodia is based primarily on cross-sectional household survey data that provide estimates of the aggregate and static poverty rates.¹² Poverty reduction strategies and policies drawn from these studies are likely to address poverty in the long rather than the short term. Estimates of poverty over time provide a richer picture of poverty. As discussed widely in the literature (e.g. Haddad & Ahmed 2003; Jalan & Ravallion 2000; Kedir & McKay 2003), poverty over the long term is called "chronic poverty" and poverty resulting from income shocks that is likely to be temporary is called "transient poverty". This type of poverty reflects the vulnerability of the non-poor to suddenly falling into poverty.

Between 2007 and 2010, it is possible that the poverty rate in Cambodia increased by 1–4 percent (World Bank 2009c; 2010a). Tong *et al.* (2009) found poverty increased between 2008 and 2009, partly because of a World Bank-predicted economic contraction of 2 percent in 2009 (World Bank 2010b). The global economic crisis posed a great challenge to achieving the 2015 MDGs, particularly the goal of eradicating extreme poverty and hunger. In 2007, the poverty rate was 30.1 percent and, taking into account rates of poverty decline of 1 percent per year and the increase in poverty owing to the economic crisis, the achievement of this MDG is in doubt. Moreover, current poverty reduction policies are failing to protect vulnerable households from falling into poverty.

Recent studies of poverty dynamics in other developing countries (Baulch & Hoddinott 2000; Haddad & Ahmed 2003; Jalan & Ravallion 2000; Kedir & McKay 2003) find that the key determinants of chronic and transient poverty differ slightly. Health and education services, asset redistribution and infrastructure development are likely to reduce chronic poverty, and unemployment and health insurance, income stabilisation programmes, micro-credit and temporary social safety nets are important for reductions in transient poverty.

In the past decade, increasing numbers of poverty studies have been conducted in Cambodia. The Cambodia Poverty Profile, which uses nationally representative cross-sectional CSES data from 1993–4, 1997, 1999, 2003–4 and 2007, shows the poverty headcount fell from 45–50 percent to 30 percent between 1993/4 and 2007. It fails to show the dynamics of poverty—why some households move out of, fall back into or remain in poverty— as a rigorous quantitative data-based analysis of poverty dynamics in Cambodia has never been done, mainly because of a lack of panel data.

The main objective of this study is to explore key determinants of chronic and transient poverty by geographical area to assist policy-makers with evidenced-based and effective poverty reduction strategies in appropriate areas.

¹² It is worth noting that CSES 2007 or CSES 2008 sampled villages are a subset of CSES 2004's sample. Therefore, the survey is a panel of villages.

4.2 Data and Sample Characteristics

The empirical work in this chapter is based on the results of surveys conducted in nine villages in 2001, 2004/5 and 2008 by CDRI. Information collected includes household demographics, housing conditions, land ownership and transactions, credit markets, food and non-food consumption, non-land assets, livestock ownership, household income, agricultural production, production expenditure and wages and self-employment.

Income data are based on participants' recall of six months before the survey. Most nonfood consumption was also based on six months' recall, with a few items based on one week's recall. Food consumption data are based on recall of the amount consumed (both purchased and domestically produced and distributed, including an imputed value) for one week. Consumption per capita was calculated by total expenditure on or the value of each consumption item, divided by household adult equivalent members. Similarly, income per capita was calculated by dividing the sum of income from all sources by household adult equivalents. All nominal values were converted to constant 2001 prices using village price indexes constructed by Albert (2009c).¹³

The most common measurements of household economic welfare are based on the monetary value of consumption and income indicators. However, income always tends to be understated (Haughton & Khandker 2009), rising and falling over a lifetime and subject to seasonal fluctuations, whereas consumption remains relatively stable, indicating the greater utility of consumption as an indicator of lifetime welfare. This chapter uses consumption as the main indicator, with poverty lines constructed using methods from Albert (2009c).

Poor households in rural Cambodia are characterised by large sizes, by numbers of children and by male household heads who are engaged in agriculture and are illiterate or who have only a few years of schooling (MoP 1999). The purpose of this study is to examine whether these factors are equally important in explaining chronic and transient poverty. To answer this, we include household-specific human and physical assets and community effects as explanatory variables; the latter is defined by a set of dummies. The household variables included in the regression analysis are dependent household members (under 15 or over 64 years), a range of household head characteristics and household composition. In addition to human capital, access to land and physical capital are likely to be important factors in escaping poverty. We include land ownership, livestock and non-land assets.

4.3 Descriptive Statistics: Changes in Welfare, 2001, 2004/5 and 2008

This section looks at trends in average welfare of the 827 households in the panel between 2001 and 2008, measured by real total consumption per capita per day. We prefer to use consumption for reasons mentioned above and because we found income was reported to be nearly half the size of consumption in 2001, possibly because questions on in-kind income were not incorporated at the time of the survey.

During the period 2001–8, consumption per capita fluctuated greatly in Kompong Tnoat. Per capita consumption in Khsach Chi Ros declined, even though the national economy registered double-digit growth and the poverty rate declined by 1 percentage point per year. On average, however, the results suggest that household welfare improved in rural areas between 2001 and 2008 (Table 4.1).

¹³ Albert (2009c) adopts the Laspeyres approach to construct village price index.

	2001	2004/5	2008
Tonle Sap	1787	1785	1870
Krasang	2178	2160	2434
Andong Trach	1427	1719	1608
Khsach Chi Ros	1653	1461	1496
Mekong plains	2123	2154	2664
Prek Khmeng	2495	2438	3112
Ba Baong	1751	1870	2215
Plateau	1487	1693	2287
Kanchor	1710	1907	2114
Dang Kdar	1485	1499	2562
Trapeang Prei	1026	1657	2066
Coastal	2584	2167	2685
Kompong Tnoat	2584	2167	2685
Total	1886	1904	2321

Table 4.1: Mean Real Total Expenditure per Adult per Day, 2001–8 (KHR at 2001 prices)

Given information on real total consumption per capita and the village poverty line, we estimate incidence of poverty by village, region and year (Table 4.2). As can be anticipated from Table 4.1, the rural poverty rate declined over this period, particularly between 2004 and 2008 and in the coastal, Mekong plain and plateau regions. Over the period 2001–8, the poverty rate in the plateau region dropped by 30 percent, while the total sample declined by 12 percent. This is largely because of the decrease of poverty in Trapeang Prei and Dang Kdar. In addition, poverty in Kompong Tnoat and Andong Trach fluctuated greatly, suggesting that further investigation of the four villages is needed.

	2001	2004/5	2008
Tonle Sap	48.7	44.4	46.2
Krasang	17.4	9.3	8.1
Andong Trach	72.1	52.5	59.0
Khsach Chi Ros	63.2	73.6	74.7
Mekong plains	19.5	19.1	12.3
Prek Khmeng	13.6	13.6	8.2
Ba Baong	25.5	24.5	16.4
Plateau	63.6	53.0	33.7
Kanchor	50.9	39.6	47.2
Dang Kdar	61.7	68.2	23.4
Trapeang Prei	94.1	49.0	27.5
Coastal	11.9	37.6	11.0
Kompong Tnoat	11.9	37.6	11.0
Total	40.9	39.5	28.5

Table 4.2: Poverty Incidence by Village and Region, 2001–8 (%)

Table 4.3 shows the proportion of chronically and transient poor and never poor households by village and region. The chronically poor are defined as households that have consumption per capita below the poverty line for all three separate years, the transient poor as households whose consumption per capita falls below the poverty line in one of the years and the never poor as households with consumption per capita above the poverty line in all years. The largest numbers of households (around 75 percent) were transient poor, followed by never poor and chronically poor. This suggests that tackling rural poverty requires a clear understanding of the nature of transient poverty. Both poverty rates are very high in the Tonle Sap and plateau regions.

	Chronically poor	Transient poor	Never poor
Tonle Sap	23.9	42.7	33.3
Krasang	1.2	23.3	75.6
Andong Trach	27.9	62.3	9.8
Khsach Chi Ros	43.7	48.3	8.1
Mekong plains	3.2	30.0	66.8
Prek Khmeng	1.8	23.6	74.6
Ba Baong	4.6	36.4	59.1
Plateau	21.2	59.1	19.7
Kanchor	24.5	45.3	30.2
Dang Kdar	19.6	63.6	16.8
Trapeang Prei	17.7	78.4	3.9
Coastal	3.7	42.2	54.1
Kompong Tnoat	3.7	42.2	54.1
Total	14.9	44.5	40.6

Table 4.3: Households Poverty Status by Village and Region (%)

Table 4.4 shows that chronically poor households often have larger sizes, higher dependency rates, fewer males aged 15–64 and more females aged 15–64 than transient poor households. Never poor households are likely to be smaller, with fewer adults aged over 64, more males aged 15–64 and fewer females aged 15–64, but with more children than the transient poor. In addition, chronically poor households are likely to have the least agricultural land, non-land assets and livestock, while never poor households have more of these assets than the transient poor. Larger household size, a higher dependency rate, less land and other assets and fewer male workers appear to be key factors of chronic poverty.

Variations in household head characteristics also play a critical role in determining poverty, with more chronically poor households headed by females. Age of household head is not strongly associated with poverty status. The strongest association between poverty status and household characteristics is education, with heads of chronically poor households more likely to have no schooling or not to have completed secondary school than heads of never poor households. Employment status of household heads is important. Although more than half of the household heads in each poverty group are self-employed, chronically poor households have a high proportion of daily wage labourers while never poor households are more likely to have migrant workers as household heads than the chronically poor, but the proportion is highest among the transient poor.

	Chronically poor	Transient poor	Never poor	Total
Household members	6.2	5.9	5.7	5.9
Children 0–6	1.3	1.0	1.0	1.0
Children 7–14	1.5	1.4	1.5	1.4
Adults over 64	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.2
Male adults 15–64	1.4	1.5	1.5	1.5
Female adults 15–64	1.8	1.7	1.5	1.7
HHH is male	0.7	0.8	0.9	0.8
HHH age	43.9	44.2	42.4	43.4
HHH education (years)	2.3	2.9	4.0	3.3
HHH married	0.8	0.8	0.9	0.8
Agricultural landholding per capita (KHR [•] 0,000s)	0.2	02	0.3	0.2
Non-land assets per capita (KHR [•] 0,000s)	3.7	7.3	22.1	12.8
Livestock per capita (KHR [•] 0,000s)	16.3	17.8	16.9	17.2
Employment status of HHH (%)				
Wage worker within village	11.4	5.7	4.2	5.9
Self-employed	56.9	54.1	54.2	54.5
Wage worker outside village	12.2	16.6	14.0	14.9
Other	19.5	23.6	27.7	24.7
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

Table 4.4: Household Demographics and Poverty Status

Note: HHH = household head.

4.4 Econometric Results: Determinants of Chronic and Transient Poverty

To look at the characteristics of transient poor households, we use multivariate analysis to investigate the factors affecting the likelihood of a household being in either of the poverty groups. Following Kedir & McKay (2003), we use a multinomial logit model. The explanatory variables include human capital, land and physical assets and geography. The human capital variables include dependency, age (including number of male and female adults aged 15–64 years), education, gender, main economic activity and marital status of household head. As noted by Jalan & Ravallion (1998), access to agricultural land and physical assets are likely to be important in escaping poverty, and we include agricultural land, household durable assets and livestock. The geographical dummies are also included to account for the four broad agroclimatic regions.

The dependent variable takes values of 1, 2 or 3 for chronically poor, transient poor and never poor households, respectively. The marginal effects and their statistical significance for the three poverty measures are reported in Table 4.5.

Regression results suggest that more dependent household members increases the probability of households being chronically poor and decreases the probability of households never being poor. An increased number of males aged 15–64 is negatively associated with the

likelihood that households are chronically poor. An increased number of females of the same age has a positive impact on the probability of households being poor and a negative impact on the probability of never being poor.

The characteristics of household heads are also important determinants of poverty status. A higher educational level of the household head reduces the likelihood that households are chronically poor and raises the likelihood that households are never poor. Male household heads are more likely to be in transient poor households. Married household heads are less likely to be in transient poor households and more likely to be never poor. Non-land assets decrease the probability of being chronically poor and increase the probability of never being poor. Households in the Tonle Sap and plateau regions have a higher probability of being chronically poor than in the coastal and Mekong plain regions. Households in the plateau region have a higher probability of being transient poor than chronically or never poor.

		Marginal effect	
	Chronically poor	Transient poor	Never poor
Dependency	0.027***	-0.005	-0.022**
Male adults 15-64	-0.036'**	0.017	0.019
Female adults 15-64	0.033**	0.036*	-0.070***
HHH age	-0.002	-0.009	0.010
HHH age squared	0.000	0.000	0.000
HHH education	-0.011**	-0.010	0.021***
HHH male	-0.035	0.127*	-0.093
HHH married	0.004	-0.156**	0.1521***
HHH wage worker within village	0.060	-0.030	-0.029
HHH self-employed worker	-0.001	-0.007	0.008
HHH wage worker outside village	-0.026	0.001	0.025
Agricultural land (log)	0.001	-0.003	0.003
Non-land assets (log)	-0.011***	-0.009	0.020***
Livestock (log)	0.005	0.001	-0.006
Tonle Sap	0.258***	-0.043	-0.2166***
Mekong plains	0.050	-0.065	0.014
Plateau	0.244***	0.129*	-0.373***
Number of observations		827	
LR chi2		261.62	
Prob>chi2		0.0000	
Log-likelihood		-704.193	
Pseudo R-squared		0.1567	

Table 4.5: Multinomial Logit Estimation on Determinants of Chronic and Transitory Poverty

Note: * statistically significant at 10% ** significant at 5% *** significant at 1%

It was expected from descriptive statistics results that household head employment as a village wage worker would be strongly associated with chronic poverty, but the econometric results show this is not the case. Daily wage activities within the village are mostly insecure and bring lower returns, so there is a need to investigate further. In addition, agricultural land and livestock are unlikely to be key determinants of chronic and transient poverty. However, Cambodia has an agrarian economy and a large majority of rural households depend on agriculture. Furthermore, the descriptive analysis shows that households with less agricultural land are more likely to be chronically poor. This is another issue to be investigated.

4.5 Summary

Our empirical results suggest determinants of chronic poverty differ from those of transient poverty. For example, number of dependent household members, males aged 15–64, education of the household head and ownership of non-land assets are important factors in chronic poverty but are not significant in transient poverty. The number of females aged 15–64 increases both chronic and transient poverty. A male household head is associated with higher transient poverty but appears to be irrelevant to chronic poverty, whereas a married household head reduces the likelihood of transient poverty but is not important for chronic poverty. It is likely that the Tonle Sap and plateau regions have higher chronic poverty, showing the need for different policies to address the two types of poverty and for each agro-climatic region.

It is widely noted that a household will suffer from shocks, unexpected and short-lived, if credit or other forms of formal or informal insurance fail to function. It is also possible that shocks can cause a previously non-poor household to become poor indefinitely or a moderately poor household to fall into long-term poverty. Policies such as unemployment insurance and benefits, consumption credit, social safety nets (transfers, work for food programmes), health services and income stabilisation schemes are therefore important and would provide long-term benefits.

Our results not only reflect the decreasing poverty headcount over time but also highlight that, with a poverty rate of 30.1 percent in 2007, considerable numbers of people are unable to escape from poverty. We find that increasing human and physical assets are important to deal with chronic poverty, a finding consistent with Jalan & Ravallion (1998). Nonetheless, further in-depth analysis is needed to better understand the factors associated with chronic poverty. Qualitative methods such as "the stages of progress" (Krishna 2009) would complement and enrich this understanding, which cannot be obtained from quantitative analysis alone.

Chapter 5

TRANSIENT AND CHRONIC POVERTY IN NINE VILLAGES OF CAMBODIA: PANEL DATA EVIDENCE—ASSET APPROACH

5.1 Introduction

We have seen that poverty has increasingly been defined by both monetary and nonmonetary measures. Development economists often use income and consumption (monetary indicators) to measure well-being, but monetary data have accuracy limitations, and nonmonetary indicators such as durable assets, access to utilities and housing characteristics have been used to complement monetary measures of welfare. These non-monetary data are a better source of information about long-term living standards than income and consumption because they have been accumulated over time and often have less likelihood of measurement errors. However, it is important to note that non-monetary data may fail to describe short-term shocks to households. In more recent years, a number of studies (Booysen *et al.* 2008; Filmer & Pritchett 1998; Kolenikov & Angeles 2004; McKenzie 2004; Sahn & Stifel 2003) have attempted to develop a new methodology to aggregate various household assets into a single variable and use that as an index to predict poverty.

Chapter 4 used three separate years of longitudinal panel data on 827 households to measure transient and chronic poverty based on consumption as a welfare indicator, identifying the key determinants of chronic and transient poverty. Owing to problems with the household data from surveys on food and non-food consumption, Albert (2009b) suggests adopting the asset-based approach proposed by Filmer & Pritchett (1998). The main objective of this chapter is to re-examine the empirical findings presented in Chapter 4 using this approach.

5.2 Data and Methods

Empirical work in this chapter is also based on the results of surveys conducted in nine villages in 2001, 2004/5 and 2008 by CDRI. The information collected includes household demographics, housing conditions, land ownership and transactions, credit markets, food and non-food consumption, non-land assets, livestock ownership, household income, agricultural production, production expenditure and wages and self-employment.

Although survey data are available for three different years, determining the change has proven problematic. Inconsistencies have been introduced over time, and these are hard to remedy at this stage. The meaning of some questions has changed, whereas others have been combined or split to meet the purpose of the study for each round. Interviewer training and allocation could also impact on the measurement of household income and expenditure. In addition, the comparison of monetary indicators is only as valid as the deflator used. In this regard, CDRI has also collected the price of 106 food and non-food items to construct a village CPI since 2004/5. However, lack of data on commodity prices in 2001 requires assumptions regarding village inflation rates between 2001 and 2004/5. The MOPS (Fitzgerald & So 2007) simply assumes the inflation rate across all villages between 2001 and 2004/5 was around 18 percent—which is unlikely to be true, given that the nine selected villages are located in different regions. Chapter 4 also assumed that the inflation rate was approximately 17 percent. Importantly, the quality of commodity price data is also poor. Therefore, real income and consumption data derived from the estimated village CPI have serious drawbacks.

When using lists to ask people about their assets (such as bicycles, TVs and sources of drinking water), they often provide more accurate information than for income and expenditure. Despite this, the use of a single proxy can lead to unreliable or unstable measures of socio-economic welfare. Constructing an asset/wealth index can incorporate a number of such proxies into a single variable. The most popular method is to assign weights to observed variables and sum them. Pearson (1901) and Hotelling (1933) developed PCA in the early 20th century for the similar purpose of aggregating information (in Kolenikov & Angeles 2004). In economics, this method has been applied to studies of co-integration and spatial convergence, forecasting, simultaneous equations, education and poverty.

One of the most influential poverty analysis studies using PCA to construct a wealth index was Filmer & Pritchett (1998), which suggests aggregating several binary asset ownership variables into a single dimension. As noted by Kolenikov & Angeles (2004), PCA is suitable only for continuous data because it was developed for samples from multivariate normal distribution, and most of the theoretical results were derived under the normality assumption. However, an alternative approach to the analysis of discrete data, polychoric PCA, was well developed by Pearson & Pearson (1922) and Olsson (1979). Polychoric PCA uses maximum likelihood, similar to an ordered probit regression, to estimate the correlation between the unobserved normally distributed continuous variables from their discrete version, and has a number of advantages over PCA. Polychoric PCA coefficients are more accurately estimated than with PCA. Importantly, its assumptions take the ordering of the categories into account. For example, the quality of construction of a home or the different educational levels of household heads might be recorded on a 1-4 or 1-5 scale. Binary data, such as a variable that can take one of two values, such as gender, ownership of a car or a decision to participate in a programme, can be viewed as a special case of ordinal data. Kolenikov & Angeles (2004) demonstrate that Filmer & Prichett's simple procedure of splitting ordinal data into binary variables introduces a large amount of distortion into the correlation matrix, because the variables are automatically perfectly negatively correlated with each other. In addition, the ordinal information is lost because PCA treats every variable as the same. Polychoric PCA solves these problems by assigning each value of a discrete variable and ensuring the coefficients of an ordinal variable follow the order of its values.

Given this, Albert (2009a) still recommends applying PCA to construct a wealth index. He describes the calculation of a wealth index using PCA for the PDS data as a two-stage process. Firstly, PCA is run on the asset data of a national survey (but only for rural households, since PDS areas are rural). Second, the resulting factor scores of the first principal component are used to generate the weight for the component wealth index on the PDS data. Because the purpose of the study is to look into the dynamics of living standards, it is crucial to have an absolute poverty line to generate a wealth index from PDS data. Albert suggests using the poverty rate estimated by consumption data with the national survey (CSES 2003/4) as the benchmark for the poverty line. As Table 5.1 shows, in 2004 poverty in rural areas relative to the total poverty rate estimated by the consumption approach, two cut-off lines can be used: 1) the 39th percentile of the asset index; and 2) the 22nd percentile of the asset index. As a result, we can define households as:

1. Poor if the value of wealth index is less than the 39th percentile of the asset index distribution of persons residing in rural areas;

2. Very poor if the value of wealth index is less than the 22nd percentile of the asset index distribution of persons residing in rural areas.

	2004	2004*	2007
Food poverty line			
Phnom Penh	2.55	2.55	0.11
Other urban	14.15	14.78	12.73
Rural	22.23	22.12	20.78
Cambodia	19.68	19.71	17.98
Total poverty line			
Phnom Penh	4.60	4.60	0.83
Other urban	24.73	25.78	21.85
Rural	39.18	39.05	34.70
Cambodia	34.68	34.78	30.14

Table 5.1: Poverty Headcount Index by Region, 2004 and 2007 (%)

Note: * limited to villages in the 2007 CSES sampling frame Source: World Bank (2009a)

Albert (2009a) creates a composite asset index from a selection of variables that are commonly available across the three PDS surveys and CSES 2004. These indicators can be divided into characteristics of housing structure (type of house), household access to utilities and ownership of durable assets.

The proportion of households holding asset indicators in the PDS 2004/5 was slightly different from CSES 2004 (Table 5.2). For example, more households owned boats, water pumps and wooden houses and had access to drinking water from a pond/river in PDS 2004/5 than in CSES 2004, while the number of households with threshing machines or toilets in PDS 2004/5 was far less than in CSES 2004. The differences may owe partially to sampling design and/or size, so a simple comparison could be misleading. If we take all factors into account, to some extent the quality of asset indicators in PDS 2004/5 could be similar to CSES 2004, which is made up of nationally representative household data. Even though PDS empirical results are not nationally representative, they provide an interesting case study on poverty dynamics and the robustness of the analysis is high.

The first column of Table 5.3 provides the scoring factors of the first principal component. The scoring factors are positive for all durable assets except for owning a boat, while poor quality housing materials such as bamboo or thatch receive negative coefficients, as does poor access to drinking water. In other words, the weights for each index component that reflect higher standards of living contribute positively to the asset index, and components that reflect lower standards of living contribute negatively.

The last three columns of Table 5.3 present means for each indicator in three wealth quintiles. As in Filmer & Prichett (2001) and McKenzie (2004), asset ownership differs remarkably. For example, only 24 percent of the poorest quintile of households own a radio compared with 47 percent of the richest quintile; 4 percent of the poorest households have a wooden house compared with 82 percent of the richest households. These results show that, to some extent, the asset index is a good proxy for well-being in CSES 2004.

Variable	CSES 2004		PDS 2001		PDS 2004/5		PDS 2008	
	Mean	Std. dev.	Mean	Std. dev.	Mean	Std. dev.	Mean	Std. dev.
Radio	0.354	0.478	0.200	0.400	0.310	0.463	0.310	0.463
TV	0.407	0.491	0.245	0.431	0.447	0.498	0.571	0.495
Bicycle	0.665	0.472	0.451	0.498	0.643	0.479	0.758	0.428
Motorbike	0.225	0.418	0.111	0.315	0.191	0.393	0.368	0.482
Animal cart	0.296	0.456	0.264	0.441	0.260	0.439	0.245	0.431
Sewing machine	0.040	0.197	0.054	0.227	0.077	0.267	0.075	0.264
Generator	0.021	0.144	0.012	0.109	0.027	0.161	0.050	0.217
Boat	0.101	0.302	0.415	0.493	0.485	0.500	0.438	0.496
Plough/harrow	0.464	0.499	0.426	0.495	0.395	0.489	0.302	0.460
Water pump	0.017	0.128	0.127	0.333	0.152	0.360	0.227	0.419
Thresher	0.874	0.332	0.005	0.069	0.010	0.098	0.021	0.142
Rice mill	0.023	0.151	0.025	0.157	0.036	0.187	0.056	0.229
Drinking water from hand pump	0.292	0.455	0.209	0.407	0.172	0.377	0.167	0.373
Drinking water from dug well	0.328	0.470	0.204	0.403	0.166	0.372	0.169	0.375
Drinking water from pond/ river	0.255	0.436	0.578	0.494	0.628	0.484	0.595	0.491
Toilet	0.643	0.479	0.105	0.307	0.100	0.301	0.163	0.370
Wooden house	0.388	0.487	0.440	0.497	0.586	0.493	0.757	0.429
Bamboo/thatch house	0.397	0.489	0.399	0.490	0.334	0.472	0.254	0.430
Ag. land >0 and <1,000 m ²	0.397	0.489	0.399	0.490	0.334	0.472	0.254	0.436
Ag. land >1,000 and <3,000 m ²	0.258	0.438	0.239	0.427	0.316	0.465	0.270	0.444
Ag. land >3,000 and <5,000 m ²	0.034	0.182	0.045	0.207	0.048	0.215	0.097	0.290
Ag. land >5,000 m ²	0.023	0.150	0.031	0.175	0.027	0.161	0.051	0.220

Table 5.2: Descriptive Statistics in CSES 2004 and PDS 2001-8

Note: CSES 2004 only rural observations are included

Source: CSES 2004 and CDRI survey data 2001-8

Asset index and poverty rates across PDS villages can be estimated from the scoring factor of the first principal component and the cut-off (wealth index poverty line) derived from CSES 2004. The result is that the poverty rate across all villages and regions dropped significantly during the period 2001–8 (Table 5.4). The 2008 poverty rate was 33.7 percent—29.4 percent lower than in 2001, indicating that the poverty rate reduced by 3.7 percent per year over the study period. Among the four different regions, Tonle Sap registered the highest poverty headcount in 2001. Eight years later, poverty in that region had declined to the second-lowest figure, below the average. This result completely contradicts that of the
consumption approach, which finds the Tonle Sap region still suffering from a high poverty rate. The poverty rate based on assets is highest in the coastal region, which is the lowest of the four regions if a consumption approach is used. Despite this, both asset and consumption approaches reveal that the poverty rate in the selected villages declined remarkably between 2001 and 2008.

Variable	Scoring factor	CSES 2004	Lowest	Middle
Radio	0.1511	0.354	0.239	0.370
TV	0.3518	0.407	0.121	0.410
Bicycle	0.2641	0.665	0.446	0.713
Motorbike	0.3036	0.225	0.050	0.180
Animal cart	0.3036	0.296	0.076	0.286
Sewing machine	0.1616	0.040	0.004	0.023
Generator	0.0833	0.021	0.006	0.016
Boat	-0.0195	0.101	0.107	0.098
Plough/harrow	0.2895	0.464	0.215	0.496
Water pump	0.0115	0.017	0.015	0.017
Thresher	0.092	0.874	0.819	0.883
Rice mill	0.1663	0.023	0.000	0.009
Drinking water from hand pump	0.0147	0.292	0.278	0.309
Drinking water from dug well	0.0078	0.328	0.333	0.315
Drinking water from pond/ river	-0.0538	0.255	0.294	0.243
Toilet	0.1232	0.643	0.542	0.670
Wooden house	0.4394	0.388	0.038	0.359
Bamboo/thatch house	-0.3969	0.397	0.745	0.335
Ag. land >0 and <1,000 m ²	-0.1512	0.397	0.509	0.396
Ag. land >1,000 and <3,000 m ²	0.1819	0.258	0.119	0.278
Ag. land >3,000 and <5,000 m ²	0.1071	0.034	0.006	0.031
Ag. land >5,000 m ²	0.0972	0.023	0.006	0.015
Asset index		-0.1711	-1.769	-0.150

Table 5.3: Principal Components and Summary Statistics for Asset Indicators, CSES 2004

Note: Only rural observations are included Source: CSES 2004

	Asset appro	ach		Consumption approach		
	2001	2004	2008	2001	2004	2008
Tonle Sap	66.1	39.4	29.8	48.7	44.4	46.2
Krasang	57.6	17.9	19.6	17.4	9.3	8.1
Andong Trach	62.1	36.3	20.6	72.1	52.5	59.0
Khsach Chi Ros	76.9	63.2	45.5	63.2	73.6	74.7
Mekong plains	62.5	52.1	38.7	19.5	19.1	12.3
Prek Khmeng	81.3	70.9	53.8	13.6	13.6	8.2
Ba Baong	41.0	29.7	20.1	25.5	24.5	16.4
Plateau	60.3	44.8	28.2	63.6	53.0	33.7
Kanchor	58.6	38.6	24.1	50.9	39.6	47.2
Dang Kdar	65.0	54.0	40.1	61.7	68.2	23.4
Trapeang Prei	54.9	40.5	12.8	94.1	49.0	27.5
Coastal	63.2	46.1	44.9	11.9	37.6	11.0
Kompong Tnoat	63.2	46.1	44.9	11.9	37.6	11.0
Total	63.0	45.2	33.7	40.9	39.5	28.5

Table 5.4: Poverty Incidence in Asset and Consumption Approach, 2001–8 (%)

Source: CDRI survey data 2001-8

Table 5.5: Household Poverty Status by Village and Region (%)

		Asset approach			Consumption approach		
	Chronically poor	Transient poor	Never poor	Chronically poor	Transient poor	Never poor	
Tonle Sap	25.6	45.3	29.1	23.9	42.7	33.3	
Krasang	11.6	50.0	38.4	1.2	23.3	75.6	
Andong Trach	18.0	50.8	31.2	27.9	62.3	9.8	
Khsach Chi Ros	44.8	36.8	18.4	43.7	48.3	8.1	
Mekong plains	32.3	35.0	32.7	3.2	30.0	66.8	
Prek Khmeng	49.1	33.6	17.3	1.8	23.6	74.6	
Ba Baong	15.5	36.4	48.2	4.6	36.4	59.1	
Plateau	27.3	43.2	29.6	21.2	59.1	19.7	
Kanchor	23.6	39.6	36.8	24.5	45.3	30.2	
Dang Kdar	36.5	42.1	21.5	19.6	63.6	16.8	
Trapeang Prei	15.7	52.9	31.4	17.7	78.4	3.9	
Coastal	42.2	33.9	23.9	3.7	42.2	54.1	
Kompong Tnoat	42.2	33.9	23.9	3.7	42.2	54.1	
Total	30.1	40.4	29.5	14.9	44.5	40.6	

Source: CDRI survey data 2001-8

The chronically poor are households that have an asset index below the poverty line for all three years, the transient poor are households whose asset index falls below the poverty line in one of the years and the never poor are households with an asset index above the poverty line in all years. Based on assets, the largest numbers of households were transient poor. Of the total poor in the sample, approximately 57 percent were transient poor. To some extent, this confirms our previous suggestion that tackling rural poverty requires a clear understanding of the nature of transient poverty. The number of transient poor households is highest in the Tonle Sap and plateau regions, and the number in chronic poverty is highest in the coastal region. It is also worth noting that the proportion of chronically poor households based on the asset

approach is 50 percent higher than it is based on the consumption approach; the number of never poor households is 27 percent lower.

Table 5.6 provides descriptive statistics of household and geographic characteristics in the initial period. Chronically poor households are often smaller, with lower dependency rates and fewer male and female adults aged 15–64 than transient poor and never poor households. The household head of chronically poor households is more likely to be younger, less educated, female and single than in transient and never poor households. Never poor households have fewer children aged 0–7 than chronic and transient poor households. In addition, chronically poor households have the least agricultural land, non-land assets and livestock, while never poor households have more of these assets. Less agricultural land, non-land assets and livestock, fewer male and female workers and young, single, female household heads appear to be key factors of chronic poverty.

	Chronically poor	Transient poor	Never poor	Total
Household members	5.4	5.9	6.3	5.9
Children 0–6	1.1	1.1	0.9	1.0
Children 7–14	1.4	1.5	1.5	1.4
Adults over 64	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.2
Male adults 15–64	1.2	1.5	1.8	1.5
Female adults 15–64	1.6	1.6	1.8	1.7
HHH is male	0.7	0.8	0.9	0.8
HHH age	42.4	42.5	45.9	43.4
HHH education (years)	2.5	3.5	3.8	3.3
HHH married	0.8	0.9	0.9	0.8
Agricultural landholding per capita (KHR [•] 0,000s)	0.1	0.2	0.4	0.2
Non-land assets per capita (KHR'0,000s)	3.8	11.4	23.8	12.8
Livestock per capita (KHR'0,000s)	10.5	16.9	24.6	17.2
Employment status of HHH (%)				
Wage worker within village	19.3	22.8	32.8	24.7
Self-employed	9.2	6.0	2.5	5.9
Wage worker outside village	57.0	57.5	48.0	54.5
Other	14.5	13.8	16.8	14.9
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

Table 5.6: Household Demographics and Poverty Status

Source: CDRI survey data 2001-8

5.3 Econometric Results: Determinants of Chronic and Transient Poverty

We use a multinomial logit model to examine the factors affecting the likelihood of a household being in either of the poverty groups. The explanatory variables include human capital, land and physical assets and geography. The human capital variables consist of dependency, the number of male and female adults aged 15–64 and the age, education, gender, main economic activity and marital status of the household head. We also include agricultural land, household durable assets and livestock, as well as dummies representing the four broad agro-climatic regions.

The dependent variable takes the value of 1, 2 or 3 for chronically poor, transient poor and never poor households, respectively. Table 5.7 reports the marginal effects and their statistical significance for the three poverty measures.

		Marginal effect				
	Chronically poor	Transient poor	Never poor			
Dependency	-0.008	-0.009	0.0173**			
Male adults 15-64	-0.044**	-0.002	0.046***			
Female adults 15–64	-0.025	-0.005	0.031**			
HHH age	-0.001	-0.004	0.006			
HHH age squared	0.00001	0.00002	-0.00004			
HHH education	-0.019***	0.017***	0.002			
HHH male	-0.002	0.098	-0.096*			
HHH married	-0.057	-0.069	0.127**			
HHH wage worker within village	0.243***	0.031	-0.275***			
HHH self-employed worker	0.080*	-0.014	-0.066*			
HHH wage worker outside village	0.0242	-0.052	0.027			
Agricultural land (log)	-0.020***	0.0019	0.018***			
Non-land assets (log)	-0.048***	-0.071***	0.119***			
Livestock (log)	-0.007**	0.005	0.001			
Tonle Sap	-0.178***	0.097*	0.081*			
Mekong plains	-0.001	0.044	-0.042			
Plateau	-0.175***	0.095*	0.079*			
Number of observations		8.27				
LR chi2	389.63					
Prob>chi2		0.0000				
Log-likelihood		-704.732				
Pseudo R-squared		0.2166				

 Table 5.7: Multinomial Logit Estimation on Determinants of Chronic and Transient Poverty

Note: * statistically significant at 10% ** significant at 5% *** significant at 1% Source: CDRI survey data 2001–8

The results show that households with a large number of males aged 15–64 are significantly negatively associated chronic poverty and positively associated with the probability of being never poor. A higher educational level of the household head reduces the likelihood that households are chronically poor. Household heads who are self-employed or daily wage workers within the village are more likely to be chronically poor and less likely to be never poor, confirming that economic activities in the villages are mostly insecure with lower returns. More agricultural land, non-land assets and livestock decrease the probability of being chronically poor; livestock is less relevant for transient poor and never poor households. Non-land assets are the most important factor in reducing the likelihood of being transient poor. Male-headed households are less likely to be never poor, and households with a married household head are more likely to be never poor. In addition, we found that a high dependency rate increases the probability of being never poor and a high educational level of household head increases the probability of being never poor and a high educational level of household head increases the probability of being never poor and a high educational level of be the case.

However, the coefficient of female adults aged 15–64 showed unexpected results and is no longer significant for chronic and transient poverty, while the consumption approach indicates that the amount of female adults aged 15–64 in a household has a significant positive impact on the probability of households being poor, and a negative impact on the probability of never being poor. Furthermore, agricultural land and livestock have become statistically significant

for the chronically poor, non-land assets for the transient poor and agricultural land for the never poor; these variables are not statistically significant under the consumption approach.

	Ass	et approach		Consumption approach		
	Chronically poor	Transient poor	Never poor	Chronically poor	Transient poor	Never poor
Dependency			+	+		-
Male adults 15-64	-		+	-		
Female adults 15-64			+	+	+	-
HHH age						
HHH age squared						
HHH education	-	+		-		+
HHH male			-		+	
HHH married			+		-	+
HHH wage worker within village	+		-			
HHH self-employed worker	+		-			
HHH wage worker outside village						
Agricultural land (log)	-		+			
Non-land assets (log)	-	-	+	-		+
Livestock (log)	-					
Tonle Sap	-	+	+	+		-
Mekong plains						
Plateau	-	+	+	+	+	-

Table 5.8: Key Determinants of Chronic and Transient Poverty

Note: (+) = positive effect (-) '= negative effect

Broadly speaking, the empirical study based on assets provides more telling results than the consumption approach. A few unexplained variables such as dependency rate and educational level of household head may be solved if a superior method, such as polychoric PCA, is adopted.

5.4 Summary

This chapter re-measures chronic and transient poverty and re-examines their determinants using the household survey panel data covering the period 2001–8. The largest numbers of households were found to be transient poor, in accordance with results in Chapter 4, but this chapter generates new important and more telling insights into the key determinants of chronic and transient poverty. We find that numbers of males aged 15–64 and characteristics of household heads relating to educational level and occupation, agricultural land and livestock are important factors for assessing chronic poverty but are not significant determinants of transient poverty. Only non-land assets are associated with lower chronic and transient poverty. The Tonle Sap and plateau regions have lower chronic poverty and higher transient poverty than the coastal region. In general, our empirical results reconfirm that different policies will be needed to address the two types of poverty and for each agro-climatic region.

In addition, we have noted that non-land assets play a critical role in reducing transient poverty, which in turn highlights the incomplete market for credit and the lack of formal insurance and social protection programmes, meaning rural households have to rely on informal risk-coping mechanisms such as physical assets accumulation. However, during a widespread and severe income shock such as the recent global financial and economic crisis, the prices of the assets they hold may fall quickly because of mass selling of similar assets at the same time after the shocks are felt (Fafchamps & Gavian 1997). As a result, villagers may be reluctant and/or unable to sell their assets and therefore fall into poverty. This emphasises that insurance, social protection programmes and other mechanisms for protecting these vulnerable groups are the most important policies for preventing poverty. Furthermore, we have verified that increasing human and physical assets are more appropriate policies to deal with chronic poverty.

Chapter 6

CONCLUSION AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Conclusions

Poverty is the single most important problem facing Cambodia. The country's poverty rate may have declined significantly in the past decade, but it remains one of the highest in developing East Asia. Poverty rates in 2007 stood at 30 percent, but the global economic crisis could have increased rates by an estimated 1–4 percentage points in 2010 (World Bank 2009c). Growth which averaged 8 percent in real terms between 1994 and 2007 was correctly heralded as impressive, but poverty reduction did not keep pace, declining by an average of only 1 to 1.5 percent over the same period. This suggests that: 1) Cambodia's high-growth economy was not necessarily pro-poor; 2) economic growth may not be a sufficient condition for poverty alleviation; 3) poverty is locally specific and its reduction has not been linked to macro-economic development and recent engines of growth; and 4) internal market integration and development remain key concerns for pro-poor development and growth, as this study suggests.

That poverty reduction cannot singularly rely on economic growth is hardly surprising, given poverty's multi-dimensional nature. Poverty is capability deprivation and its determinants are related to interlocking problems at the national, sectoral and micro levels. History is central to explanations of poverty in Cambodia, and decades-long civil war, regime brutality and isolation underpin many current impediments to poverty alleviation, such as low levels of physical and human capital and weak governance. At the sectoral level, the underperformance of agriculture and the narrow sectoral base of economic growth can explain the phenomenon of rural poverty. At the micro level, land insecurity, poor asset ownership, limited access to finance and public goods and overall human development have hampered communal and household welfare improvements. Shocks such as the economic and food security crises can also be seen as prominent causes of poverty.

Key development blueprints and supporting documents identify poverty reduction as the core policy goal and overriding concern of the Cambodian government. These plans also acknowledge that success in poverty reduction efforts relies on more than economic growth, evidenced by the placement of good governance at the heart of the RGC's Rectangular Strategy, the NSDP 2006–10 and the NSDP 2009–13. Among the main pillars of this strategy are: enhancement of agriculture; infrastructure building and rehabilitation; human resource development; and private sector development. These policy thrusts aim to foster opportunity, facilitate empowerment and address income insecurity, vital elements in any poverty reduction policy platform. Government ownership of development plans has strengthened significantly over the years, and we can say that poverty reduction policies, though not perfect, are in a good state. Implementation, however, is another issue. Falling poverty rates indicate a notable degree of success. However, compared with rates of growth, it is clear that poverty should have decreased faster than it has, and this points towards a gap between planning and implementation.

The PDS, which builds on a CDRI study in 2001 and the MOPS 2004/5, is a longitudinal poverty monitoring tool that aims to uncover salient poverty trends and determinants. It employs a mixed research method that is both quantitative and qualitative. Quantitative methods involved mainly statistical analyses of a household panel dataset comprising information from the MOPS

and surveys in 2004/5 and 2008. The total of 827 study households were drawn from the 2001 sample set and represented nine rural villages and four major rural agro-ecological regions of the country: the Mekong plains, Tonle Sap, the upland plateau and coastal areas. Qualitative aspect of the study primarily involved the amalgamation and analysis of FGD and SSI results. Participants in these activities were rural households, community officials and leaders and other individuals, male and female, from the nine villages surveyed.

The multi-dimensional nature of poverty means this study defines poverty in both monetary and non-monetary terms. Income and consumption served as the monetary indicators. Asset ownership served as the main non-monetary measure, although the qualitative analyses in particular discussed other indicators. The study also distinguished between chronically poor, transient poor and never poor, defined as households whose per capita consumption or asset indices were under the relevant poverty lines in all, any one or none of the three survey years, respectively. It also distinguished between strongly and poorly performing villages, the former having lower poverty rates than the rural poverty rate, the latter with higher rates.

Using the longitudinal dataset, the PDS aims to deepen the quantitative and qualitative analyses and understanding of the extent, determinants and nuances of Cambodian rural poverty, addressing the following key research questions:

- 1. How has the extent of poverty changed? Are there notable variations in the extent of change across the study villages and the four agro-ecological regions?
- 2. If poverty reduction has occurred, has it been sufficient to lift the study villages and regions out of pervasive poverty?
- 3. To what extent is poverty chronic and transient, and to what extent are the improvements in welfare sustainable?
- 4. How do changes in income relate to changes in consumption, asset ownership and therefore poverty? Does income growth necessarily translate into growth in consumption and asset ownership?
- 5. What are some determinants of chronic and transient poverty? What has underpinned the sustainability or lack of sustainability of welfare improvements?
- 6. To what extent and in what way has agricultural growth contributed to income growth and/or poverty reduction? To what extent and in what ways have shocks and specific local events contributed to poverty? How have households responded to cope with negative shocks or exploited the positive benefits of shocks and events

The key limitations of the PDS need to be borne in mind when considering its findings. First, the purposive selection of the sample households compromises the representativeness of the results. Second, data comparability is undermined by the problem of attrition. Third, inconsistencies were introduced because the previous studies were tailored to specific purposes. Notwithstanding these limitations, the PDS is a highly valuable and unique exercise.

The major findings in response to the research questions are as follows.

a. At the aggregate level, poverty incidence dropped; however, this aggregate picture covers up notable variations

This finding is true whether consumption or asset ownership was the poverty measure used. Using the consumption approach, measured against village poverty lines, overall poverty was found to have gone down by 12 percentage points to 29 percent in 2008 compared with 2001. However, some villages experienced double-digit reductions in poverty but others had only single-digit reductions, and one saw its rate increase. Using the asset approach, overall poverty was found to have declined by about 18 percentage points to 34 percent in 2008 compared with 2001. All villages experienced poverty rate reductions, some by 30–42 percentage points and the rest by 18–28 percentage points.

b. Income growth was considerable but did not all translate into consumption growth

The average daily per capita income in all villages rose by 179 percent between 2001 and 2008, with every village experiencing an increase of over 100 percent. However, average daily per capita consumption in all villages went up by only 23 percent, with consumption growth very high for two villages, modest for six and negative for one. Notwithstanding the methodological limitations, these results can be considered as being aligned with theories that income and consumption do not necessarily correlate,¹⁴ and support the notion that poverty as represented by consumption does not necessarily decline with income improvements.

c. Consumption- and asset-based poverty measurements produced mixed results regarding regional poverty reductions

Using the consumption approach, Andong Trach and Khsach Chi Ros villages in the Tonle Sap region continued to have the highest poverty in 2008, with very modest reductions relative to 2001. Kompong Tnoat, the one study village in the coastal region, had the lowest poverty rate. Using the asset approach, however, poverty in the Tonle Sap region changed from being the highest to the second-lowest of all the four regions, with the largest decline of all regions between 2001 and 2008—36.3 percent. Villages in the coastal region changed from having the lowest rates to having the highest. These divergences in results affirm the importance of understanding how poverty is understood and assessed. Asset indexes for measuring poverty may not be the most appropriate measure, although they do provide reliable indicators of well-being improvement. Despite problems of attrition with the consumption data, this approach to measuring poverty is still valid for the PDS.

d. Even with the decline, poverty remained pervasive in some areas

Poverty levels remained well above the rural poverty rate in poorly performing villages, reaching as high as 75 percent in Khsach Chi Ros. This village was an exceptional case in terms of agricultural development and poverty reduction, transitioning to adopting modern rice farming practices and diversification. However, increased competition to convert the flooded forest and over water and fisheries arose, and the area of dry season rice cultivation expanded, activating conflicts over water and land use for both fisheries and rice growing between those with subsistence and commercial interests. Combined with the many people addicted to gambling, these were the main causes of poverty. Strongly performing villages included villages such as Trapeang Prei, whose poverty rates showed a two thirds decline relative to 2001 and which were well below the rural poverty rate. Trapeang Prei benefited from recent developments in the land market and was strongly connected with urban development and growth in wage

¹⁴ The most prominent theory is the Keynesian theory on consumption and the permanent income hypothesis.

labour employment, which explained its high success rate. Despite a considerable drop, the consumption-based poverty rate in the upland plateau remained high at 34 percent.

e. Factors such as initial growth of villages, endowment and linkages with urban growth underlie varying poverty dynamics and rates of reduction

This observation is mainly drawn from qualitative data analysis of poverty reduction stemming from unique and varied social and economic development events occurring between 2005 and 2008, and needs to be backed up with analysis from quantitative regression methods.

Strongly performing villages had low poverty rates and sustained poverty reduction. This pattern was attributed to the success of agricultural growth and diversification alongside developments in irrigation and road infrastructure in villages such as Krasang in the Tonle Sap region and Ba Baong in the Mekong plains. In these and other villages, farmers also benefited from improved market linkages for selling agricultural products, and from increased internal and cross-border migration facilitated through better links to areas of development. Poorly performing villages had limited capacity to increase agricultural production through improved market connections, as they lacked irrigation systems to adopt modern farming techniques.

Some of the strongly performing villages (Kompong Tnoat in the coastal region, Prek Khmeng in Mekong plains and Dang Kdar in the plateau region) managed to double or triple income from forestry or fisheries through increased CPR access in the years before the national election in 2008. Poorly performing villages such as Khsach Chi Ros and Kanchor also had this opportunity. Although many benefited from a massive conversion of forest and flooded forest land for dry season rice or cash crop growing in the area, indigenous households in some villages without labour or financial capital and know-how could not grasp these opportunities. Trapeang Prei village, with poor soil and low rice yields, benefited from its increased links to urban growth and development in Phnom Penh and from land market-related transactions; the latter factor contributed to poverty reduction in Prek Khmeng village also. Successful labour migration resulted in poverty reduction in other strongly performing villages too. Those villages were in a better position to cope with income shocks and could sustain consumption.

Poorly performing villages had high poverty rates or did not sustain poverty reductions between 2001 and 2008. These villages experienced either limited wet season rice productivity, such as Andong Trach and Kanchor, or were just beginning to adopt techniques for dry season rice cultivation in the case of Khsach Chi Ros. A lack of human and financial capital and agricultural know-how prevented many indigenous households from taking advantage of local agricultural transformations, such as in Khsach Chi Ros and Kanchor, leaving them reliant on irregular wage labour from increased demand for agricultural labour or illegal or legal conversion of forest and flooded forest land for dry season rice or cash crop growing. However, these economic activities were either unsustainable, owing to their illegal nature, or vulnerable to economic shocks. A key constraint to poverty reduction in poorly performing villages was conflicts over water and common land access for subsistence and commercial activities following large-scale land use transformation. Poorly performing villages saw impressive increases in per capita income, albeit from a low base. However, continued high poverty rates confirmed that many households could not cope with unexpected shocks and crises.

f. Transient poverty was considerably higher than chronic poverty

The consumption approach showed 45 percent of sample households to be transient poor and 15 percent to be chronically poor, while the asset approach showed 40 percent to be transient poor and 30 percent chronically poor. Transient poverty was pervasive in all four agro-ecological regions. In the upland plateaus, around 59 percent (consumption-based measures) and 43 percent (asset-based measures) of the sample households were transient poverty, rather that households can fall into and out of poverty, and this entails a different focus to poverty reduction policies. One positive note was the significant proportion of never poor households in the survey, around 41 percent based on consumption methods and 30 percent based on asset methods.

g. Shocks and specific local events were central causes of transient poverty or lack of sustainability in both food and non-food consumption levels, and can be central causes of chronic poverty

These shocks and events refer to the food crisis and resulting price spikes, the global economic downturn and resulting price deflation and abnormal local weather conditions. Net food buyers were hurt by higher food prices. Net food sellers did not necessarily gain, given higher input prices and the fact that most of them had little surplus to sell. Those who made investments to boost agricultural yields were hurt by price declines following the economic crisis. Droughts and flooding also hurt crop production, and the impact of tightened CPR access after the 2008 elections hurt income from forestry and fisheries. All these shocks meant consumption decline was used widely as a coping strategy; through effects on food security, for example, these shocks can heighten chronic poverty.

h. The three key drivers of income growth were agricultural growth (likely to be sustainable) and the real estate boom and increased CPR access (both less likely to be sustainable)

- Farming incomes were boosted greatly by a combination of factors, such as greater agricultural mechanisation, higher-yielding seeds, rural infrastructure development that increased market access, crop diversification and access to finance that enabled agricultural investments. The food price escalation also both improved profit margins and incentivised commercial crop production and diversification, but overall it made a limited contribution to income growth. These factors underpinned agricultural income growth, making it sustainable, but problems continued related to increased input prices and a lack of agricultural extension services.
- The real estate boom resulted in a flurry of land transactions, and in some villages, such as Trapeang Prei and Prek Khmeng, average per capita incomes soared and land prices likewise escalated. Around half of the sample households in these villages sold residential and/or agricultural plots between 2005 and 2008. The downside of this development was increased landlessness and illegal land conversions. Equally important was the fact that proceeds from land sales were used more for consumption than for productive purposes. Unlike in previous years, in 2008 fewer households used the proceeds from land sales to cover health care expenses, but a significant number used them to pay for basic consumption items and house construction and repair, and to pay off debts, implying that income sourced from the real estate boom was unlikely to be sustainable.

• Access to CPR was informally relaxed in the years before the 2008 elections, benefiting most regions, and specifically villages dependent on fishing and forestry. However, the informal nature of the access means it could not be expected to be sustainable, and income contractions were unsurprisingly experienced once CPR access was tightened again after the elections. There were also conflicts between local people and outsiders; resource overuse; and illegal land conversions.

i. Non-land asset ownership¹⁵ increased while land ownership declined

A greater proportion of households in all study villages but one owned more durable assets in 2008 compared with 2001, and the quality of housing increased in all villages. Income growth and access to microfinance enabled asset improvements, and infrastructure development also eased purchases, mainly of transport assets. By contrast, there was a disconcerting decline in land ownership, caused in part by land sales from the real estate boom, and landlessness almost doubled from 2001 figures in the two villages that saw a marked increased in land transactions.

j. Three household characteristics happened to be significant determinants of chronic poverty, whether consumption- or asset-based

Using either the consumption or asset approach, it was found that the likelihood of chronic poverty is reduced by: higher numbers of working-age male household members; higher educational attainment of household heads; and higher non-land asset ownership. All three are factors that, in the Cambodian context particularly, can enhance household labour force participation and the source and scope of income generation. The consumption approach showed household size and dependency to be significant also, while the asset approach stressed the importance of agricultural land and livestock possession.

k. Most micro-level attributes that significantly determine chronic poverty do not significantly determine transient poverty

Using the consumption approach, household size and dependency rates were not associated significantly with transient poverty. The asset approach showed transient poverty was not affected strongly by number of working-age males or agricultural land and livestock possession. Number of female adults in the household was found to be associated significantly and positively with chronic and transient poverty using the consumption approach but not the asset approach, while having a male household head was linked positively with consumptionbut not asset-based transient poverty. These findings stress the role of shocks in inducing transient poverty and the importance of tailored poverty reduction policies. Findings on a otential gender bias of poverty are mixed and inconclusive.

6.2 Policy implications

A number of policy recommendations can be formulated based on the findings,¹⁶ but two types of policy are of strong importance with regard to all study villages and regions: community growth and addressing chronic and transient poverty. The following should be at the top of the policy agenda.

¹⁵ Ownership here may not be tantamount to legal ownership.

¹⁶ See also individual chapters for some of these.

6.2.1 Pro-poor Policy Responses to Support Community Growth and Poverty Reduction

a. Both farm and non-farm employment is vital for poverty reduction, with different but complementary contributions to pro-poor growth

Results from both strongly and poorly performing villages showed that employment should be integrated into an agricultural and rural development policy framework and any upcoming donor and NGO-led rural development programmes. To support the growth of both sectors, it should be remembered that the non-farm sector will build on gains made by smallholder agriculture and will increasingly influence real wages, food security and poverty reduction.

b. Pro-poor strategies should be integrated and coordinated in development interventions in order to build the capacities of the poor

Pro-poor community growth and poverty reduction policies should focus on rural infrastructure; generating labour demand; technical changes for productivity gains; and access to stable input, output and financial markets to support such technologies. These factors should highlight to the poor the benefits from widespread technology adoption in response to labour markets and the need to diversify in the face of risks of falling grain prices. The process encompasses structural change and requires careful targeting of policies, strategic planning and coordination mechanisms to address the different endowments and needs of the poor in rural areas and the differences between the chronically and transient poor.

Coordination through strategic sectoral planning and of the roles of national and subnational bodies within the D&D reform structure is needed. The private sector and civil society have important parts to play in highlighting major technical, administrative and political challenges to policy design and implementation. However, promoting structural change from an agricultural base to non-farm-based growth requires large-scale and long-term investments. Many study villages are still in areas far from markets, are in the process of land use transformation and have declining resource bases, suggesting the emphasis should be more on resource rehabilitation, supporting out-migration and meeting local food needs. Therefore, supporting pro-poor agricultural growth remains a key policy agenda for poverty reduction and should be seen as an alternative to out-migration borne out of desperation for better incomes and indefinite large-scale welfare support.

c. Pro-poor agricultural development is important for poverty reduction but should provide mechanisms to address the problems and needs of small landholding farmers

There is a tendency to intensify and diversify agricultural activities to move out of poverty, evidence which is supported by recent market developments in both groups of study villages. However, this has been constrained by a lack of know-how, ineffective agricultural extension services and inadequate savings and irrigation systems. Moreover, the number of agricultural landless households has increased as land concentration has risen, and migration has become an alternative coping strategy for the growing labour force in these villages. In addition, conflicts over CPR access (land and water) for subsistence and commercial agricultural and related activities remained unresolved and further inhibit agricultural development.

d. Pro-poor agriculture should address the needs of poor, rural agricultural households, especially regarding existing conflicts over land and water access for small farmers

Priorities for pro-poor agricultural development are land distribution and security, agricultural modernisation and diversification and public goods (infrastructure and agricultural extension services) delivery for small farmers. Evidence from many developing countries suggests countries with more equitable land ownership can sustain and accelerate growth. Therefore, a key priority should be ensuring that land titling progresses more speedily and that inequality in land ownership is addressed. The granting of social land concessions should be sped up and targeted at frontier areas that are prone to land and water conflicts or conflict between subsistence and commercial interests. Agricultural mechanisms and infrastructure for small farmers are important for improved land productivity, and agricultural loans must be made more readily available so farmers can invest more in modern equipment and systems. Irrigation structures and irrigation systems management must also be strengthened and, with agricultural intensification and diversification, small farmers could cope better with shocks and respond to positive developments in increased market connections, for example. The expansion of agricultural extension services is also a must to improve the capability of farming households to exploit opportunities.

e. Bolster crisis response

Crisis coping strategies are categorised into *ex-post* and *ex-ante* mechanisms. *Ex-ante* mechanisms refer mainly to employment and production strategies that seek to contain the effects of income variability, whereas *ex-post* strategies are those employed after the income losses have already been sustained (Morduch & Sharma 2002). Social protection schemes are crucial for *ex-post* crisis responses and have unfortunately remained weak in Cambodia, with spending on safety nets less than the developing-country average. Social interventions have been fragmented, limited in scope, episode- and donor-driven and unsustainable. As a policy response to the global economic crisis, the government is in the process of establishing a comprehensive social safety net system. Three aspects of this are particularly important: funding sustainability; programme design (targeting and type of schemes, with public work programmes and cash transfers vital); and unified administration. *Ex-ante* strategies, which seek to enhance income sustainability, are longer in term. In this respect, Cambodia's narrow economic base is important. The global economic crisis put the spotlight on this issue, and the government has responded accordingly, as evidenced by the passage of the NSDP Update 2009–13. Better planning has to translate into action, however.

f. Advance community-based CPR management

Increasing community ownership of the commons not only formally entitles local villagers to the benefits of CPR access but also formally endows them with the responsibility to ensure resource sustainability. This addresses the dilemma of how to exploit the contribution of CPR in reducing chronic poverty and preventing transient poverty without risking irreversible resource degradation and depletion. Collective action has been shown to sustain successful CPR management, but is subject to the satisfaction of several conditions. First, it has to be based on a well-defined and context-appropriate property rights regime, with the boundaries under management both clearly laid out and also congruent with the ecosystem and local administrative structures. Second, cost-benefit sharing arrangements must be as equitable as possible, as key factors in the sustainability of participatory resource management are the distribution of dividends and decision-making power. Third, the success of CPR management hinges on the quality of local governance. Reneging on obligations and free-riding and cheating the system

can occur, and it is important to devise cost-effective monitoring, enforcement and sanctioning systems. Fourth, capacity building is a prerequisite for the success of participatory schemes, and technical assistance to enhance the capacities of local communities should be provided. Sustainable natural resource use requires a blend of modern and indigenous knowledge of conservation and utilisation. This should be supported through consultative discussions to avert conflict and through technical assistance to communities.

g. Community ex-ante mechanisms should be constructed as part of poverty reduction strategies

Without formal social safety nets and protection schemes, rural people are vulnerable to income shocks, and often rely on informal coping strategies such as sale of assets, migration or support from relatives or friends. The recent economic crisis eroded these informal coping mechanisms and pushed many households into poverty. Pro-poor policies should build the social and physical capacity of the community and individual households to cope with social and economic shocks through provision of know-how and support to local initiatives and collective action. These initiatives should be well-designed to build social and physical capital and self-help mechanisms to minimise risks. They should also be incorporated into agricultural development and CPR management. For example, saving groups and community ponds, small irrigation schemes and/or farmer cooperatives already exist in some study villages, but these remain weak, with negligible effects on livelihood improvement and *ex-ante* crisis management. They should be advanced and supported in any pro-poor intervention.

h. Continue aggressive implementation of educational strategies

The importance of enhancing human capital through higher educational attainment and skills levels has been established and can be promoted through both increasing education budgets (a priority sector) and enhancing the quality of spending. Access to primary education, already widespread, can be further improved through spending targeted on education quality. Problematic areas also include low teacher competencies and school retention rates. At the secondary and tertiary level, low enrolment ratios must be improved, and budgets for secondary education must be increased to make access more affordable. In terms of workforce skills, there is a mismatch between present levels of skills and the requirements of the private sector, which prevents labour movement into more productive sectors. The lack of management skills, for instance, is an off-cited reason for the limited number of Cambodians with managerial positions in the garment sector. The private sector has to be encouraged to take up the slack in offering and funding vocational and technical training opportunities.

6.2.2 Pro-poor Policy Responses to Chronic and Transient Poverty

Different policies should be in place for the chronic and transient poor, groups which encounter different livelihood problems.

a. Policies for the chronically poor

The chronically poor are constrained with regard to actively participating in and benefiting from recent growth and development. They are trapped in poverty because they lack financial and productive assets and they have weak human and physical capital, with low education levels and chronic health problems. Most chronically poor are self-employed or daily wage workers within the village, which are opportunities that are mostly insecure and with lower wages. A number of key strategies should be put in place to help the chronically poor move out of poverty.

- *Expanding pro-poor scholarships and free health care services to target the chronically poor.* All poor households have benefited from pro-poor health services in recent years through the ID Poor card from the Ministry of Planning. However, only some households have benefited from the universal education policy and the school feeding programme; other households have had to force their children to withdraw from school at an early age to help in earning incomes or foraging for food. This study support the expansion of the pro-poor scholarship programme and free health care services along with non-farm income generation programmes for parents as paths out of poverty for the chronically poor.
- Cash transfer programmes for small business creation and non-farm activities are an effective tool to help the chronically poor. The strategic design of these kinds of interventions should be linked to broader market demand and appropriate vocational training and understanding of market chains in order to maximise profits.

Female-headed households without male labour and with many dependants are more likely to fall into chronic poverty. With support from NGO-led rural development projects, single female heads of households have been seen to benefit from saving schemes or rural credit. However, given the limited amount they can borrow, they are not able to take advantage of current economic opportunities to start or sustain small business operations besides selling their unskilled labour. Therefore, special arrangements for cash transfer programmes supported by vocational training for small business creation is the best option for this section of the chronically poor.

• Enhancing support for development services for both chronically and transient poor. Single female-headed households often consider alternative income generation activities such as poultry and pig rearing but suffer from lack of knowledge as to how to protect their animals from infectious diseases. This problem is not specific to the chronically and transient poor but relates to livestock production in both strongly and poorly performing villages. It can be addressed by increasing and strengthening agricultural extension service for the poor.

b. Policies for the transient poor

Transient poor households have a different set of problems compared with the chronically poor, often relating to their inability to cope with income shocks. While they have assets for sale in times of difficulty, in the case of recent crises the demand for and price of assets fell and, without formal credit, they became more vulnerable to or fell into poverty. This group of the poor could benefit from formal insurance and social protection schemes. The following strategies are suggested.

- Formal protection schemes in response to crises, such as food security programmes and employment creation programmes to provide work for the unemployed and/or dismissed workers on labour-intensive government projects.
- *Building community risk reduction mechanisms such as saving groups.* The poor have benefited from saving schemes and rice banks made available by NGO-led development initiatives to sustain their consumption in times of need, but these locally led initiatives have not been strong enough to cope with the magnitude of the impact

of income shocks. Therefore, the transient poor have often had to rely on traditional informal coping strategies such as loans from moneylenders with high interest rates and sales of farm outputs to merchants/traders willing to offer them credit in times of need but for lower than normal farm-gate prices. This has further eroded their capacity to recover from income shocks. Since the traditional buffer of CPR used for coping with food shortages is being depleted, the only alternative has been migration to secure earnings elsewhere. This is possible with households that have a labour surplus but less so for single female-headed transient poor households, which are left with limited options.

Promote linkages between social protection and pro-poor agricultural development. Evidence from other developing countries suggests agricultural productivity can be supported by well-designed social protection programmes. Productive capacities can be enhanced through the expansion of quality public services for technical transfers to the poor, and such social protection can enhance resilience in the face of threats, limit disinvestment, reduce risk and promote investment by the poor. Crop and livestock insurance schemes through market interventions by the government are important in times of economic crisis, and agriculture should be subject to more social protection, and protection which is more sensitive to impacts on production. The experience of recent economic crises shows that allocations of national insurance funds need to be well-planned and implemented. For the purposes of poverty reduction, however, this study suggests social protection interventions be given priority in the plateau, Tonle Sap and coastal regions, where concentrations of transient poor are highest, particularly since the recent economic crises.

In line with the government's Rectangular Strategy, which puts good governance at its core, the policies recommended above rest on governance reforms at national and sub-national levels. All indicators of governance show the need for improvement but, in the Cambodian context, two deserve priority attention for their beneficial effects in other areas. These are voice and accountability. Meaningful progress on these two indicators of governance can be achieved with improved flows of information, wider avenues for public consultation and citizen participation and judicial reform.

Without question, institutionalising the PDS within CDRI is a mission that holds a great deal of promise. This unique longitudinal study will benefit from further rounds of data collection driven by a longer-term purpose. This will help address its existing limitations and thereby enhance the overall quality of findings. As is often said, poverty, especially poverty that is as pervasive as that in Cambodia, cannot be reduced overnight. The ever-present danger posed by economic and non-economic shocks makes it more difficult to realise long-promised poverty relief. However, studies such as the PDS can help in following through on this promise.

ANNEXES

Annex 1: Study Areas and Participants

Purposive sampling was used to select participants for the FGDs. Annex A1B shows the number of households interviewed and selected for wealth ranking and FGDs in each village. A total of 1,022 households were interviewed in March and September 2008. The sampling frame was predetermined by the 2001 Baseline Study and the 2004/5 MOPS. People's livelihoods were the main criteria for village selection. The survey aimed to revisit as many of the households sampled in the two previous studies as possible to gauge the direction and magnitude of changes in living standards. Systematic random sampling was originally used to select households in 2001. Demographic changes that have occurred in each village since 2001 make the original sample unrepresentative. Given the sampling frame, the research team had limited opportunities to include new households in the survey in 2004/5 and 2008. To fill such gaps, households were selected for wealth ranking using systematic random sampling methods. For all villages, 1,350 (48 percent) out of 2,811 households were selected for inclusion in wealth ranking.

Half of the households included in wealth ranking were selected randomly from those interviewed in 2001, 2004/5 and 2008; the other half were selected randomly from the village list or from those not included in the household survey. In every village, wealth ranking was done with village leaders to classify households into social and well-being groups. This also identified household mobility at three different times: 2001, 2004/5 and 2008. The impact of rising prices on well-being, agricultural production and earnings of each group were the main areas of focus of the PDS. Characteristics of each well-being group were defined by both formal and informal village leaders according to level of economic growth and development in the locality. Therefore, impacts of high prices on well-being, poverty reduction and agricultural development are drawn mainly from the FGDs.

	Number of HHs in 2001	Sample size in 2001	Panel HHs in 2008	Dropped out HHs	Attrition (%)
Tonle Sap			•		•
Andong Trach	196	85	61	24	28.2
Krasang	228	120	86	34	28.3
Khsach Chi Ros	305	120	87	35	29.2
Mekong plains					
Prek Khmeng	339	120	110	10	8.3
Ba Baong	536	127	110	17	13.4
Plateau					
Kanchor	278	120	106	14	11.7
Dang Kdar	306	125	107	18	14.4
Trapeang Prei	68	68	51	17	25.0
Coastal					
Kompong Tnoat	348	120	109	11	9.2
All villages	2,604	1,005	827	180	17.9

Table A1A: Sample Size and Panel HHs

Villages	Total HHs	Number of HHs interviewed in 2008	Wealth ranking of HHs	Number of FGDs in each village and participants' characteristics	Village location and criteria for selection**
Andong Trach	209	87	130	4: moved up, unchanged poor, FHH and village leaders	Battambang province, Sangke district; substantial wet season rice in flooded Tonle Sap, high emigration
Krasang	247	120	170	4: moved up, unchanged poor, FHHs and village leaders	Battambang province, Thmor Kul district; substantial wet season rice in flooded Tonle Sap, high resettlement of returnees from border camps
Dang Kdar	460	130	160	4: moved up, unchanged poor, FHHs and village leaders	Kompong Thom province, Sontuk district; low- yield, wet season rice and substantial forest dependence in plateau
Khsach Chi Ros	360	121	179	4: moved up, unchanged poor, FHHs and village leaders	Kompong Thom province, Kompong Svay district; floating rice plus substantial fishing in flooded Tonle Sap
Kanchor	264	124	174	4: moved up, unchanged poor, FHHs and village leaders	Kratie province, Chlong district; dry season rice and substantial forest dependence in plateau
Prek Khmeng	366	120	121	4: moved up, stagnated poor, FHHs and village leaders	Kandal province, Lvea Aem district; dry season rice and substantial fishing in Mekong plain
Ba Baong	589	128	188	5: moved up, moved down, unchanged poor, FHHs and village leaders	Prey Veng province, Peam Ror district; substantial dry season rice in Mekong plain
Trapeang Prei	69	69	65	4: moved up, unchanged poor, female-headed households and village leaders	Kompong Speu province, Odongk district; low- yield wet season rice and dependence on hiring out labour in plateau
Kompong Tnoat	247	123	163	5: moved up, unchanged poor, FHHs, moved in and village leaders	Kampot province, Kampot district; low-yield wet season rice, coastal fishing and salt mining
All villages	2,811	1,022	1,350	37 FGDs	

Table A1B: Characteristics of FGD Participants and Study Villages

Note: * there were 5–10 participants in each FGD. The FGD team also interviewed the commune council to capture special development events and livelihood improvements. ** Source: Chan and Acharya (2002)

	Common events occurring in all villages	
	Positive	Negative
All villages	 Increased availability of public and private health care services Increased children's access to education Increased market connections and goods flows from new roads in village or neighbouring villages (Prek Khmeng and Khsach Chi Ros) Wages of labourers increased from KHR5,000 in 2005 to KHR10,000 –15,000 in 2008 Good demand for paddy rice and livestock with better prices in past two years Increased micro-credit services from Vision Fund, AMK, CARE and ACLEDA at 3 percent interest per month Agricultural training from NGOs and or agricultural extension services available to innovative farmers (these are still inefficient owing to lack of follow-up support). Farmers also reported agricultural innovation from incoming households and merchants 	 Health care costs remain a major cause of poverty Wet season rice farmers not profiting from high food prices Poor and landless households suffered from high food prices Destructive behaviour of male youths a serious concern Lack of know-how to protect livestock from deadly infectious diseases a grave concern for farmers

Table A1C: Special Events Affecting Village Income and Livelihoods, 2005 and 2008

Specific events occurring in strongly and poorly performing villages

	orming villages	Negative
Krasang	 Good access to irrigation for both wet and dry season rice cultivation Farm mechanisation and application of chemical fertilisers High demand for aquatic animals and edible insects, including rats and crickets, with good prices from Thailand and crocodile raisers Increased attempts to diversify household farming practices for extra income by raising poultry and pigs alongside rice cultivation Increased cross-border migration to Thailand and other neighbouring countries 	 Tension with upstream farmers at Bavel Dam who often released too much water, causing damage to rice crops Concerns about gambling affected some households
Prek Khmeng	 Better returns from fisheries, including ability to catch more fish and use of fish-cage culture. Increasing price of land within the past two or three years: almost all households with land have engaged in land transactions Many farmers stopped growing dry season rice in crop season 2007/8 for better and quicker returns from intensified fish catches Many male and female youths started looking for employment in garment and construction sectors in Phnom Penh in 2008, especially after the national election in July Most land in the village was purchased by speculators from Phnom Penh, but local people were allowed to use land for growing rice or reeds for subsistence purposes 	 Like other villages, there was a rapid increase in landless households Unstable fish culture practices owing to their illegality under the fisheries law
Kompong Tnoat	 Intensified use of fishing tools for marine fishing before the national election in July 2008 Increased demand for marine fish products and increasing price of land since 2005 Some youths started migrating to Koh Kong, Kompong Som and Phnom Penh from 2007 	 Lack of irrigation Many people unable to repay outstanding loans Increasing insecurity for marine fishers (theft of fishing tools and fear of being robbed by fishermen)
Ba Baong	 Good access to irrigation facilities led to good incomes from dry season rice cultivation Many farmers changed from transplanting to sowing seeds during dry season rice cultivation to save labour expenditure Increased farm mechanisation and application of chemical fertilisers and pesticides 	 Continued lack of know-how of how to control pest damage to rice and cash crops Increased abnormal health problems owing to improper use of chemical pesticides and fertilisers

Trapeang Prei	 Almost all households with land engaged in land transactions Increased number of female youths with secondary education working in garment factories in Phnom Penh High demand for agricultural produce Increased attempts to raise poultry and pigs 	 Lack of water for irrigation Lack of extension services to support livestock production Decline in number of people engaged in cash crop growing owing to land transactions
Dang Kdar	 Increased access to forest in the two years before July 2008—illegal and legal conversion of forest land by concession companies and people from outside the village for rubber plantations, a practice then followed by some indigenous households Increased number of cassava and soybean growing by people from other provinces and a few indigenous households Almost all indigenous households with male labourers and draft animals or hand tractors had good returns from cutting timber or collecting forest by-products Increased demand for unskilled labour and migration of 45 male and female youths to Siem Reap and Phnom Penh to seek better employment Economic land concession for rubber plantation companies was implemented in 2006 	 Conflicts between households in Dang Kdar commune and a Vietnamese company, and between some rural elites and Dang Kdar villagers, unresolved as of October 2008 Social concession of 400 ha of forest land for landless households in 2006 yet to be implemented in October 2008

Poorly performing villages

	Positive	Negative
Khsach Chi Ros	 Shift from growing floating rice to growing dry season rice; increased number of cash crop growers and increased adoption of farm mechanisation Clearing of flooded forest for dry season rice cultivation by 60 households from outside the village Increased demand for labour of local people, although adults from 60 households migrated to sell labour in Thailand Better access to fishing grounds through community fishery, estab- lished in mid-2005 Social concession of 400 ha to landless and land-poor households (1 ha per household) Increased market connections and high demand for agricultural produce owing to road construction in neighbouring villages Increased farm mechanisation and application of chemical fertilis- ers 	 Conflicts between rice growers and fishing lot owners 250 households have members who are addicted to gambling, which is seen to cause domestic violence and declining liveli- hood standards
Andong Trach		• No challenges reported for this village from FGD reports
Kanchor	 Increased access to forest in the two years before the national elections, increasing incomes from cutting timber and selling labour for land clearances Increased number of farmers growing cassava and maize for sale Increased demand for labour to cut timber and clear land for companies or traders Influx of people from other provinces to clear forest for growing cassava who have asked for permanent resettlement in the area ative information is drawn from FGDs with village leaders and the triangulation of the second second	• Soil erosion caused by defores- tation affected some villagers' farm land

Note: This qualitative information is drawn from FGDs with village leaders and the triangulation of four to five FGDs in each village with selected villagers from the moved up, unchanged poor, FHHs, moved in and commune council groups as part of the PDS survey in 2008

	5% 6 3% 2% 3%	3% 5% 7%	1% 3%	5% 2% 9419 2% 196	9% 6% 194-3%	6% 19% 5%	11% 6% 12%2% 4% 4% 13% 3%	6% 4% [1% [194.2%]	4% 2% 2% 1%1%	4% 1962% 3% 2%	100%
		6 5%	7%	3% 3%	2%	12% 12%	4% 1% 1% 8% 11% 8% 10%			10%	- %06
ler	21% 17% 30%	22% 12%	17% 20%	24%	14%		4% 3% 5% 4% 16\% 16\%	33% 30% 28%	28% 37%	13% 12% 54%	80%
Land sale	2%	%()t	51%	26% 26% 49%	11 <u>%</u> 40%	56% 43%	5% [7%	8	47%	-	10%
	19% 19% 13%	29%	15%	6 8		5 66%	%6	2%	6%	29% 21%	60%
rr 🛛 CPR 🖉 Remittances			6% 29%	2% 1%	40% 27%			28%	<mark>%</mark> 1 21%		50%
 Self-employment Wage labour 	14% 22% 31%	45%	19% 	2% 24% 1 9	31%	8		23% 47%	33% 33%	2%6 6% 22%	40%
Self-employmen	7%	30% 49%	13% 24%	2.	- -	27%	74% 61% 60%	8%	23%	3% .	30%
Livestock	9% 14%	6%			14%	17%		9% 18%	5% 33%	11% 	20% 3
Rice and other crops	23% %	9% 16%	33% 18%	28% 31% 18%	14% 14% 14%	9% 20% 23%		6% 6%a 18%	9% 22%	4 29% 6%	
Rice a	21	9%6 6%6 6%6 5% 6%6	10%	6%	6 7% 5% 12%	6 9% 26 3%		3% 11111111111111111111111111111111111	3% 7% 7% 1 5%	9%	10%
	2008 2004/5 2001	2008 2004/5 2001	2008 2008 2004/5 2001 2	2008 2004/5 2001	2008 1 2004/5 2001	2008 1 2004/5 2 2001 1	2008 2004/5 2001	2008 2004/5 2001	2008 2004/5 2001	2008 2004/5 2001	%0
		Kanchor	Andong Andong	Кһѕасһ Сһі Ros	Dang Kdar	Trapeang Prei	, Ba Baong	gnoqmoX Tnoat	Khmeng Prek	guasang	
	IIA 2936Iliv	ອວເ	. performar	100 [¶]			ээпьтгог	Strong per			



Annex 3: Increasing MFI Availability and Agricultural Development

Since the mid-2000s, a fundamental constraint to increasing agricultural productivity and other economic activities that could create employment has been the lack of affordable credit. This situation has changed in all study villages. Since 2005, services from MFIs have been increasingly available in every study village. MFIs including ACLEDA, Amret, PRASAC, AMK and other NGOs offer cheaper loan interest rates of 3 percent per month, compared with 10–40 percent charged by private moneylenders. The number of licensed MFI providers increased rapidly in Cambodia between 2005 and 2008, and loan portfolios have risen sharply from a total of USD149,000 serving only 494,000 borrowers in 2005 to USD438,000 serving 1,020,000 in 2008 (Thun et al. 2010). Increasing attention is being paid to the impact of improved MFI access on agricultural development and diversification, employment and poverty reduction. MFI is viewed as an effective tool in helping the poor access financial services and mobilise financial resources for small and medium enterprise development and job creation in the rural economy. However, a critical concern is that outreach to the poor could be limited if MFIs minimise their risky loan portfolios and shift more towards commercial operations to ensure profitability in response to the effects of recent economic crisis, high food prices and the global economic recession. In this case, access to financial services for the poor could be neglected.

	Panel HHs wi	ith outstanding	g loans (%)	Average lo (KHR'0,000s	an size per)	household
	2001	2004/5	2008	2001	2004/5	2008
Strong performa	nce					
Krasang	46	48	42	25	35	99
Prek Khmeng	68	66	61	71	68	162
Kompong Tnoat	54	55	48	22	59	93
Ba Baong	47	43	43	57	68	248
Trapeang Prei	52	65	36	14	30	139
Dang Kdar	49	29	38	17	48	168
Poor performan	ce			·		
Khsach Chi Ros	65	43	47	15	31	170
Andong Trach	35	48	44	28	29	54
Kanchor	48	36	26	25	25	111
All villages	52	47	43	34	48	145

Table A3A: Proportion and Average Outstanding Loans of Panel Households, 2001-8

Finding answers to these above developments is the main focus of this section and can be explained by quantitative and qualitative PDS data. Quantitative data used in this survey were collected from responses to questions about credit access, including the outstanding loans of each panel household interviewed in 2001, 2004/5 and 2008. Questions were asked about the sources and sizes of loan and what the loans were used for (purpose of the loan was added to the survey in 2004/5 and 2008). Descriptive analysis of the responses suggests an uneven picture of changes in credit access and its impact on agricultural development, employment and well-being improvement. The number of panel households with access to loans has been disproportionate, while the average loan size per household sharply increased between 2004/5 and 2008 in all villages. The overall proportion of panel households with outstanding loans gradually declined to 43 percent in 2008 from 47 percent in 2004/5 and 52 percent in 2001. In contrast, the average loan size in 2008 is three times bigger than that in 2004/5 and four times that of 2001 (Table A3A and Figure A3A). This tends to suggest more panel households do not need loans because they have better savings owing to increased income from selling agricultural produce and wages from off-farm employment. Non-poor rural households with secure assets to use as collateral are able to take bigger loans from MFIs and moneylenders in their area than poor households. In addition, changes in the size of loan tend to be strongly related to changes in village income sources and average household income.



Figure A3A: Average Loan Size by Poor and Non-poor Households, 2001-8

Among the study villages, only Khsach Chi Ros and Dang Kdar experienced an increase in the proportion of panel households that required a loan, while other villages experienced reverse trends or no change between 2004/5 and 2008. In Trapeang Prei, where many households sold land before the national elections in July 2008, the proportion of households that needed credit fell sharply from 65 percent in 2004/5 to 36 percent in 2008. In contrast, Khsach Chi Ros, an emerging, agriculturally successful village, experienced a reverse trend, and in Prek Khmeng more than 60 percent of villagers still needed credit to upgrade fishing gear and invest in fish farming over the same period.

Two types of lending—group and individual loans—have been made available to rural households by MFIs. Some MFIs offer group lending to poor landless households that have no forms of collateral, such as a land certificate or a house, to use as security against a loan. Instead, these households form a group of three to four members as a social guarantee of repayment. This type of lending and borrowing has become less popular among both borrowers and creditors. Individual loans have become more popular for those with collateral because borrowers with collateral are allowed to take bigger loans and the risks of being unable to repay

are lower. FGDs reported that rural households are able to borrow KHR300,000–5 million depending on the value of their collateral.

Fitzgerald & So (2007) indicate that, since the mid-2000s, access to MFI services for loans to buy farm inputs and invest in other forms of self-employment has been difficult owing to inflexible lending terms and strict repayment schedules. The majority of farmers at that time continued to borrow money from moneylenders or continued to buy farm inputs on credit with promises to sell their agricultural produce such as rice, pigs, fish and palm sugar to their creditors, who were local traders or merchants. This was a fundamental constraint to accessing credit for the poor between 2005 and 2008 and was cited in most FGDs in all villages:

More and more villagers now take loans from ACLEDA, PRASAC, AMK and other NGOs. Borrowers have to submit documents to certify ownership of their property, land and houses that can be used as collateral when they seek loans from those organisations. If we need to borrow KHR3 million, we need property worth KHR5 million. Few people choose to borrow money through group loans, although it is possible. Some villagers, most of whom are poor, seek loans from private moneylenders in the village despite the high interest rates of up to 30 percent per month, as they are in acute need. Some buy petrol, gasoline and chemical fertiliser on credit from traders or merchants. When it is close to the harvest season, traders and merchants do not charge interest. However, because they are obliged to sell their produce to their creditors, borrowers cannot get the best prices by selling to other traders. Village leaders in Ba Baong; similar issues were raised by village leaders and poor FGD participants in other study villages

Figure A3B shows the change in credit sources accessed by poor and non-poor households between 2001 and 2008. Overall, the proportion of panel households able to access MFI credit shows an increasing trend, up to 57 percent of households in 2008 from 35 percent in 2004/5 and only 19 percent in 2001. However, the poor often lack the required collateral to obtain credit from formal financial institutions. This limits their capacity to benefit from emerging economic opportunities generated by growth. Poor households with limited capital for collateral find it difficult to access MFI loans; therefore, their reliance on loans from relatives, friends and moneylenders remained higher than for the non-poor in 2008.

Increasing access to MFI loans is perceived as part of livelihood improvement, boosting the rural economy and creating employment and raising incomes to help people move out of poverty. This owes to the rising trend in the use of credit between 2004/5 and 2008: from 18 percent to 24 percent for agriculture (rice, cash crops and livestock) and from 29 percent to 36 percent for small businesses and other forms of self-employment (Figure A3C).

Access to larger loans is contributing to agricultural development and growth in Krasang, Ba Baong and Khsach Chi Ros, where 49 to 58 percent of loans are being increasingly used for agricultural production and migration for both poor and non-poor households. The majority of households in CPR-dependent villages reported using MFI loans to upgrade their fishing gear or invest in fish farming in Prek Khmeng, or to buy sophisticated tools for cutting timber or collecting forest by-products in the forest-dependent villages of Dang Kdar and Kanchor. This contributed to increasing household incomes in those villages between 2004/5 and 2008. FGD groups also reported that CPRs are being exploited beyond their regeneration capacity. This could lead to more rapid depletion of CPR resources, diminishing food security and the erosion of buffers that could help mitigate future household shocks.

					rivate mone	-			
	0	% 1	0% 20%	30%	40%	50%	60% 7	0% 80%	6 90% 10
Н	2001	7 🗖	18		32			43	
ННМ	2008		36	57		26	15		27
H		6	22		24	20		49	34
FHH	2004/5	2		56			15		27
Non- poor MHH	2001	2	16 87		40	27		39	34
Non- poor MHH	2008	ф	Ĭ	57			15		27
Poor MHH	2004/5	9	33		19		, 1	50 43	
			20	55	-			46	
Non- poor FHH	2001	6	34		- 28	31		46	34
	2008	h	64 20		28			14 46	22
Poor FHH	2004/5	4	34						34
	2001	6	19	64	31			44	22
All groups			35	57		27	15	3	7
	2008	ш 	16	ə/-	38			40	
Non- poor HH	2004/5	фи	37	50		28	15		34 26
	2001	8 -	22					50	20
Poor HH			32	51				42	

Figure A3B: Credit Sources Accessed by Poor and Non-poor Households, 2001-8 (%)

Like in other contemporary studies (CDRI & WorldFish Center, forthcoming), the poor, especially female-headed households, are found to have hardly benefited from increasing CPR access, as they still find it difficult to access MFI loans. Because they have to rely on loans from moneylenders, they are unable to free themselves from interlocked credit arrangements and are forced to sell their produce to informal creditors (traders and merchants) at prices that are 10–25 percent below the farm-gate price—even during agricultural commodity and CPR product price hikes.

People take loans for various reasons, evidenced by both qualitative and quantitative data. Productive purposes include buying farm inputs, setting up or running a business, financing migration to seek work and buying farmland. Non-productive purposes include health care, buying food, solving household conflicts and wedding expenses. Figure A3D shows that, between 2004/5 and 2008, the use of loans for productive purposes by poor and non-poor panel households increased, while borrowing to cover the costs of living declined.

Many households, especially the poor, are in food deficit and took loans for consumption purposes. If their incomes did not improve they then had to borrow more money from another MFI to repay their outstanding loans. This group of people have not yet been able to free themselves from the vicious cycle of outstanding debt and remain trapped in poverty. With limited ability to grasp economic opportunities created by recent economic development, the poor do not use credit for productive purposes or for building human capital, and credit is not the only factor generating economic growth and poverty reduction (as evidenced from FGDs with poor participants). The relationship between growth and poverty reduction is determined by geographical endowment in the area where the poor live. Geographical location and connections to urban growth tend to be more important than access to credit for driving growth and poverty reduction. Improved education and access to communication are perceived to be critical for the poor. Credit can be used to facilitate employment capacities and agricultural productivity, and can increase labour mobility towards more productive activities and towards areas with higher growth potential, such as where land can be converted for agricultural crops (as occurred in Dang Kdar, Kanchor and Khsach Chi Ros) or in those areas where there are good connections to urban growth (Trapeang Prei and Prek Khmeng).

Figure A3C: Loan Use by Village, 2004/5-8 (%)



Although none of the sample households is yet able to use MFI services to deposit savings, the growth of financial services will eventually provide savings facilities that should mobilise individuals' savings, thereby increasing funds available for further lending (with low transaction costs) for investment in individuals and firms. People would be able to deposit their money in a secure place (such as an eligible bank or financial intermediary) and withdraw their money whenever they want. Importantly, this study shows that borrowing from MFIs is cheaper than from private moneylenders and creates competition in the loan market, adjusting the interest rates charged in rural areas. This has helped attract investment projects that benefit savers. Financial intermediaries help with risk diversification which increases returns and encourages more savings from small businesses, generating jobs and increasing incomes of local people.

Figure A3D: Credit Use by Poor and Non-Poor Male- and Female-Headed Households, 2004/5–8 (%)

					_					-	-				
∎ He	ealth care			∎ Buile	ding/ren	ovatin	g house	•		Reli	gious/	weddii	ng celeł	oration	
🗖 Fi	nancing mig	ration		🔳 Repa	aying ou	itstand	ing loar	1		■ Buy	ng ag	ricultu	ral land	l	
∎Ot	her														
HH IIV	2008		27%			3	4%	I I		12%		10%	7%	3% 4	% 2%19
All	2004/5	ŀ	9%		30%				.6%		169	0	8%	3% 29	2%2%2%
Non- poor HH	2008		26%				38%			9	%	9%	8%	6 <mark>2%</mark> 4	% 2%11
Non- poor HH	2004/5	1	9%		33%				12%		16%		10%	2%29	3%12
Poor HH	2008		29%			24%				20%		12%		6% 3%	3%129
Po H	2004/5	18	%		27%				24%			15%	5	% 4%	12%3%
Н	2008		26%			319	6			18%			12%	6%	2%2%29
FHH	2004/5	16%	ó	25%	6			21%			229	6	5	<u>4%</u>	4% 29
HI	2008		27%				35%			10%	6	9%	8%	3% 4	% 2%19
HHM	2004/5	160	6		31%			1	6%		14%		9%	3%29	2%2%2%
r r H	2008		26%				42%					4%	8%	6%	3%
Non- poor FHH	2004/5	16%	ó	25%	6		15%	0		7	25%		6%	4% 11	6%
or H	2008		26%		9%	_	28%	6			21	%		7%	7% 29
Poor FHH	2004/5	15%		26%				30%	6			17%		4% 6%	<mark>/ 4%</mark>
ч г Н	2008		26%				37%			8%		9%	8%	3% 4%	6 3%11
Non- poor MHH	2004/5	2	0%		3.	5%			11%		14%		11%	2% 29	2%2%2
н	2008		30%				28%			17	%		10%	5% 29	4% II
Poor MHH	2004/5	18	%		27%			239	%		1:	5%	6%	4% 129	3% 3%

		House		0/ abanco	R	Residential land	рг	0/ abanco	Ag	Agricultural land	pu	0/ abanzo
	2001	2004/5	2008	2004/5-8	2001	2004/5	2008	2004/5-8	2001	2004/5	2008	/0 Cliange 2004/5-8
Krasang	1300	1397	3858	176	2822	1682	7953	373	3116	5425	14183	161
Andong Trach	1850	878	2051	134	1528	1025	6747	558	4513	1901	8648	355
Trapeang Prei	812	2067	8009	287	435	1449	33600	2219	869	2283	46889	1954
Khsach Chi Ros	894	1595	2189	37	682	606	1057	75	760	1304	3824	193
Dang Kdar	1212	1848	3239	75	344	745	4811	546	421	809	4241	424
Kompong Tnoat	3267	2464	2945	20	3633	7187	22676	216	1968	2617	72522	2671
Prek Khmeng	3131	6006	9902	65	1320	2364	17077	622	867	2906	46328	1494
Kanchor	828	2988	3414	14	1413	1526	2026	33	923	1498	3362	124
Ba Baong	3155	2663	2969	11	2466	2458	5554	126	3006	4691	10931	133
All villages	1991	2559	4286	67	1757	2308	10184	341	1727	2575	21793	746

\sim	
σ	
Б	
Ē	
Ð	
S	
2	
Ħ	
щ	
5	
ĕ	
\sim	
S	
Z	
ð	
$\overline{\mathbf{x}}$	
P	
THR	
Ľ	
2001-8 (KHR'000	
Ŷ	
÷	
0	
0	
2	
Ś	
÷	
Se	
- VA	
4	
of Asset	
e of	
ue of	
lue	
e Real Value	
ge in Average Real Value	
ge in Average Real Value	
ge in Average Real Value	
ge in Average Real Value	
Change in Average Real Value	
ge in Average Real Value	

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Albert, José Ramon (2009a), "Poverty Dynamics Study 2008: Technical Report on Constructing Wealth Index and Recommendation for Future Studies", mimeo (Phnom Penh: World Bank)
- Albert, José Ramon (2009b), "Poverty Dynamics Study 2008, Report I: Evaluation Report and Recommendations", mimeo (Phnom Penh: World Bank)
- Albert, José Ramon (2009c), "Poverty Dynamics Study 2008, Report II: Technical Report on Methodology for Poverty Lines", mimeo (Phnom Penh: World Bank)
- Adams R. H (2004), Economic Growth, Inequality and Poverty: Estimating the Growth Elasticity of Poverty, World Development Vol. 32 (12), pp 1989-2014
- Ballard, Brett, Christian Slot, David Wharton, Ingrid FitzGerald, K.A.S. Murshid, Kasper Hansen, Phim Runsinarith & Lim Sovannara (2007), "We Are Living with Worry All the Time: A Participatory Poverty Assessment of the Tonle Sap" (Phnom Penh: CDRI)
- Baulch, Bob & John Hoddinott (2000), "Economic Mobility and Poverty Dynamics in Developing Countries", *Journal of Development Studies*, Vol. 36, No. 6, pp. 1–24
- Becker, Gary (1964), *Human Capital: A Theoretical and Empirical Analysis, with Special Reference to Education* (Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press)
- Bhatta, Saurav Dev & Suman Kumari Sharma (2006), *The Determinants and Consequences of Chronic and Transient Poverty in Nepal*, Working Paper 66 (Chicago, IL: College of Urban Planning and Public Affairs, University of Chicago)
- Booysen, Frikkie, Servaas van der Berg, Ronelle Burger, Michael Von Maltitz & Gideon Du Rand (2008), "Using an Asset Index to Assess Trends in Poverty in Seven Sub-Saharan African Countries", *World Development*, Vol. 36, No. 6, pp. 1113–30
- Broderick, Douglas (2009), "Development Partners Introductory Remarks", Speech during the National Forum on Food Security and Nutrition under the theme of Social Safety Nets in Cambodia, Phnom Penh, 6–7 July
- CARD (Council for Agriculture and Rural Development), WFP (World Food Programme) & World Bank (2009), "Safety Nets in Cambodia: Concept Note and Inventory", Presented during the National Forum on Food Security and Nutrition under the theme of Social Safety Nets in Cambodia, Phnom Penh, 6–7 July
- CDRI (Cambodia Development Resource Institute) (2007), "Cambodia Land Titling Rural Baseline Survey Report" (Phnom Penh: CDRI)
- CDRI (2008), "Impact of High Food Prices in Cambodia" (Phnom Penh: CDRI)
- CDRI (2009a), "Rapid Assessment of Impact of Global Financial Crisis on Cambodian Households," CDR, Vol. 13, No. 3 (Phnom Penh: CDRI)
- CDRI (2009b), "Annual Development Review 2008/09" (Phnom Penh: CDRI)
- CDRI (2010), "Annual Development Review 2009/10" (Phnom Penh: CDRI)
- CDRI & WorldFish Center (forthcoming), "Conflict and Collective Action in Tonle Sap Fisheries" Working Paper (Phnom Penh: CDRI & WorldFish)
- Cervantes-Godoy, Dalila & Joe Dewbre (2010), *Economic Importance of Agriculture for Poverty Reduction*, Food, Agriculture and Fisheries Working Paper 23 (Paris: OECD)
- Chan S. (2008), "Impact of High Food Prices in Cambodia", Policy Brief (Phnom Penh: CDRI)

- Chan S. (2009), Costs and Benefits of Cross-country Labour Migration in the GMS: Cambodia Country Study, Working Paper 44 (Phnom Penh: CDRI)
- Chan Sophal & Acharya Sarthi (2002), *Facing the Challenges of Rural Livelihoods: A Perspective from Nine Villages in Cambodia*, Working Paper 25 (Phnom Penh: CDRI)
- Chen Shaohua & Martin Ravallion (1996), "Data in Transition: Assessing Rural Living Standards in Southern China", *China Economic Review*, Vol. 71, pp. 2–56
- Commission on Growth and Development (2008), "Strategies for Sustained Growth and Inclusive Development", Growth Commission Report (Washington, DC: Commission on Growth and Development)
- DFID (Department for International Development) (2004), *Agriculture, Growth and Poverty Reduction* (London: DFID)
- Fafchamps, Marcel & Sarah Gavian (1997), "The Determinants of Livestock Prices in Niger", *Journal of African Economies*, Vol. 6, No. 2, pp. 255–95
- Fan, Sheggan (2004), "Infrastructure and Pro-poor Growth", Paper prepared for the OECD DACT PovNet Agriculture and Pro-poor Growth Workshop, Helsinki, 17–18 June
- Filmer, Deon (2007), "If You Build It, Will They Come? School Availability and School Enrolment in 21 Poor Countries", *Journal of Development Studies*, Vol. 43, No. 5, pp. 901–28
- Filmer, Deon & Lant Pritchett (1998), *Estimating Wealth Effect Without Expenditure Data* – Or Tears: An Application to Educational Enrolments in States of India, Policy Research Working Paper 1994 (Washington, DC: World Bank)
- Fitzgerald, Ingrid & So Sovannarith (2007), "Moving Out of Poverty? Trends in Community Well-Being and Household Mobility in Nine Cambodian Villages" (Phnom Penh: CDRI)
- Grindle, Merilee (2005), "Good Enough Governance Revisited", Report for DFID with reference to the Governance Target Strategy Paper 2001
- Guimbert, Stephane (2010), *Cambodia 1998-2008: An Episode of Rapid Growth*, Policy Research Working Paper 5271 (Washington, DC: World Bank)
- Haddad, Lawrence & Akhter Ahmed (2003), "Chronic and Transitory Poverty: Evidence from Egypt 1997–1999", *World Development*, Vol. 31, No. 1, pp. 71–85
- Hang Chuon Narong (2009), *Cambodia Economy: Chartering the Course of a Brighter Future* (Phnom Penh: CDRI)
- Haughton, Jonathan & Shahidur R. Khandker (2009), *Handbook of Poverty Analysis* (Washington, DC: World Bank)
- Hing, Vutha & Tuot Sokphally (2007), "Pro-poor Tourism: Siem Reap Case Study", in CDRI (2007), *Pro-poor Tourism in the Greater Mekong Sub-Region* (Phnom Penh: CDRI)
- Hotelling, H. (1933), "Analysis of a Complex of Statistical Variables into Principal Components", *Journal of Educational Psychology*, Vol. 24, No. 7, pp. 498–520
- Huot Chea (2008), "Source of Growth 1998-2007", (Phnom Penh: World Bank)
- Jalan, Jyotsna & Martin Ravallion (1996), "Transient Poverty in Rural China", Policy Research Working Paper 1616 (Washington, DC: World Bank)
- Jalan, Jyotsna & Martin Ravallion (1998), "Transient Poverty in Post-Reform Rural China", *Journal of Comparative Economics*, Vol. 26, pp. 338–57
- Jalan, Jyotsna & Martin Ravallion (2000), "Determinants of Transient and Chronic Poverty: Evidence for Rural China", *Journal of Development Studies*, Vol. 36, No. 6, pp. 82–99

- Jalilian, Hossein (2008), "Introduction", in CDRI (2008), "Annual Development Review 2007/08" (Phnom Penh: CDRI)
- Jalilian Hossein & Glenda Reyes (2010), "Cambodia", Global Financial Crisis Discussion Paper Series 4 (Round 2) (London: ODI)
- Jalilian, Hossein, Chan Sophal, Glenda Reyes, Saing Chan Hang, Pon Dorina & Phan Dalis (2009), "Cambodia", Global Financial Crisis Discussion Paper Series 3 (Round 1) (London: ODI)
- Jalilian, Hossein, Glenda Reyes & Lun Pide (2010), "A Double Blow to the Poor: Cambodia's Food Security in the Face of the Food and Economic Shocks in CDRI," in CDRI (2010), "Annual Development Review 2009/10" (Phnom Penh: CDRI)
- Jenkins, Stephen P. & John Micklewright (2007), *New Directions in the Analysis of Inequality and Poverty*, Working Paper 2007-11 (Colchester: Institute for Social and Economic Research, University of Essex)
- Jolliffe, Dean (2004), "The Impact of Education in Rural Ghana: Examining Household Labor Allocation and Returns on and off the Farm", *Journal of Development Economics*, Vol. 73, No. 1, pp. 287–314
- Kaufmann, Daniel, Aaron Kray & Massimo Mastruzzi (2009), *Governance Matters VIII: Aggregate and Individual Governance Indicators 1996-2008*, Policy Working Research Paper 4978 (Washington, DC: World Bank)
- Kedir, Abbi M. & Andrew McKay (2003), "Chronic Poverty in Urban Ethiopia: Panel Data Evidence", Paper prepared for International Conference on Staying Poor: Chronic Poverty and Development, hosted by the Institute for Development Policy and Management, Manchester, 7–9 April
- Klitgaard, Robert (2004), "On Infrastructure and Development", Prepared for Planning Workshop on Infrastructure in East Asia: The Way Forward, Manila, 15–16 January
- Knight, John, Li Shi & Deng Quheng (2008), *Education and the Poverty Trap in Rural China*, Working Paper 281 (Oxford: Centre for the Study of African Economies, University of Oxford)
- Kolenikov, Stanislav & Gustavo Angeles (2004), The Use of Discrete Data in Principal Component Analysis: Theory, Stimulations, and Applications to Socio-economic Indices, MEASURE/Evaluation Project Working Paper WP-04-85 (Raleigh, NC: Carolina Population Centre, University of North Carolina)
- Krishna, Anirudh (2009), "Subjective Assessments, Participatory Methods, and Poverty Dynamics", in Tony Addiision, David Hulme & Ravi Kanbur (eds.), *Poverty Dynamics: Interdisciplinary Perspectives* (Oxford: Oxford University Press), pp. 183–201
- Lee, Il Houng & David Coe (2006), "Overview", in David T. Coe (ed.), *Cambodia: Rebuilding* for a Challenging Future (Washington, DC: IMF), pp. 1–21
- MAFF (Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries) (2006), "Agricultural Sector Strategy Development Plan 2006-2010" (Phnom Penh: MAFF)
- MAFF (2010), "Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries Report 2009-2010" (Phnom Penh: MAFF)
- MAFF & MoWRAM (Ministry of Water Resources and Meteorology) (2007), "Strategy for Agriculture and Water 2006-2010" (Phnom Penh: MAFF & MoWRAM)
- McKenzie, David (2004), "Measuring Inequality with Asset Indicators", *Journal of Population Economics*, Vol. 18, No. 2, pp. 1432–75

- MEF (Ministry of Economic and Finance) (2010), Recent Macro-economic Indicators (Access date 21 March 2011)
- MoEYS (Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports) (2005), "Education Strategic Plan 2006-2010" (Phnom Penh: MoEYS)
- MoC (Ministry of Commerce) & UNDP (United Nations Development Programme) (2007), "Cambodia's 2007 Trade Diagnostic Strategy" (Phnom Penh: MoC & UNDP)
- MoH (Ministry of Health) (2008), "Health Strategic Plan 2008-2015: Accountability, Efficiency, Quality, Equity" (Phnom Penh: MoC)
- MoP (Ministry of Planning) (1999), "A Poverty Profile of Cambodia 1999" (Phnom Penh: MoP)
- Morduch, Jonathan & Manohar Sharma (2002), "Strengthening Public Safety Nets from the Bottom Up", Social Protection Discussion Paper Series 0227 (Washington, DC: World Bank)
- Morrisson, Christian (2002), "Health, Education and Poverty Reduction", Policy Brief 19 (Paris: OECD)
- Moser, Caroline & Andrew Felton (2009), "The Construction of an Asset Index: Measuring Asset Accumulation in Ecuador", in Tony Addison, David Hulme & Ravi Kanbur (eds.), *Poverty Dynamics: Interdisciplinary Perspectives* (Oxford: Oxford University Press), pp. 102–27
- MoWA (Ministry of Women's Affairs) (2009), "Five Year Strategic Plan 2009-2013: Neary Rattanak III" (Phnom Penh: MoWA)
- MoWA (2010), "Cambodian National Council for Women: A Five Year Strategic Plan 2010-2014" (Phnom Penh: MoWA)
- Murshid, K.A.S. (1998), Food Security in an Asian Transitional Economy—The Case of Cambodia, Working Paper 6 (Phnom Penh: CDRI)
- NIS (National Institute of Statistics) (2006), "Cambodia Demographic and Health Survey 2005" (Phnom Penh: NIS)
- NIS (2008), "National Accounts (NIS-NA) 2008" (Phnom Penh: NIS)
- Ogun, T.P. (2010), *Infrastructure and Poverty Reduction*, Working Paper 2010/43 (Helsinki: UNU-WIDER)
- Oliver, Melvin and Thomas Shapiro (1990), "Wealth of a Nation: At Least One Third of Households are Asset □Poor", *The American Journal of Economics and Sociology*, Vol. 49, No. 2, pp. 129–50
- Olsson, Ulf (1979), "Maximum Likelihood Estimation of the Polychoric Correlation", *Psychometrika*, Vol. 44, No. 4, pp. 443–60
- Patrinos, Harry Anthony & George Psacharopoulos (2004), "Returns to Investment in Education: A Further Update", *Education Economics*, Vol. 12, No. 2, pp. 111–34
- Paxton, Will (2002), "Assets and the Definition of Poverty", in Claire Kober & Will Paxton (eds.) Asset-Based Welfare and Poverty: Exploring the Case for and against Asset-Based Welfare Policies, (London: IPPR and End Child Poverty), pp. 9–12
- Pearson, Karl (1901), "On Lines and Planes of Closest Fit to Systems of Points in Space", *Philosophical Magazine*, Vol. 2, pp. 559–72
- Pearson, Karl & Egon Pearson (1922), "On Polychoric Coefficients of Correlation", *Biometrika*, Vol. 14, Nos. 1–2, pp. 127–56

- Pinstrup-Andersen, Per & Rajul Pandya-Lorch (1995), "Agricultural Growth is the Key to Poverty Alleviation in Low-Income Developing Countries", Brief 15 (Washington, DC: IFPRI)
- Pitt, Mark & Shahidur Khandker (1998), "The Impact of Group-Based Credit Programmes on Poor Households in Bangladesh: Does the Gender of Participants Matter?", *Journal of Political Economy*, Vol. 106, No. 5., pp. 958–96
- RGC (Royal Government of Cambodia) (1997), "First Five Year Socio-economic Development Plan 1996–2000" (Phnom Penh: RGC)
- RGC (2002), "Second Five Year Socio-economic Development Plan 2001–2005" (Phnom Penh: RGC)
- RGC (2004), "Rectangular Strategy for Growth, Employment, Equity and Efficiency" (Phnom Penh: RGC)
- RGC (2005), "National Strategic Development Plan 2006–2010" (Phnom Penh: RGC)
- RGC (2008), "Rectangular Strategy for Growth, Employment, Equity and Efficiency Phase II" (Phnom Penh: RGC)
- RGC (2009), "National Strategic Development Plan Update 2009–2013" (Phnom Penh: RGC)
- RGC (2010), "National Programme for Sub-National Democratic Development 2010-2019" (Phnom Penh: RGC)
- Rushdy, Sherif (2009), Achieving Cambodia's Millennium Developemnt Goals Gap Analysis. Access at http://www.unicef.org/cambodia/CMDG_Gap_Analysis_FINAL.pdf
- Sahn, David & David Stifel (2003), "Exploring Alternative Measures of Welfare in the Absence of Expenditure Data", *Review of Income and Wealth*, Vol. 49, No. 4, pp. 463–89
- Schultz, Theodore (1961), "Investment in Human Capital", *American Economic Review*, Vol. 51, No. 1, pp. 1–17
- Sen, Amartya (1993), "Capability and Well-Being. The Quality of life", in Martha Nussbaum and Amartya Sen (eds.), *The Quality of Life* (Oxford: Oxford University Press)
- Sen, Amartya (1999), Development as Freedom (Oxford, Oxford University Press)
- Sen, Amartya (2000), "Social Exclusion: Concept, Application and Scrutiny", Social Development Paper 54 (Manila: ADB)
- Shapiro, Thomas, Melvin Oliver & Tatjana Meschede (2009), "The Asset Security and Opportunity Index", Research and Policy Brief (Waltham: Institute on Assets and Social Policy)
- Thun V., Pum S. and Say S. (2010), "Assessing Poverty Outreach of Microfinance Institutions in Cambodia: A Case Study of AMK", *International Journal of Environmental and Rural Development*
- Timmer, Peter (2005), *Agriculture and Pro-poor Growth: An Asian Perspective*, Working Paper 63 (Washington, DC: Center for Global Development)
- Tong Kimsun, Saing Chan Hang & Hem Socheth (2009), "Trends in Living Standards of 90 Rural Households in Poverty Dynamics Study Villages", mimeo (Phnom Penh: CDRI)
- UNDP (United Nations Development Programme) (1996), *Human Development Report* (New York: UNDP)
- UNDP (2009), "Situation Analysis of Youth in "Cambodia (Phnom Penh: UNDP)
- USAID (United States Agency for International Development) (2009), "A Guide to Economic Growth in Post-conflict Countries" (Washington, DC: USAID)

- Weiss, John and Haider Khan (2006), *Poverty Strategies in Asia* (Cheltenham and Northampton, MA: Edward Elgar)
- World Bank (1999), "Cambodia Poverty Assessment" (Phnom Penh: World Bank)
- World Bank (2006), "Halving Poverty by 2015? Cambodia Poverty Assessment 2006", Report 35213-KH (Phnom Penh: World Bank)
- World Bank (2007a), "Sharing Growth: Equity and Development in Cambodia", in World Bank (ed.) *Equity and Development Report 2007*, (Bangkok: World Bank East Asia and the Pacific Region)
- World Bank (2007b), "Sharing Prosperity" (Phnom Penh: World Bank)
- World Bank (2009a), "Poverty Profile and Trend in Cambodia: Findings from the 2007 CSES" (Phnom Penh: World Bank)
- World Bank (2009b), "Sustaining Rapid Growth in a Challenging Environment" (Phnom Penh: World Bank)
- World Bank (2009c), "Transforming the Rebound into Recovery" (Phnom Penh: World Bank)
- World Bank (2010a), *Global Economic Prospects: Crisis, Finance and Growth* (Washington, DC: World Bank)
- World Bank (2010b), *East Asia Economic Update—Emerging Stronger from the Crisis* (Bangkok: World Bank)
- World Bank & IFC (International Finance Corporation) (2009), "Cambodia: A Better Investment Climate to Sustain Growth" (Washington, DC: World Bank & IFC)
- World Bank Institute (2008), *Special Report: Agriculture's Special Powers in Reducing Poverty* (Washington, DC: World Bank Institute)
- Yu Bingxin & Fan Shenggen (2009), "Rice Production Responses in Cambodia", Discussion Paper 00939 (Washington, DC: IFPRI)

CDRI WORKING PAPERS

- 1) Kannan, K.P. (November 1995), Construction of a Consumer Price Index for Cambodia: A Review of Current Practices and Suggestions for Improvement.
- 2) McAndrew, John P. (January 1996), *Aid Infusions, Aid Illusions: Bilateral and Multilateral Emergency and Development Assistance in Cambodia.* 1992-1995.
- 3) Kannan, K.P. (January 1997), Economic Reform, Structural Adjustment and Development in Cambodia.
- 4) Chim Charya, Srun Pithou, So Sovannarith, John McAndrew, Nguon Sokunthea, Pon Dorina & Robin Biddulph (June 1998), *Learning from Rural Development Programmes in Cambodia*.
- 5) Kato, Toshiyasu, Chan Sophal & Long Vou Piseth (September 1998), *Regional Economic Integration for Sustainable Development in Cambodia*.
- 6) Murshid, K.A.S. (December 1998), *Food Security in an Asian Transitional Economy: The Cambodian Experience.*
- 7) McAndrew, John P. (December 1998), *Interdependence in Household Livelihood Strategies in Two Cambodian Villages*.
- 8) Chan Sophal, Martin Godfrey, Toshiyasu Kato, Long Vou Piseth, Nina Orlova, Per Ronnås & Tia Savora (January 1999), *Cambodia: The Challenge of Productive Employment Creation.*
- 9) Teng You Ky, Pon Dorina, So Sovannarith & John McAndrew (April 1999), *The UNICEF/ Community Action for Social Development Experience—Learning from Rural Development Programmes in Cambodia.*
- 10) Gorman, Siobhan, with Pon Dorina & Sok Kheng (June 1999), Gender and Development in Cambodia: An Overview.
- 11) Chan Sophal & So Sovannarith (June 1999), Cambodian Labour Migration to Thailand: A Preliminary Assessment.
- 12) Chan Sophal, Toshiyasu Kato, Long Vou Piseth, So Sovannarith, Tia Savora, Hang Chuon Naron, Kao Kim Hourn & Chea Vuthna (September 1999), *Impact of the Asian Financial Crisis on the SEATEs: The Cambodian Perspective*.
- 13) Ung Bunleng, (January 2000), Seasonality in the Cambodian Consumer Price Index.
- 14) Toshiyasu Kato, Jeffrey A. Kaplan, Chan Sophal & Real Sopheap (May 2000), *Enhancing Governance for Sustainable Development*.
- 15) Godfrey, Martin, Chan Sophal, Toshiyasu Kato, Long Vou Piseth, Pon Dorina, Tep Saravy, Tia Savara & So Sovannarith (August 2000), *Technical Assistance and Capacity Development in an Aid-dependent Economy: the Experience of Cambodia.*
- 16) Sik Boreak, (September 2000), Land Ownership, Sales and Concentration in Cambodia.
- 17) Chan Sophal, & So Sovannarith, with Pon Dorina (December 2000), *Technical Assistance and Capacity Development at the School of Agriculture Prek Leap*.
- 18) Godfrey, Martin, So Sovannarith, Tep Saravy, Pon Dorina, Claude Katz, Sarthi Acharya, Sisowath D. Chanto & Hing Thoraxy (August 2001), A Study of the Cambodian Labour Market: Reference to Poverty Reduction, Growth and Adjustment to Crisis.
- 19) Chan Sophal, Tep Saravy & Sarthi Acharya (October 2001), Land Tenure in Cambodia: a Data Update.

- 20) So Sovannarith, Real Sopheap, Uch Utey, Sy Rathmony, Brett Ballard & Sarthi Acharya (November 2001), *Social Assessment of Land in Cambodia: A Field Study.*
- 21) Bhargavi Ramamurthy, Sik Boreak, Per Ronnås and Sok Hach (December 2001), *Cambodia 1999-2000: Land, Labour and Rural Livelihood in Focus.*
- 22) Chan Sophal & Sarthi Acharya (July 2002), Land Transactions in Cambodia: An Analysis of Transfers and Transaction Records.
- 23) McKenney, Bruce & Prom Tola. (July 2002), *Natural Resources and Rural Livelihoods in Cambodia*.
- 24) Kim Sedara, Chan Sophal & Sarthi Acharya (July 2002), Land, Rural Livelihoods and Food Security in Cambodia.
- 25) Chan Sophal & Sarthi Acharya (December 2002), Facing the Challenge of Rural Livelihoods: A Perspective from Nine Villages in Cambodia.
- 26) Sarthi Acharya, Kim Sedara, Chap Sotharith & Meach Yady (February 2003), Off-farm and Non-farm Employment: A Perspective on Job Creation in Cambodia.
- 27) Yim Chea & Bruce McKenney (October 2003), Fish Exports from the Great Lake to Thailand: An Analysis of Trade Constraints, Governance, and the Climate for Growth.
- 28) Prom Tola & Bruce McKenney (November 2003), *Trading Forest Products in Cambodia: Challenges, Threats, and Opportunities for Resin.*
- 29) Yim Chea & Bruce McKenney (November 2003), Domestic Fish Trade: A Case Study of Fish Marketing from the Great Lake to Phnom Penh.
- 30) Hughes, Caroline & Kim Sedara with the assistance of Ann Sovatha (February 2004), *The Evolution of Democratic Process and Conflict Management in Cambodia: A Comparative Study of Three Cambodian Elections.*
- 31) Oberndorf, Robert B. (May 2004), *Law Harmonisation in Relation to the Decentralisation Process in Cambodia.*
- 32) Murshid, K.A.S. & Tuot Sokphally (April 2005), *The Cross Border Economy of Cambodia: An Exploratory Study.*
- 33) Hansen, Kasper K. & Neth Top (December 2006), *Natural Forest Benefits and Economic Analysis of Natural Forest Conversion in Cambodia.*
- 34) Pak Kimchoeun, Horng Vuthy, Eng Netra, Ann Sovatha, Kim Sedara, Jenny Knowles & David Craig (March 2007), *Accountability and Neo-patrimonialism in Cambodia: A Critical Literature Review.*
- 35) Kim Sedara & Joakim Öjendal with the assistance of Ann Sovatha (May 2007), *Where Decentralisation Meets Democracy: Civil Society, Local Government, and Accountability in Cambodia.*
- 36) Lim Sovannara (November 2007), Youth Migration and Urbanisation in Cambodia.
- 37) Chem Phalla et al. (May 2008), Framing Research on Water Resources Management and Governance in Cambodia: A Literature Review.
- 38) Pak Kimchoeun and David Craig (July 2008), *Accountability and Public Expenditure Management in Decentralised Cambodia.*
- 39) Horng Vuthy and David Craig (July 2008), *Accountability and Planning in Decentralised Cambodia*.
- 40) Eng Netra and David Craig (March 2009), *Accountability and Human Resource Management in Decentralised Cambodia*.

- 41) Hing Vutha and Hossein Jalilian (April 2009), *The Environmental Impacts of the ASEAN-China Free Trade Agreement for Countries in the Greater Mekong Sub-region.*
- 42) Thon Vimealea, Ou Sivhuoch, Eng Netra and Ly Tem (October 2009), *Leadership in Local Politics of Cambodia: A Study of Leaders in Three Communes of Three Provinces.*
- 43) Hing Vutha and Thun Vathana (December 2009), *Agricultural Trade in the Greater Mekong Sub-region: The Case of Cassava and Rubber in Cambodia.*
- 44) Chan Sophal (December 2009), Economic Costs and Benefits of Cross-border Labour Migration in the GMS: Cambodia Country Study.
- 45) CDRI Publication (December 2009), Economic Costs and Benefits of Cross-country Labour Migration in the GMS: Synthesis of the Case Studies in Thailand, Cambodia, Laos and Vietnam.
- 46) CDRI Publication (December 2009), Agriculture Trade in the Greater Mekong Sub-region: Synthesis of the Case Studies on Cassava and Rubber Production and Trade in GMS Countries.
- 47) Chea Chou (August 2010), *The Local Governance of Common Pool Resources: The case of Irrigation Water in Cambodia.*
- 48) CDRI Publication (August 2010), *Empirical Evidence of Irrigation Management in the Tonle Sap Basin: Issues and Challenges.*
- 49) Chem Phalla and Someth Paradis (March 2011), Use of Hydrological knowledge and Community Participation for Improving Decision-making on Irrigation Water Allocation.
- 50) Pak Kimchoeun (May 2011), Fiscal Decentralisation in Cambodia: A Review of Progress and Challenges
- Christopher Wokker, Paulo Santos, Ros Bansok and Kate Griffiths (June 2011), Irrigation Water Productivity in Cambodian Rice System
- 52) Ouch Chandarany, Saing Chanhang and Phann Dalis (June 2011), Assessing China's Impact on Poverty Reduction In the Greater Mekong Sub-region: The Case of Cambodia
- 53) SO Sovannarith, Blake D. Ratner, Mam Kosal and Kim Sour (June 2011), Conflict and Collective Action in Tonle Sap Fisheries: Adapting Institutions to Support Community Livelihoods
- 54) Nang Phirun, Khiev Daravy, Philip Hirsch and Isabelle Whitehead (June 2011), *Improving the Governance of Water Resources in Cambodia: A Stakeholder Analysis*
- 55) Kem Sothorn, Chhim Chhun, Theng Vuthy and SO Sovannarith (July 2011), *Policy coherence in agricultural and rural development: Cambodia*
- 56) Tong Kimsun, Hem Socheth and Paulo Santos (July 2011), *What Limits Agricultural intensification in Cambodia? The Role of Emigration, Agricultural Extension Services and Credit Constraints*
- 57) Tong Kimsun, Hem Socheth and Paulo Santos (August 2011), *The Impact of Irrigation on Household Assets*
- 58) Hing Vutha, Lun Pide and Phann Dalis (August 2011), *Irregular Migration from Cambodia: Characteristics, Challenges and Regulatory Approach.*
- 59) Chem Phalla, Philip Hirsch and Someth Paradis (September 2011), *Hydrological Analysis* in Support of Irrigation Management: A Case Study of Stung Chrey Bak Catchment, Cambodia
- 60) Saing Chan Hang, Hem Socheth and Ouch Chandarany with Phann Dalis and Pon Dorina (November 2011), *Foreign Investment in Agriculture in Cambodia*
- 92 Understanding Poverty Dynamics: Evidence from Nine Villages in Cambodia

- 61) Ros Bandeth, Ly Tem and Anna Thompson (September 2011), *Catchment Governance and Cooperation Dilemmas: A Case Study from Cambodia.*
- 62) Chea Chou, Nang Phirun, Isabelle Whitehead, Phillip Hirsch and Anna Thompson (October 2011), *Decentralised Governance of Irrigation Water in Cambodia: Matching Principles to Local Realities.*
- 63) Heng Seiha, Kim Sedara and So Sokbunthoeun (October 2011), *Decentralised Governance in Hybrid Polity: Localisation of Decentralisation Reform in Cambodia*
- 64) Tong Kimsun and Sry Bopharath (November 2011), *Poverty and Environment Links: The Case of Rural Cambodia*.
- 65) Ros Bansok, Nang Phirun and Chhim Chhun (December 2011), Agricultural Development and Climate Change: The Case of Cambodia
- 66) TONG Kimsun (February 2012), Analysing Chronic Poverty in Rural Cambodia Evidence from Panel Data
- 67) Keith Carpenter with assistance from PON Dorina (February 2012), A Basic Consumer Price Index for Cambodia 1993–2009
- 68) Roth Vathana (March 2012), Sectoral Composition of China's Economic Growth, Poverty Reduction and Inequality: Development and Policy Implications for Cambodia

This work was originally prepared for the World Bank with the support of the United Kingdom Department for International Development (DFID). The findings, interpretations, and conclusions expressed in this paper are entirely those of the authors. They do not necessarily represent the view of the World Bank, its Executive Directors, or the countries they represent, or of DFID.

CDRI -

Cambodia's leading independent development policy research institute

- 56 Street 315, Tuol Kork
- 🖂 PO Box 622, Phnom Penh, Cambodia
- **(855-23)** 881-384/881-701/881-916/883-603
- ≜ (855-23) 880-734
 - E-mail: cdri@cdri.org.kh Website: http://www.cdri.org.kh

